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COMPANY OVERVIEW

The Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD) Plc has 
a mandate to ensure that the private sector plays 
its role in sectors critical to achieving the National 
Strategy for Transformation (NST1) and the 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) by providing 
them with affordable, long-term, and customized 
development finance.

BRD has seven prioritized sectors of intervention 
including Renewable energy, Agriculture, Exports, 
Housing, Social Infrastructure, Education, and 
Digital economy. The Bank’s products and services 
offerings include investment loans, grants, 
guarantees, trade finance, and advisory services.

OUR VISION 

To be an innovative and sustainable provider of 
development finance for socio-economic impact.

OUR MISSION  

A trusted strategic partner for Rwanda’s 
development that offers financial solutions for 
enhanced value to our stakeholders.

OUR STRATEGIC PILLARS

For the bank to achieve its transformational role in 
Rwanda’s economy, the Bank’s strategic plan (2018-
2024) outlines three key strategic themes:

1.Operational Excellence:  continuous 
improvement of our credit and risk management 
system, financial performance, and customer 
services.

2. Strategic Partnerships: forming strategic 
partnerships to deliver our mandate is a key 
component of our core activities.

3. Dynamic Culture: continuously improving our 
pool of knowledge to have the most competent 
and skilled employees.

OUR CORE VALUES

• Passionate: we love what we do, we are driven, 
we are willing to go the extra-mile to accomplish 
tasks. Bringing passion and positive energy to 
teams with a winning spirit

• Innovate:  applying creative solutions 
to challenges and to take advantages of 
opportunities. Unleashing in effect unleashing 
the full potential of staff. Embrace continuous 
improvement and lifelong learning.

• Excellence: high performance culture by 
applying the highest standard of professionalism 
and excellence in everything that we do.

• Integrity: high work ethic to ensure we are 
trusted by our clients. Treat clients with dignity 
and respect. Allow our clients to define quality 
clients are accorded priority.

• Accountable: being purpose driven and 
willingness to take responsibility for one’s own 
actions. Display reliability and consistency by 
delivering what we promised, when promised.

BRD ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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ratio of 4.49 percent, the gross loan book increased 
to Rwf252.2 billion, and realized good performances 
across the institutional and regulatory benchmarks.

I would like to thank all BRD employees for their hard 
work and for upholding the results-driven culture 
which resonates with our core values of Passion, 
Innovation, Excellence, Integrity, and Accountability.
 
To our shareholders, customers, 
and different partners, we recognize 
your continued support as the Bank 
successfully navigated 2021.

Board oversight

The Board and Committees’ oversight on strengthening 
internal controls is crucial in ensuring the Bank’s 
financial sustainability, and performance to respond 
to stakeholders’ expectations.

CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

Significant performance progress 

In the context of the operating environment and 
industry dynamics, BRD registered resilient operating 
results despite the severe health and economic effects 
of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic in Rwanda 
and worldwide.

These challenges have affected the Bank and the 
wider business community and are reflected on 
the institution’s financial and non-financial key 
performance indicators. 

Nevertheless, for a second successive year, we 
registered significant progress in the successful 
execution of our strategy. The 2021 key financial results 
demonstrate that the Bank maintained profitability 
amounting to Rwf2.9 billion, improved the quality 
of its balance sheet with a non-performing loans 

I am pleased to report 
another year of significant 

performance as we strive to 
create long-term

value for our shareholders and 
customers, including meeting 
our annual targets in terms of

profitability and business 
growth, and other notable key 

performance indicators.

“ “
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expanded impact-driven mandate. Fundamentally, 
our new strategy shall focus on amplifying the 
Bank’s contribution to the national development 
objectives, particularly creation of more employment 
opportunities and an enabling environment for the 
private sector to thrive.

We are committed to increasing our ability to create 
shareholder value while establishing the Bank as 
the trusted financing partner for large business 
investments in the country through availing timely, 
affordable, and long-term investment and innovative 
financial products.

Outlook

Despite the macroeconomic uncertainty attributed 
to rising inflation, geopolitical tensions, and 
the Covid-19 pandemic; BRD remains focused 
on effectively playing its role of supporting 
transformational projects driving Rwanda’s 
economic recovery.

We are at the forefront of leading Rwanda’s green 
agenda transition, and we will implement a robust 
Green Financing strategy to assist in mobilizing 
sustainable development finance and increase 
lending to green projects in the Rwandan economy.
 
The Board of Directors’ annual plan for 2022 includes 
providing timely oversight concerning business and 
people strategic planning, risk, and compliance to 
appropriately align to the fast- changing industry 
regulatory frameworks and unveiling the Bank’s new 
5-years strategic plan.

To the employees, shareholders, 
customers, and partners; I wish you 
a successful 2022.

BOBBY PITTMAN
CHAIR OF THE BOARD 
Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD) Plc

Despite the challenging times brought about by 
Covid-19, we leveraged technology and we were able 
to hold periodic Board meetings across the year in 
adherence to corporate governance best practices.

The Board’s advice and insights enhanced operational 
efficiency and mitigated the associated risks to the 
Bank while maintaining a long-term focus on the 
Bank’s strategic direction.

People, Systems, and Processes

The Board actively backed the implementation of the 
Bank’s Employee Engagement plan with the overall 
objective of building a diverse and inclusive workplace.

We noted that the employee engagement survey 
score is at 84 percent, we will continue to support 
Management’s efforts to promote best practices 
including raising awareness around Gender and 
Mental Health among staff. 

The Bank’s renewed focus on digital innovations is 
timely, as we want to position the Bank at the forefront 
of actively leading the financial technology revolution 
in the country. We have strengthened staff skills and 
capabilities to enable the Bank to leverage technology 
to deliver product innovations, efficient internal 
processes, and improvements in service delivery.

Strategy Review

For the past 54 years, the Bank has established a solid 
foundation in terms of human and institutional capital 
needed to transition into a fully-fledged development 
finance institution that is at the forefront of the 
country’s aspirations aligned with Vision 2030 and 2050. 

From September 2021, we embarked on an exciting 
journey of revising the existing strategic plan 2018-
2024 with consultancy support of the Pan-African 
investment and consultancy firm, SouthBridge 
Rwanda, which will facilitate the Bank in developing 
an ambitious new strategic framework. 

We aspire to build a bigger, digitalized, and greener 
development finance institution with a refocused and 
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remained resilient and focused in ensuring that we 
achieve the annual strategic targets – putting the Bank 
on the path to growth beyond recovery.

Steady financial and business performance 

Despite the disastrous economic effects of the 
COVID-19 globally, the Bank registered excellent 
performance in terms of financial sustainability and 
business growth. For the second consecutive year, 
the Bank met its profitability targets, recording a net 
profit of RWF2.9 billion, majorly driven by growth in 
the gross loan portfolio (up to RWF252.2 billion), a 
healthy portfolio (recorded the lowest non-performing 
loan ratio of 4.49 percent over the past five years), 

CEO’S
STATEMENT

Firstly, I am pleased to report that 
we have completed yet another 
challenging year, but I am also 
excited to report that the Bank 
delivered strong operational 
performance amidst the 
uncertainty and headwinds caused 
by the coronavirus (COVID-19) 
pandemic across the country
and globally.

On behalf of the Shareholders, Board, and entire staff 
of the Bank; I extend my sincere appreciation for your 
concerted efforts in ensuring close collaboration and 
support as we navigated this past year 2021 – we 

Dear Stakeholders,

I am delighted to 
welcome you to BRD’s 
2021 Integrated Annual 
Report, happy reading!

BRD ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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to 10,300 permanent and temporary jobs); enable 
over 90,000 new households connected to electricity; 
generate export value amounting to RWF15 billion; 
and foster financial inclusion with at least 30 percent 
of new loans financing women and youth.

Cultivating an inclusive, engaged, 
and productive workforce

We strongly believe that our staff is the strongest pillar 
that drives the implementation of the Bank’s important 
mandate; yet the past year 2021, was yet again quite 
challenging for many of staff as they battled the physical 
and mental health impact of working in an unusual 
operating environment amidst the pandemic.

Our focus is to cultivate a conducive working 
environment where our staff are engaged, engaging 
and supported to thrive in a values-based and high-
performance culture. We continued to support our 
staff through various initiatives such as Mental Health, 
Gender, and Family-friendly programs.

To fulfill BRD’s mandate, our staff need to be fully 
engaged and provided with learning and development 
opportunities to unlock their full potential. We are 
grateful to some of our partners who continuously 
respond to our call by availing much-needed Technical 
Assistance programs to strengthen the Bank’s human 
capital capacities.

This year, recruitment focused on 
attracting new competent staff 
(filling 41 vacant positions) while 
retaining the best performers  to 
build the right mix of talents that 
are needed to move the Bank  
forward on the path to achieve our 
strategic mandate.

Most importantly, the Bank is strongly committed to 
enhancing gender equality and equity by putting in 
place enabling policies and practices with an ambition 
to establish the Bank as a  leading gender-equal 
workplace and gender-responsive financial institution.

sustained credit recoveries, and prudent cost and risk 
management while delivering value and optimizing 
staff productivity.

The Bank’s total committed amount to the private 
sector in 2021 was an additional RWF62.3 billion 
with the largest share of loans to the exports and 
manufacturing sectors to support ‘Made in Rwanda’ 
programme; and on-lending to partner financial 
institutions (PFIs) which is now one of our flagship 
products. This has facilitated increased access to 
affordable long-term finance for the entire industry. 
Additionally, RWF27 billion was disbursed to fast-track 
execution of strategic projects.

The Bank closed the year with a very comfortable 
liquidity position to sustain the growth of the business/
lending assets this coming year 2022. This has been 
achieved as a result of sustained fund mobilization 
efforts (raising $334.5 million in lines of credit and 
capital injection amounting to RWF9.7 billion) anchored 
on the commitment and support from our Shareholders 
and the development partners to attract concessional 
long-term funding and a healthy capital base.

Enhancing stakeholder and customer satisfaction 

Our priority has been to ensure efficient service 
delivery and satisfaction to our key  stakeholders, and 
thus the Bank continued to ensure efficient turnaround 
time in the delivery of our mandate. 

During 2021, we strengthened institutional compliance 
to the service charter (in particular, concerning the 
loan approvals and disbursement processes, and 
payment of service providers), ensured timely payment 
of students’ living allowances. We believe we can serve 
our clients even better in the future, and to this, we 
will continuously uphold our strong accountability 
standards.

Our strategic focus is to finance businesses with 
large socioeconomic impact outcomes; therefore, I 
am happy to report that we met the project-specific 
development impact indicators targets. All sixty-five 
projects financed this year are expected to create 
and sustain employment opportunities (equivalent 

“

“
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Strengthened credit and risk processes to foster 
corporate governance

This year, we prioritized environmental and social (E&S) 
risk management improvements to position the Bank 
to be more sustainable. We enhanced the institutional 
capacity by recruiting environmental and social 
safeguards specialists who have boosted the Bank’s 
efforts of ensuring financed projects comply with 
environmental impact assessment (EIA) requirements. 

We are grateful to the Board’s support and 
involvement in this exercise of ensuring that the 
institutional operations and business policies are 
clearly articulated and embedded into the planning 
and decision-making processes.

We remain committed to uphold high corporate governance 
standards by ensuring we build trust and accountability in 
discharging our mandate to our key stakeholders.

Leveraging technology to transform systems and 
processes

After deliberate efforts to invest in upgrading the 
Bank’s IT infrastructure and systems as well as 
recruiting talented human resources, we have been 
able to develop solutions using in-house expertise 
thus leapfrogging the Bank’s digitalization agenda.

This has helped the Bank to improve service delivery, 
particularly in Education and Housing sectors where our 
IT team was instrumental in developing customized client-
focused solutions. Soon, we will work towards scaling of 
the Digital services as a knowledge product offering.

Outlook 

For the next year 2022, we want to maintain the 
momentum in sustaining the operational performance 
improvements trajectory as we embark on yet another 
set of ambitious annual performance targets. We are 
confident that we have laid the foundation for even 
greater achievements.

Looking ahead, we will finalize the ongoing mid-term 
strategy review exercise and roll out the  Bank’s new 

five-year strategic plan which will mainly cement BRD’s 
position as the leading provider of affordable and long-
term capital focusing on-lending in collaboration with
Commercial Banks and SACCOs/MFIs.

This new strategic direction will clearly define the 
Bank’s catalytic role and comparative advantage 
with an ambition to finance the priority sector’s 
interventions where there is a proven market failure. Our 
financing interventions will prioritize supporting highly 
impactful businesses with significant contributions to 
employment creation and economic transformation.

BRD’s mantra going forward is ‘We 
bet on Rwanda’s future prosperity’ 
which simply means that we have 
the ambition to do the hard things, 
and our new strategy will provide 
more clarity of purpose for the 
Bank to ably play its crucial role 
in accelerating Rwanda’s GDP 
growth in alignment to the national 
development agenda especially, 
Vision 2030.

On the back of Rwanda’s economic recovery prospects, 
we expect business to rebound, and our target is to 
accelerate investment lending to the strategic sectors 
with a target to approve RWF79.7 billion to spur socio-
economic impact.

To ensure competitiveness of BRD financing, we remain 
committed to efficient turnaround time  to enhance 
customer satisfaction, and continuously refine our 
business model and financial products portfolio to 
enhance Bank’s additionality in project structuring.

As we prioritize business growth, we will remain 
unwavering in ensuring close monitoring of the loan 
book to ensure minimal loan downgrades and timely 
monitoring of projects under implementation to 
ensure proper execution and utilization of funds. This 
is to maintain a healthy portfolio within the internal 
and regulatory thresholds.

“

“
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Lastly, giving back to society is 
one of our corporate pillars, we 
have been moved by the public 
support of the general public 
and our partners towards the 
Cana Challenge – a corporate 
social initiative launched at 
the end of 2021 – targeting to 
crowd-fund provision of solar 
home systems for over 17,000 
most vulnerable families in the 
first Ubudehe category.

This campaign continues into next year 2022, and 
we encourage more contributions as we contribute 
towards Rwanda’s efforts to achieve 100 percent access 
to electricity for all by the year 2024; in addition to 
leveraging green energy to reduce carbon-emissions.

Encouraged by the excellent collaboration with our clients 
and partners, we are excited about the Bank’s prospects, 
and we are committed to sustaining the growth trajectory 
while creating more value for our shareholders.

 

I wish everyone – our Customers, 
Shareholders, and Partners – a 
prosperous and safe new year
ahead.

Kampeta SAYINZOGA
Chief Executive Officer 
Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD) Plc

“

“
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The second factor was the prudence of our risk 
management. We had carried out a rigorous process at the 
onset of the pandemic to estimate credit costs resulting 
from economic disruptions. In 2021, the Bank recorded a 
Non Performing Loan ratio of 4.49 percent, down from 6.37 
percent in 2020, the lowest since 2016.

Asset quality, which improved over the past year, is 
expected to remain resilient and total allowances to 
remain low.

Strong broad-based business momentum 

Net interest income increased by 1 percent on a year-
on-year basis  despite the mentioned challenges faced 
in disbursement. Treasury income from placements 
also reached new highs as they grew by 32 percent.

The Bank remains liquid with a liquidity position of 
more than 100 percent compared to the threshold set 
by the Central Bank.

FINANCIAL 
Performance
Summary
While uncertainties to economic and social recovery 
from the COVID-19 pandemic persist, BRD is steadfast 
in its commitment to remain grounded, conscientious, 
dependable, and responsive to the evolving needs 
of the Rwandan people in the ever-changing 
socioeconomic environment.

Sustaining the Bank’s relevance amid the 
unprecedented impact of the ongoing public health 
crisis, we proudly present the Bank’s Annual Report for 
the year 2021 – with the theme ”supporting Rwanda’s 
economy amid the Covid-19 pandemic.”

Optimization for Stability and Growth

The Bank reported a Net Income of RWF2.9 billion in 
2021, restoring a trend of consecutive strong earnings 
that had been disrupted by poor performance in the 
previous years. The Net profit was 27 percent lower 
than 2020 and Return on Equity was 3 percent in 2021.

Various factors influenced this performance.  

The first was the growth in the business volumes. On 
a year-on-year basis, loans rose by 10 percent despite 
the challenges in projects implementation that 
affected loan disbursement. The increase was broad-
based across all the economic sectors.

2021 Non Performing ration

Net profit

Return on equity

From 6.37% in 2020
(The lowest since 2016)

lower than 2020

in 2021

4.49%

27%

3%
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Capital ratios remain strong

The Bank’s Common Equity Tier 1 (CET-1) ratio rose to 
22.71 percent in 2021 from 18.99 percent in 2020 as the 
total capital ratio increased to 27.6 percent from 23.9 
percent in 2020. This shows the ability of the Bank to 
lend more and increase its share contribution to the 
GDP of the country.

 

Outlook: BRD playing its counter cyclical role 

In the past years BRD has been able to mobilize various 
funds to finance  exports, affordable housing, and 
renewable energy sectors. The Bank was recently 
given the role to manage the second phase of the 
Economic Recovery Funds.

We enter 2022 with a healthy business pipelines from 
both direct and onlending portfolios. We are expecting 
loans to grow better than last year and fee income 
to grow by double-digit percentage terms given the 
strategy to grow trade finance products with a focus 
on Letters of Credit. 

We will continue to exercise cost discipline while 
investing for the future and we expect to deliver 
further earnings growth and shareholder returns in 
the coming year.

With our stakeholders, we shall continue to reimagine 
and rebuild possibilities for Rwandans through 
sustainable financing as the nation adjusts towards 
the new normal.

Tier 1 (CET-1) ratio

Total capital ratio

from 18.99% in 2020

from 23.90% in 2020

22.71%

27.60%
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OPERATIONAL
Performance
Summary

Operational performance review

The Bank was able to weather the adverse effects of 
the COVID-19 pandemic that led to general economic 
slowdown which grossly affected the financial sector. 
In fact during 2021, the Bank’s gross loan book slightly 
increased to RWF252.2 billion (from RWF250 billion in 
2020) attributed to the reduction in new facilities booked. 

New loan approvals

A total of sixty-five (65) new projects were approved 
across all sectors of intervention for financing worth 
RWF 62.3 billion; however in comparison to 2020 where 
RWF81.5 billion was approved, there was a 23 percent 
decrease in performance. 

The housing and infrastructure sector contributed the 
biggest share with approved loans worth RWF34.77
billion while RWF23.8 billion was approved for on-
lending to participating financial institutions mainly 
through the Rwanda Housing Finance Project (RHFP) 
and Renewable Energy Fund (REF).

The export and manufacturing sector registered loan 
approvals amounting to RWF7.88 billion while the 
Energy and Agriculture sectors benefited from loan 
approvals totaling RWF18.64 billion and RWF0.93 
billion respectively.

AGRICULTURE

Number of 
Projects

Amount of Loans 
Approvals

Amount of Loans 
Approvals

Amount of Loans 
Approvals

Amount of Loans 
Approvals

(in Billion RWF) (in Billion RWF) (in Billion RWF) (in Billion RWF)

3 33 22
0.93 18.64 7.88 34.77

1.5% 30.0% 12.7% 55.9%

ENERGY EXPORT AND 
MANUFACTURING

HOUSING AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE

Number of 
Projects

Number of 
Projects 7 Number of 

Projects

Percentage
100%TOTAL 65 Number of 

Projects
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As shown from the graphs below, total approvals include 18 grants representing about 19 percent of the total commitments 
were allocated. Some 47 loan facilities accounting for 81.02 percent of the total commitment were approved.

Based on the projects financed in 2021, the following is the anticipated socio-
economic development impact across the key sectors:

Grant

Grant

GrantLoan Loan

Loan

47 50.41

NUMBER OF FACILITIES AMOUNT OF FACILITIES

AMOUNT OF FACILITIES

18

18.98% 81.02%

11.81

TOTAL

TOTAL

62.22

100%

(in Billion RWF)

TOTAL

65

AGRICULTURE

ENERGY

EXPORT AND MANUFACTURING

HOUSING AND INFRASTRUCTURE

73

644

2,740

71

270

936

3,745

1839

0.08

1.34

14.99

0.62

14.40

90,069 90,069

Permanent

Permanent

Permanent

Permanent

Temporarly

Temporarly

Temporarly

Temporarly

Jobs to be created
Households to 
be connected

Solar home 
systems to be 

supplied

Projected tax 
revenues

(in billion RWF)
Jobs to be created

Projected export 
revenues

(in billion rwf)

Projected tax 
revenues

(in billion RWF)
Jobs to be created

Projected tax 
revenues

(in billion RWF)
Jobs to be created

Projected export 
revenues

(in billion RWF)

100
No. of mortgagors 

to access affordable 
financing

10,318
TOTAL NUMBER OF 

JOBS CREATED:

16.41
TOTAL PROJECTED 

TAX REVENUES

(IN BILLION RWF)
15.01

(IN BILLION RWF)

TOTAL PROJECTED 
EXPORT REVENUES
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AGRICULTURE ENERGY

EXPORT AND 
MANUFACTURING

TOTAL

HOUSING AND
INFRASTRUCTURE

0.45 5.01

8.43

26.9

13.06

Disbursement
(in Billion RWF)

Disbursement
(in Billion RWF)

Disbursement
(in Billion RWF)

Disbursement
(in Billion RWF)

Disbursement
(in Billion RWF)

2021

Loan disbursements

In 2021, the Bank’s disbursements totaled RWF26.9 billion, an increase of 1.6 percent compared to the year 2020.  
The total disbursement represents 49 percent of the budgeted plan. This underperformance is attributed to effects 
of COVID-19 which slowed down business activity across all sectors of the economy.
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Loan Book quality

The Bank’s loan book improved as it transitioned from 
Non-Performance Loans ratio (NPL) of 6.37 percent in 
2020 to 4.49 percent in 2021. This comes as a result of 
written off loans totaling RWF5.1 billion.

Equally, the Bank gave more focus to credit 
administration and portfolio monitoring function. 

COVID -19 impact on BRD portfolio

Due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, many projects were 
affected which led to restructuring of a considerable 
number of loans. In 2021, 33.6 percent of the Bank’s 
portfolio was restructured totaling to RWF 66 billion 
and 92 percent of all the restructured loan files was 
related to the negative impact of COVID-19.

Percentage
Risk Exposure
(in Billion RWF)

3.5% 7.1EDUCATION

Percentage Risk Exposure
(in Billion RWF)

100% 199.7TOTAL

Percentage

Risk Exposure
(in Billion RWF)

14.7%

29.4

ENERGY

Percentage

Risk Exposure
(in Billion RWF)

32.2%

64.4

EXPORT AND 
MANUFACTURINGAGRICULTURE

Percentage

Risk Exposure
(in Billion RWF)

5.0%

10.0
Percentage

Risk Exposure
(in Billion RWF)

44.5%

88.8

HOUSING AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE

This necessitated regular follow ups on the entire 
portfolio and, more specifically, close monitoring to 
respond to loans that were likely to be downgraded 
in a timely manner.

Compared to 2020,the gross loan portfolio grew by 
9.97 percent from RWF181.6 billion to RWF199.7 billion 
in 2021. This is due to new credit facilities that were 
booked and disbursed during 2021.

However, 75.4 percent of the total restructured loan 
files resumed servicing their loan obligations, and 
they mainly include transport operators and schools. 
The Hotels are still under grace period but closely 
monitored to resume payments once fully operational.
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18 SUPPORTING RWANDA’S ECONOMY AMID THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

RISK MANAGEMENT, 
COMPLIANCE & INTERNAL 
AUDIT Summary
The Bank’s Risk Management Mission Statement:

“To ensure there is a robust Risk Management 
framework in place that will facilitate the bank achieve 
its strategic objectives, while giving assurance to the 
board of directors, that risk management is applied 
across the bank consistently”

The Bank’s anticipation and 
response to risks and opportunities 
is a fundamental part of achieving 
its strategic mandate and ensuring 
delivery. The Board of Directors 
has the overall responsibility 
of effective Risk management 
program across all the key risk 
areas that the bank is exposed to, 
associated or embedded within the 
areas of Credit, Operational, Market 
and Funding Risks. 

This serves to ensure that BRD pro-actively manages 
the risks inherent in its strategy, operations, and 
business, and that the management of risks is 
embedded into its planning, business, and decision-
making processes.

In order to execute the risk management process, 
the following risk management infrastructure is in 
place: Board of Directors, Board Risk Committee, Risk 
Steering Committee, Risk Management group, Risk 
Champions. this is in addition to formalized policies 
and procedures clearly defining and communicating 
risk management process and appetite, consistent 
risk measurement methodologies, comprehensive 
risk management reports and IT.  

The Risk Management Group consists of various 
management Committees that report directly to the 
Chief Executive Officer. These include the Risk Steering 
Committee, Credit Risk Management Committee as 
well as the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO). 
The Risk Management Group is supported by the 
Risk and Finance Divisions, the Internal Audit and 
Risk Champions, who support their peers in different 
divisions, departments, or units.

In 2021, risk management was handled across all 
business functions of the bank and various policy 
documents have been revised, as well as a staffing 
boast to the team. 

During the year, the Risk Function was able to take a 
lead on the Enterprise Risk Management revamp, by 
producing the Business Impact Assessment Report, 
Overall assessment of the capital management 
to ensure a strong, compliant and sound financial 
position for the bank, ensuring that sufficient 
measures are continuously put to curb any risks 
associated to the foreign funding sources of the bank.  

With the economic recovery support of the government, 
Credit Risk Management function has continuously 
witnessed an improvement in the portfolio quality of the 
bank, following the major restructurings that were done 
due to the COVID- 19 Pandemic.  

Efficient Risk Management through portfolio Monitoring 
is expected to lead to the stability of the credit risk, 
Cybersecurity associated risks as well as the funding 
associated risks.

“

“
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Compliance risk management

Effective Compliance risk management is fundamental 
in achieving the Bank’s strategic objectives.  The Bank 
has organized its compliance responsibilities that starts 
from the top and holds itself to highest standards when 
carrying out business, and always strive to observe 
compliance to laws, regulations, directives, internal 
policies and procedures and best practices.  
It is the responsibility of all employees to adhere to 
the set standards by conducting themselves honestly, 
responsibly, and ethically. 

BRD remains committed to complying with regulatory 
requirements and internal policies. The compliance 
function carries out review of internally accepted risks 
against outcomes and plays advisory role with focus 
on regulatory adherence and acts as contact point for 
all compliance queries from staff and other partners.

Internal Audit review 

During 2021, the Internal Audit function reviewed 
internal controls in the areas of Bank Business   
Operations cycle from loan origination to disbursement 
and portfolio Monitoring, recovery and work out 
processes; and reviewed the business support 
functions (namely the Finance, Company Secretary 
and General Counsel, Information technology systems 
and special projects implementation Unit). 

The Internal audit has consistently ensured timely 
reporting to the statutory stakeholders namely Board 
Audit Committee, Central Bank of Rwanda, and the 
BRD Executive Management.

In bid to embrace the technology transformation 
journey embarked by the Bank at same time  comply 
with both Institutes of Internal Auditors  standards  
and the Central Bank of Rwanda  requirement and 
best practice,  Internal audit acquired Internal audit  
Management System (TeamMate +) to  automate 
internal audit activities by providing a platform to deliver 
high quality audits, standardize the workpaper process, 
leverage auditor knowledge, enhance audit reporting 
and provide management with key information. 

The implementation was 
successful, and the Bank continues 
with normal users training to 
ensure full optimization of the 
expected audit efficiency and 
operational synergies. 

Audit has also prepared and obtained Approval of 
Internal Audit governing framework document namely 
Internal Audit Charter Internal Audit procedure manual. 

The department continued to build the team Capacity 
through membership in the professional bodies and 
professional training and workshops organized by 
local and international chapters in auditing to broaden 
knowledge and expertise to perform audit assignments.

Looking ahead to 2022, the Department will continue 
to ensure full and timely implementation of the 
audit recommendations to improve efficiency in the 
Bank’s operations, particularly in addressing the 
technological improvements. 

“
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BRD is making good progress in greening its operations and 
ensuring that financed projects are environmentally and 
socially friendly. This is critical for achieving a sustainable 
development characterized by efficient exploitation of 
natural resources and low carbon footprint.

In line with this target, the Bank performed to the following 
Environmental and Social (E&S) initiatives in 2021: 

• Institutional ESMS approved

The BRD Environmental and Social Management System 
(ESMS) was updated during 2021 in order to address 
gaps identified in the previous version, which was 
developed in 2016. The updated version was developed 
and finalized in collaboration with the World Bank team 
and this safeguard instrument/Policy document was 
approved by the Board of Directors in November 2021. 
The same instrument went through the World Bank 
internal review and was cleared in February 2022.

• Grievance Redress Committees restructured 

Grievance Redress Committees (GRC) created at 
Umurenge SACCO level under REF Program were 
not adequately inclusive and key stakeholders of 
the REF project such as “a representative of solar 
home system beneficiaries, Representative of Deal 
Origination Agents (DOA), and a representative of 
solar companies” were not part of created Grievance 
Redress Committees. This caused ineffective operation 
of GRCs at SACCO level and the process of complaints’ 
resolution was not inclusive. 

To close identified gaps, BRD’s Grievance Redress 
Committee was restructured and approved by the 
Management in November 2021 with the purpose of 
collecting and solving grievances from all priority 
sectors with more emphasis on projects under SPIU. 
SACCO GRCs have also been restructured to include 
key stakeholders and we believe that the proposed 
new structure communicated to SACCOs in August 
2021 is more comprehensive and will promote the 
involvement of all key stakeholders in solving raised 
complaints associated to the REF program. 

Under REF Project, out of forty-four GRCs anticipated 
at Umurenge SACCO based on the revised National 
Electrification Plan (NEP), thirty-seven Grievance 
Redress Committees  have already been created and 
communicated to BRD. A close follow up is being done 
to make sure the remaining seven GRCs are created. 
For the case of Umwalimu SACCO, so far eight GRCs 
in line with the new structure have been created 
and communicated to BRD out of twenty-six GRCs 
anticipated to be created at this level. The number 
is still low at Umwalimu SACCO as only eight SACCOS 
have interest in implementing the REF Program.

• A stand-alone Environmental and Social Policy 
developed to meet the Green Climate Fund (GCF) 
accreditation requirements 

In order to meet the accreditation requirements 
for the Green Climate Fund (GCF) , a stand-alone 
Environmental and Social Policy was developed  
in November 2021 and was approved by the BRD 
Management in December 2021. 

SOCIAL AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL
IMPACT MANAGEMENT 
Report
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• Environmental and Social Management 
Framework (ESMF) developed for AFIRR Project  

As a condition of disbursement under theAccess 
to Finance for Recovery and Resilience (AFIRR) 
Project, BRD  developed an Environmental and 
Social Management Framework (ESMF) to ensure 
that all activities under AFIRR are implemented in an 
environmentally and socially friendly manner. This 
instrument was completed around July 2021 and shall 
be approved by the World Bank in February 2022.

• Enforcing the implementation of BRD’s ESMS

To ensure that BRD’s ESMS is effectively enforced, the E&S 
team first carried a series of internal E&S trainings to make 
sure that all concepts of this instrument are well captured 
by user departments (i.e., Risk, Business and Operation).

Three training sessions were provided to user 
departments (Risk, Business and operation Division) 
in 2021 to make sure that required environmental and 
social assessment procedures such as the screening, 
project E&S risk categorisation, required safeguard tools 
and certificate per project risk category, as well as the 
monitoring process are well captured. Twenty-two Bank 
staff have attended the trainings and are now aware 
of Environmental and Social assessment procedures 
required prior loan approval and during implementation 
stage. The number is expected to increase as the training 
sessions are planned to be recurrent 

In addition to E&S training sessions provided; social and 
environmental risk assessment is now part of the process 
of evaluating the financial risks and viability of proposed 
projects through carrying a mandatory E&S screening for 
each proposed project. This new process provided guidance 
in determining E&S risks of projects, including proposing 
applicable E&S mitigation measures and other conditions 
prior loan approval to mitigate any ecosystem degradation. 
During 2021, a total of forty-two files were assessed and E&S 
risk assessment reports were prepared and presented in 
the Management Investment and Credit Committee (MICC).

• ESMS for Mini-Grid and the REF-ECOP updated

These two safeguard instruments under REF Project 
were existing but had gaps in terms of policy framework, 
Environmental and Social management procedures, 
stakeholder engagement and Grievance Redress 
Mechanism, as well as monitoring and reporting.
 
The two safeguard instruments 
were updated to ensure that they 
are comprehensive and in line 
with national and international 
environmental and social standards. 

The mini-grid developers committed to incorporate 
E&Saspects into their activities to avoid, reduce or 
compensate for adverse impacts/risks. The ESMS was 
updated to provide clear guidance on the identification 
and evaluation of environmental and social risks of 
projects before their financing, and provide a clear 
guide on the monitoring procedures for ongoing 
projects under this category. 

The REF- Environmental Code of Practice (ECOP) was 
also updated to make sure it serves as a guideline 
on the approach for collection, transportation, 
storage and disposal of spent batteries with the aim 
of ensuring that risk to the environment and human 
health are prevented or mitigated.

“
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DEVELOPMENT
IMPACT Report

The Bank’s strategic focus is to finance businesses 
with large socioeconomic impact outcomes and its 
Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) framework focuses 
on ensuring appropriate impact measurement and 
reporting on the key project-specific development 
impact indicators. 

The Bank is keen on improving the country’s economy 
through direct lending and on-lending to projects in 
the key sectors – availing capital to PFIs, MFIs and 
SACCOs – to support Small and Medium Enterprises 
(SMEs) have access to finance, improving access to 
electricity and boosting  exports.

During 2021, the Bank registered new loan approvals 
amounting to RWF62.3 billion. A total of sixty-five 
projects  were granted loans. Thus, 59.9 percent of 
all the total commitment amount was allocated to 

seven projects in Housing and Infrastructure; 30 
percent to thirty-three projects under Energy; 12.7 
percent to twenty-two projects under Exports and 
Manufacturing, and 1.5 percent to three projects under 
Agriculture sectors respectively.   

In terms of anticipated impact, total employment 
(jobs created) was higher compared to 2020 with the 
growth rate of 48 percent.   The export sector made 
up the greatest portion of all the employment created 
(approximately 63 percent) under both permanent and 
temporary jobs. 

The total expected tax revenues too increased by 122 
percent from RWF7.4 billion in 2020 to RWF16.41 billion. 
Lastly, the projects financed in the energy sector 
have connected an estimated 112,124 households to 
electricity.

AGRICULTURE

Number of 
Projects3 33 22

ENERGY EXPORT AND 
MANUFACTURING

HOUSING AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE

Number of 
Projects

Number of 
Projects 7 Number of 

Projects

Percentage
100%TOTAL 65 Number of 

Projects

1.5% 30.0% 12.7% 55.9%
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Key development impact indicators’ performance

expected to be created/maintained 
(due to labour intensive projects 
financed in agriculture, housing and 
infrastructure, exports, and 
manufacturing sectors) – that is 
3,528 permanent jobs and 6,790 
are temporary jobs.

mainly due to increased uptake 
of Renewable Energy Funds – 
especially under Window 1 and 5 – 
where 56,246 solar house systems 
will be supplied

to be generated from
the new loan approvals

were supported at the upstream and 
downstream of the value chains. The agriculture 
and agro-processing loans accounts for 
40.84 percent of the Bank’s SMEs portfolio 
– which includes modern poultry and chilli 
farming projects- while about 20 SME projects 
benefitted from the EGF on-lending window.

to be generated (mainly direct and on-lending 
via the Export Growth Fund)

to be irrigated

Permanent and 
temporary jobs10,318 Small and Medium

Enterprises (SMEs)404

Number of households 
connected to 
electricity112,124 

Export revenues
(in Billion Rwf)

Hectares
(ha)

15.00

286Projected tax revenues
(in Billion RWF)16.41

from matured student loans (2016 to 
31/12/2021) since BRD started managing 
the education scheme.

Total amount recovered 
(in Billion RWF)16.70

built and shared with Participating 
Financial Institutions (PFIs) to finance  
affordable housing for sale.

Mortgagors to access affordable 
residential housing units100
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The company mostly used the grant for staff training 
and participating in the international exhibition (in 
Japan, Kenya, and Holland). As a result the company 
was able to access 70 percent of its current clients. It 
has 45 hectares divided into three phases to grow 17 
varieties of flowers, which are exported at least four 
times a week.

Bella Flowers  has been beneficial to the community by 
providing coaching, constructing house for survivors 
of the 1994 Genocide against the Tutsi, and providing 
community health insurance.  

In addition, the establishment of Bella Flowers in 
Rwamagana contributed to the Electrical Panel line 
that was constructed to facilitate access of electricity 
and rehabilitation of the road. It transformed the lives 
of 580 youth and 318 females in 2021, and 257 females 
and 523 youth in 2020.  

The project’s export revenues have increased by 
about 7,300 percent to date compared to the baseline. 
Despite the challenges faced especially the reduction 
of export sales and flower losses during the lockdown 
period due to the pandemic, the company managed to 
grow its export revenue by 17 percent in 2021.  

Project Factsheet:
BELLA FLOWERS LTD.

Horticulture has been identified as a priority export 
sector. The sector has the potential to generate jobs 
to a large proportion of Rwandans and attract foreign 
currencies to the country.  Bella Flowers  is among the 
company in the sector initiated by the government of 
Rwanda to produce cut flower with an aim to  exploit 
the opportunity of cut rose flower production markets.

In 2016, BRD financed Bella Flowers with a matching 
grant to raise the quantity of stems being exported, 
market penetration and adequately understanding 
their standards, and adopting best practices to 
produce high quality flowers. 

Statistics for 2020 & 2021

Export revenues grew by 
7,274% from an estimated 
RWF  (from 61.4 Mn to 4.5 Bn)

7,274%

Business assets increased to 
an estimated Rwf 11.6 billion.

21.1%

318
580
have permanent jobs

Females

Youth
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Project Factsheet:
ABUSOL LTD 

Located in Mayange sector, Bugesera district in the 
Eastern province, Agri Business Solutions (ABUSOL) 
LTD received investment loan financing from BRD 
to facilitate the company to scale up poultry feeds 
processing (for local market consumption) and 
modern poultry farming to produce good quality of 
eggs for mainly the export market. 

By the end of 2016, the project had 20,000 chicks with  
a target of 32,474 chicks. Unfortunately, the project 
experienced a great loss of 17,000 chicks the following 
year due to the  vaccination provided to chicks. This 
greatly affected the project.

Statistics for 2021

Around 2018, the project also faced other obstacles 
including lack of maize, soya etc.; closure of boarders 
of both Uganda and DRC where the company had 
reliable markets for importing raw materials. 

Leveraging on the project’s good relationship with 
BRD, the project remained resilient, continuing its 
operations and increasing production largely driven 
by modern poultry farming practices. 

Poultry farming production increased from 20,000 
chicks to 50,000, 60,000 and 82,000 chickens in 2019, 
2020 and 2021 respectively. 

The sudden increase in production and diversified access 
to a wider market (such as DRC, Congo Brazzaville, and 
Djibouti) enabled the company to register sales revenues 
amounting to between RWF840 million and RWF2.1 
billion during the same period (2018-2020). 

The establishment and success of ABUSOL business 
has been beneficial in improving livelihoods of the 
surrounding community as follows:

• Distribution of eggs in all sectors of Bugesera 
district for malnourished children.

• Facilitated clean water connection with construction 
of water tanks (400,000 litres). However, the 
company intends to upgrade to at least 600,000 
litres capacity to cope with the planned expansion. 

• Facilitated electrical connection with public lighting 
and allowed neighbors to access medium voltage 
electrical energy.

• Provided permanent employment for 71 people (of 
which 19 are female and 12 are youths). 

• The company has also realized export revenue 
growth in 2021 of 15 percent (from RWF1.3 billion 
in 2020 to RWF1.5 billion in 2021).

• Participating in the national Girinka (one Cow per 
family) program.

• Under its CSR initiatives, the company has 
supported one family from the Ubudehe Category 
1 and constructed a modern house for a family in 
distress.

Finally, the ABUSOL project entrepreneur is committed 
to further improving the project performance with an 
ambition to have 150,000 chickens in production in 
2022 and 200,000 in production by 2023. The company 
forecasts to bring into the country more than US$3.5 
million in 2022 and US$ 4.5 million in 2023.

Export revenue 
increased compared 
to 2020

Estimated taxes
payment amounting  
(in Million Rwf)

Total chickens

15% 32.4 

82,000

Business assets 
increased compared 
to 2020

21.1%

19
12
have permanent
jobs

Females

Youth
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CORPORATE SOCIAL
INVESTMENT Report
As a responsible legal entity, in 2021 BRD continued 
to support a wide range of activities including in 
community development, strategic support to 
women, youth and advocacy groups

The Bank has also continued to be a key strategic institution 
in supporting the implementation of Government programs, 
especially the ones designed to spur the social development 
of Rwandans.  In 2021, the Bank spent over RWF50.8 million 
in support to such initiatives. 

• Unity club – Impinganzima Initiatives 1 

BRD has been a partner of Unity Club since 2013, and 
this collaboration was driven by the Bank’s desire to 
support initiatives that facilitate the Government’s 
efforts to eradicate poverty among Rwandans. Unity 
Club’s overall objectives are aligned with these efforts.

Thus, like in the previous years, in 2021 BRD pledged 
RWF70 million in financial support towards the Club’s 
“Impinganzima’’ initiatives, which support the elderly 
and vulnerable people to improve their livelihoods.

Due to the negative effects of COVID-19 on businesses 
and on the financial system, the Bank committed to 
disburse the amount in tranches.

• Cana Challenge – Lighting for House Holds in 
Ubudehe Category 1 

The Bank we launched an initiative called 
#CanaChallenege to connect over 15,000 households 
in Ubudehe Category1 in remote rural areas to 
electricity. The Bank would like to extend its gratitude 
to the members of the general public and stakeholders 
who answered the call during the fundraising exercise 
for this important cause. 

For the first time, many of these families will now 
be connected to electricity through solar panels, 

thus enabling the Bank to directly contribute to the 
government’s efforts towards achieving universal 
electrification by 2024. 

• Edified Generation Rwanda – Paying Tuition for 
unprivileged students 

To support the education sector, which is also one of BRD’s 
priorities, the Bank partnered with Edified Generation 
Rwanda, a non-profit organization that particularly 
supports the education of brilliant but unprivileged children 
through scholarship programs.

Under this initiative, the Bank paid tuition for ten (10) 
students for a period of one year. This support was timely 
considering Edified Generation’s main source of funding 
had been cutoff when non-essential businesses were 
closed to control the spread of COVID-19. The funding 
shortfall had made it impossible for Edified Generation to 
continue supporting these vulnerable students.
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• Care & Help Child Organization –Donation of 
sanitary pads 

Mindful of the fact that lack of sanitary pads for 
unprivileged girls has in most cases led to dropping 
out of school during menstrual periods, the Bank 

donated sanitary pads to 200 girls of Gisozi Primary 
Schools for a period of one year. There is no doubt the 
pandemic worsened the already difficult situation for 
the unprivileged girl child. 

• Rotaract Club of Kigali City (RCKC)     

In partnership with Rotaract Club, BRD supported 
the lighting up of homes for poor households. The 
main beneficiaries were households under Ubudehe 
Category D. Implemented under Murikira Umwana, 
the project saw 15 homes in Bugesera district 
supported to access Solar Home Systems.
This initiative was a culmination of an assessments 
by Rotaract Club on the impact of COVID-19 on the 
livelihoods of the local communities in Rwanda. 
Murikira Umwana’ aimed at supporting the learning 
of children from communities with less means whose 
situation was worsened by the pandemic; and 
contribute to the overall community development 
of households.  This facilitated children to undertake 
their learning from their homes as schools were 
closed due to the COVID-19 lockdown. It enabled 
them to study at night and to follow lessons that were 
delivered on radio.

•  #Kwibuka27 Commemoration

During the annual Commemorations of the 1994 
Genocide against Tutsi, BRD works with CNLG to 
identify genocide survivors’ areas of need, and 
through their guidance provides support. This was 
sustained in 2021.

For the 27th commemoration, BRD made a follow up 
visit to Kamonyi district where the Bank had, in 2020, 
donated solar panels to homes of genocide survivors. 
In 2021, more solar panels were donated. In total, 30 
homes of genocide survivors in Kamonyi district were 
connected to electricity.

In the same spirit of supporting genocide survivors, 
BRD continued its support to Alice Mbabazi by catering 
for her tuition fees and scholastic materials. At 28 now, 
Mbabazi is an orphan whom the Bank has committed 
and continued to support since 2017.  
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• Private Sector Federation Annual Trade Fair 

To support the growth of business and attraction of 
foreign investments to the country, PSF organizes 
the Rwanda Annual Trade Fair; and since BRD is keen 
on fostering a robust private sector, this support was 
sustained in 2021. 

• Blood donation drive     

Since 2004, June 14 is the commemoration of World 
Blood Donor Day (WBDD). It serves to honor, create 
awareness, and rally participation around blood 
donation. BRD in partnership with Rwanda Biomedical 
Centre (RBC) held a blood donation drive where staff 
and clients participated in donating blood to save lives.

• Umurage Exercise Book Project 

Still in the spirit of supporting less privileged students, 
BRD extended financial support towards ‘’Umurage 
project’’, a project created by Ardor Ltd. The company 
focuses on printing and distribution of free exercise 
books to students under this category. The Bank’s 
support enabled the purchase of 10,000 Umurage 
exercise books for pupils of Muhima Primary School 
and Gisozi Primary School 2. 
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• European Investment Bank – EURO 30 Million for 
business impacted by COVID-19

In November 2021, BRD received Euro 30 million line 
of credit from the European Investment Bank (EIB), 
effectively boosting the Bank’s ability to lend to 
the private sector, especially to Small and Medium 
Enterprises. 

The funds will be utilized to support companies in 
sectors most impacted by the trade, economic and 
health challenges triggered by COVID-19 and unlock 
investments to accelerate private sector recovery from 
the pandemic. 

• KFW – EURO 8.6 MILLION GRANT    

KfW through the government of Rwanda gave BRD a 
grant of Euro 8.6 million to fund export-oriented Small 
and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) in Rwanda. Through 
previous partnerships with KFW, BRD has been able 
to disburse funds through five partner Public Financial 
Institutions (PFIs) in different sectors such as textile, 
essential oils, horticulture, coffee, pharmaceuticals, 
tea, food products, and minerals.   

This additional financing will allow exporting SMEs 
to exploit foreign markets and curb the effect of 
Covid-19.  Additionally, this grant follows a successful 
implementation of thirty-four projects funded through 
five PFIs, resulting in an average revenue growth of 20 
percent and an average export revenue growth of 40 
percent for SMEs

• Global SME Finance FORUM

In October 2021, BRD participated in the Global 
Finance SME Forum, alongside other Development 
Finance Institutions (DFIs) to discuss the important 
role played in providing knowledge, expertise, and 
funding to accelerate green finance portfolio growth. 

The Bank promotes green finance for SMEs through 
two approaches: direct training and channelling 
funds through financial institutions, microfinance 
institutions as well as savings and credit cooperatives. 

• IACO Annual Meetings 

BRD participated in the IACO panel discussion to speak 
about the bank’s provision of financial solutions for 
the coffee industry.

STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT Summary
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• BRD participates at COP26

For the first time, BRD participated in COP26 meeting; 
an annual event at which various stakeholders from 
around the world discuss the negative impact of 
climate change and suggest solutions. BRD joined the 
discussions as the implementer of the Rwanda Green 
Investment Facility (RGIF); a strategic initiative put in 
place by the Government of Rwanda to help mitigate 
effects of climate change.

The Facility will offer grants and loans to strengthen 
Rwanda’s ownership of climate finance through a 
7-year period with US$350 Million worth of pipeline. 
In addition, the Bank kickstarted preparations for 
the Green Bond issuance to raise funding for certified 
green projects in Rwanda by tapping into a new pool 
of international and regional investors with a keen 
interest in sustainable development. 

This Green Bond is tailored to an innovative green 
funding pipeline that responds to the urgent need of 
a climate resilience strategy. 
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Economic outlook

After the unprecedented economic 
recession of 2020, there was great 
optimism for an upturn in the global 
economic growth prospects, but 
the second wave of the Covid-19 
pandemic dashed those expectations 
as the world battled the adverse 
health and economic devastation.  

In 2021, the World Bank announced that the global 
economy rebounded to an estimated 5.5 percent 
growth rate following the immense challenges of the 
pandemic, disruptions in international trade supply 
chains, and rising inflation. 

Driven by the gradual easing of Covid-19 containment 
measures and increased vaccinations, the Sub-Saharan 
Africa (SSA) growth was estimated at 3.5 percent. In 
Rwanda, the economy rebounded from a 3.4 percent 
recession of 2020 to record a  Gross Domestic Product 
(GDP) growth rate of 10.2 percent in 2021.

The World Bank forecasts that global economic growth 
will decelerate to 4.1 percent. Sub-Saharan Africa 
and Rwanda’s growth will decline to 3.6 percent and 
7.1 percent respectively. However, global sustained 
economic recovery is projected in 2023 and 2024.

Moderate business growth amidst the pandemic 

Despite the general economic slowdown experienced 
during 2021, BRD registered new investment approvals 
amounting to RWF62.3 billion which catalysed 
RWF87.2 billion worth of additional investments, and 
contributing to Rwanda’s socio-economic growth and 
recovery from the effects of the pandemic. 

Out of the total committed amounts, Rwf26.9 
billion was disbursed representing 49 percent of 
the underwritten portfolio; the shortfall is largely 
attributed to the slowdown in economic activity.

In 2022, the Bank is proactively building a viable 
pipeline of projects to increase its loan book. About 
RWF79.7 billion is budgeted for financing strategic 
investments through direct lending and on-lending 
via partner financial institutions.

33.6 percent of the Bank’s Portfolio impacted by 
Covid-19

For the second successive year, the financial sector was 
adversely impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic, and 
BRD was not exempt. During 2020, the Bank proactively 
identified projects on a case-by-case basis, facilitating 
them to benefit from moratorium periods (ranging from 
3 to 12 months) to defer payment of interest and penalties. 

These projects constituted 33.6 percent of the Bank’s 
portfolio (totaling RWF 66 billion) with at least 92 percent 
of all the restructured loan files related to the negative 
impact of COVID-19 on sectors such as manufacturing, 
education, services, infrastructure, transport, tourism, 
and hospitality.    

The overall impact of Covid-19 on the BRD portfolio 
was further noted in the decline in the level of loan 
disbursements whereby the loan conversion rate closed 
at 49 percent; while recoveries were also affected as all 
auctions were suspended from January until July 2021.

79.7

26.5 49%
55.3

Bank’s loan book

Amount disbursed

Tota budget

(RWF in million)

(RWF in billion) (of the budget)

(RWF in billion)

BANK STRATEGY
Insights 
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This is attributed to the migration from class 1 to class 2 
(which was above 100 percent) for all restructured loans 
mainly in Housing and transport sectors.

The business slowdown across the country necessitated 
that the Bank implements strategies for interest expenses 
including a deliberate strategy to delay the drawdown of 
lines of credit, reduction of principal amount on existing 
expensive lines of credit while relying on its liquidity, and 
short-term local borrowing.

US$334.5 million raised to fund economic recovery

BRD has a countercyclycal mandate to finance private 
sector growth as well as Rwanda’s economic recovery 
from the pandemic. In 2021, backed by excellent relations 
with institutional partners and lenders, the Bank’s fund 
mobilization efforts raised about US$334.5 million in form 
of lines of credit and technical assistance.

This funding will be dedicated to financing projects – 
mainly Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) – across the 
various BRD priority sectors of intervention (including agro-
processing, manufacturing, health, and renewable energy). 

The Bank is privileged to have secured financing 
from various bilateral partners including the 
European Investment Bank (EIB), Agence Française de 
Développement (AFD), the Arab Bank for Economic 
Development in Africa (BADEA), the African Export-Import 
Bank (Afreximbank), KfW Development Bank, and the 
Belgian development agency (Enable). 

In addition, the Bank is delighted to inherit the Rwanda 
Economic Recovery Fund which was previously being 
implemented through the National Bank of Rwanda 
(BNR) aimed at providing refinancing and working 

capital to projects affected by the pandemic. In 2021, 
the World Bank Board approved a replenishment of the 
US$107 million for a new investment lending window – the 
Access to Finance for Recovery and Resilience (AFIRR) – 
focused on the manufacturing value chain along with a 
US$7 million grant financing to boost BRD’s capacity and 
establish a fully fledge advisory function.

The continued vote of confidence from the Government of 
Rwanda and development partners – coupled with Fitch 
Ratings assigning BRD a long-term issuer default rating 
at ‘B+’ with a stable outlook – all further validates and 
strengthens BRD’s strategic prospects enshrined in the 
new strategic plan 2022-2026.

Enhancing access to affordable financing

The Rwandan financial sector still grapples with high 
lending interest rates which have hampered access to 
finance in the country largely due to insufficient financing 
options for borrowers and liquidity levels. Although BRD’s 
average cost of funds is at 6 percent in 2021, the Bank 
needs to adopt blended financing mechanisms to leverage 
its capacity to raise and avail more affordable funds to 
grow its direct/on-lending portfolio.

In 2022, the Bank remains committed to leveraging 
available opportunities and enhanced cooperation with 
different stakeholders because of mobilizing affordable 
and long-term resources needed to effectively discharge 
its development mandate. 

Particularly, the Bank aims to 
diversify funding sources beyond 
the current model of financing which 
majorly relies on shareholder capital 
injection and line of credits from 
Development Finance Institutions 
(DFIs).

To reach this objective, there is a need to position BRD to 
access international funding, and among the initiatives, 
the Bank is currently working on is the issuance of the 
Green Bond, the accreditation from the Green Climate 
Fund (GCF) to tap into the private sector facility, setting a 
Green Financing framework within the Bank, and others. 

The level of provisioning increased

(between 2019 & 2020)

(in 2021)

119%

78%
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Along the fund-raising drive, the Bank continued 
engagement with all lenders with whom it holds LIBOR-
based loans. At the end of 2021, the path forward is clearer 
as most lenders have announced their preferred LIBOR 
replacement reference rate; thus, the Bank has taken 
steps to identify the best ways to transition from LIBOR 
with the minimum interest rate risk.  

Enhancing access to affordable financing

A m o n g  c a p i t a l  r a i s i n g 
instruments to be considered, 
the Bank is planning to issue 
Green and Sustainable Bonds to 
widen its pool of investors and 

ensure that innovative projects get access to suitable and 
affordable funding. BRD is mostly targeting like-minded 
investors motivated by the environmental impacts of their 
funding.

In 2021, BRD completed the implementation of  
institutional initiatives as part of the Bank’s ongoing 
efforts to build internal capacity around green financing 
in anticipation of the BRD Green Bond issuance whose 
proceeds will finance development projects related to 
environmental protection and climate change resilience.

For the large part of the year 2021, BRD held numerous high-
level engagements with diverse strategic partners to ensure 
alignment as well as leverage technical assistance support 
to enhance institutional and human capital expertise.

The Bank is grateful to partners – especially the United 
Nations Development Programme (UNDP) Rwanda – who 
have been invaluable partners on this journey towards the 
establishment of a national Green Bond framework that 
is crucial in contributing to reaching Rwanda attaining 
its commitments including the Nationally Determined 
Contributions (NDCs) of reducing its emissions by 16% 
(unconditional) and 38% (conditional) by 2030.

Along this journey of thorough preparation for the 
issuance, BRD and core stakeholders collectively laid 
out a clear road map for the entire process, and special 
appreciation for additional technical assistance support 
received from UNDP Financial Centres for Sustainability 
(FC4S), Rwanda Green Fund (FONERWA), and Kigali 
International Financial Center (KIFC).

The Bank also presented its green financing agenda at the 2021 
United Nations Climate Change Conference (COP26) and at the 
Global SME Finance Forum where various DFIs highlighted 
various initiatives championing the Greening of SMEs. 

Environmental and Social Sustainability safeguards 
enhanced 

BRD has strong safeguards in place as outlined in 
its current 2018-2024 strategy and internal business 
processes. It is adequately stipulated that the Bank does 
not finance projects with negative consequences on the 
environment and has stringent environmental social and 
governance (ESG) investment standards expected to be 
regularly adhered to. 

In 2021, the Bank revised the 
existing Environmental and Social 
Sustainability safeguards which offer 
procedural guidelines during the 
credit and risk assessments for small, 
medium, and large project loans to 
ensure that the financed investments 
contribute to the promotion of 
sustainable growth in Rwanda. Thus, 
the applicable mitigation measures and 
risk categories are stipulated to ease 
the decision-making processes.

The key milestone achieved in 2021 was the development 
and implementation of the institutional Environmental 
and Social Management System (ESMS) which contains an 
exclusion list, screening, and monitoring tool.

An in-depth review done in 2021 indicates that at least 
75 percent of the Bank’s portfolio effectively met the 
Environmental and Social (E&S) compliance levels. In 
2022, the Bank is keen on increasing compliance to 85 
percent leveraging on increased periodic E&S project 
monitoring visits.

Lastly, leveraging on technical assistance support from the 
Investment Climate Reform (ICR) facility, BRD is finalizing 
the development of an impact scoring model which will 
be integrated into the Bank’s existing credit and pricing 
model. In 2022, we intend to pilot the implementation 
impact scoring model to enhance socioeconomic impact 
project pricing.
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Affordable Housing sector – RHFP project 
implementation accelerated 

BRD is implementing the Rwanda Housing Finance Project 
(RFP) on behalf of the Government of Rwanda (GoR). This 
five-year project is financed by the World Bank Group to 
the tune of US$150 million and was launched in April 2019.
 
The project has three components – including providing 
Long-term Finance to Expand Housing Finance 
(US$117 million equivalent); Technical Assistance and 
Implementation Support (US$3 million equivalent), and 
provision of infrastructure support to eligible affordable 
housing development projects (US$30 million equivalent). 

The project aims to expand access to housing finance to 
households and support capital market development 
in Rwanda. The primary beneficiaries of the project are 
Rwandan households – with monthly income ranging 
between RWF200,000 to RWF700,000  – who qualify to 
secure long-term mortgages (up to 20 years) at an 11% 
interest rate to buy an affordable house ranging between 
RWF10 million to RWF35 million. 

BRD on-lends the project funds to participating financial 
institutions (PFIs). By the end of 2021, six  PFIs— Bank of 
Kigali, KCB Bank Rwanda, Bank of Africa, Zigama CSS, 
NCBA Bank, and BPR Bank—had been funded to finance 
at least 6,000 mortgages. 

However, the project has progressed at a slow pace with only 
13 mortgages issued.

To fast-track the project’s poor performance, it is expected 
that in 2022the targeted segment of beneficiaries will be 
revised to widen the range of household income to include 
those that earn a monthly income not exceeding RWF1.2 
million but also serve first homeowner middle income 
category earning up to RWF1.5 million per month wishing to 
buy market-rate units with the property value not exceeding 
RWF60 million at an interest rate of up to 13 percent. 
 
Finally, to stimulate the supply of houses by developers, 
the maximum property value of eligible affordable 
housing units will be increased to Rwf40 million and not 
necessarily be located within estates. The government 
has also considered relaxing densification requirements 
to allow developers to tap into the available infrastructure 
government support funds under RHFP.

Education sector – increased efforts in student loans 
recovery

Since 2016, BRD has managed the Government of Rwanda 
(GoR) student loans and bursary scheme, and by the end of 
2021, the Bank had managed to recover a cumulative amount 
equivalent to RWF16.7 billion from the matured student loans.

In 2021, the Bank undertook several 
initiatives including developing 
additional enforcement policies and 
collaborating with other partners 
especially the Ministry of Public Service 
and Labour (MIFOTRA) to increase new 
loan beneficiaries billed, outreach, 
and public engagement campaigns. In 
addition, to ensure streamlined legacy 
data on all beneficiaries, an extensive 
data cleaning exercise was conducted 
to establish the final dataset for 
recoverable and irrecoverable student 
loans.

Participating financial 
institutions (PFIs)

Mortgages
06 6,000

Mortgages
(Issued in 2021)

13
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In 2022, leveraging on BRD’s digital transformation 
journey, the Bank will roll out customized and fully 
functional Education Financial Management Information 
System that will be integrated into key partners’ systems 
including Higher Education Council (HEC), Rwanda 
Revenue Authority (RRA), National Identification Agency 
(NIDA), banks and telecoms.

Under the World Bank-funded Rwanda Priority Skills for 
Growth (PSG 5), BRD is proud to report that the Bank 
surpassed the PSG 5 targets. By the end of April 2021 BRD 
(18 months ahead of the due date of December 2022) had 
triggered  US$6 million  towards the scheme.

 

Energy sector – Renewable Energy Fund window 5 
accelerates household connections

Now in its fourth year of implementation, the Renewable 
Energy Fund (REF) has the primary objective to increase 
electricity access in Rwanda through off-grid technologies 
and facilitate private sector participation in renewable 
off-grid electrification. Currently, the REF project is 
working with 14 solar companies, 52 small-scale Savings 
and Credit Cooperatives (SACCOs), and seven commercial 
banks to provide  electrification services.

 The World Bank and implementing partners rolled out the 
implementation of the REF 5 component/window, which 
provides a subsidy to eligible off-grid households through 
eligible Off-grid Solar Companies (OSCs). 

This significantly contributed to the uptake of REF project 
funds, especially under Windows 1 and 5 where 56,246 
solar house systems will be supplied. A cumulative 
112,124 households have been connected to electricity 
since the REF project started in 2018.

Manufacturing sector – BRD to offer working capital 
and investment credit lines under AFIRR

BRD is implementing the Access to 
Finance for Recovery and Resilience 
(AFIRR) project that is designed to 
further support the Economic Recovery 
Fund (ERF) program established by 
the Government of Rwanda (GoR) 
to increase access to finance and 
support the recovery and resilience of 
businesses affected by the COVID-19 
pandemic. The project is funded by the 
World Bank and Asian Infrastructure 
Investment Bank (AIIB) to a tune of 
US$205.5 million. 

Specifically, the Bank is currently focused on two sub-
components, the Investment Credit Line (US$ 150 million) 
and Working Capital (US$ 10 million).  

The AFIRR project implementation is expected to be fast-
tracked in 2022 to facilitate realising development impact 
such as increasing jobs creations through the supported 
local investments under the Made in Rwanda promotion 
and facilitate  exports as well assubstituting imports with 
local production. 

Financial Year 2022 – a preview of thematic focus 
initiatives
 

150

10

The Investment Credit Line

Working Capital

(US$ in million)

(US$ in million)

150
Student loans

(US$ in million)

“

“
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• Contribution to Rwanda’s economic recovery from the 
Covid-19 pandemic: 

leveraging on Bank’s resources and collaboration with 
other stakeholders, the Bank is committed to remaining at 
the forefront of financing strategic investments to boost 
economic growth beyond recovery.

• Strategic plan 2022-2026: 

The exercise to revise the Bank’s strategy will be finalized, 
with the Bank unveiling and fast-tracking implementation 
of its new ambitious strategy in which the Bank’s business 
model is anchored on key pillars of Employment Creation 
and Economic transformation.

• Adopting blended financing: 

The Bank will continue implementing its innovative 
approach to eco-system-based financing and seeks to 
cement its lead arranger role after successfully financing 
an Rwf20.5 billion credit facility by onboarding other 
lending partners. 

Also, activities will begin towards diversifying the Bank’s 
capital base; and to prudently manage interest expenses, 
the Bank will explore strategies of retiring expensive lines 
of credit; identifying and attracting new concessional debt 
and enhancing institutional capacity to raise borrowing 
outside the Sovereign.

• Accelerating Green finance and agriculture lending: 

Despite considerable milestones completed, the Bank 
will continue activities for the institutional readiness to 
issue its highly anticipated green bond. Leveraging on a 
strong value network of partners, the focus is to boost the 
institutional specialized sector knowledge around Green 
and Agriculture investments’ financing.

Finally, with the global economic growth projected 
to decelerate in 2022, BRD has designed appropriate 
strategies to cushion the Bank from the expected shocks 
to the financial and investment performance whilst 
committing to increased lending to spur growth beyond 
recovery in Rwanda.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2021, which disclose the state of affairs of Development Bank of Rwanda (“BRD” or “the Bank”).

Incorporation
Development Bank of Rwanda Plc (BRD) is a Public Limited Liability Company created by the law on August 5, 1967. 
However, pursuant to Law No. 14/2011 of 30/05/2011, BRD ceased to be governed by an Act of Parliament and changed 
into a Public Company limited by shares in accordance with the previous Law No. 7/2009 relating to companies. BRD is 
a development finance institution dedicated to becoming “the financier of Rwanda’s development”.

BRD’s vision is “To be an innovative and sustainable provider of development finance for socio-economic impact”. 
For more than 50 years the Bank has been at the forefront of economic development in Rwanda through investment 
financing in different sectors of the economy.

In its triple role as “Financier, Advisor and Partner”, Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD) continues to fund development 
in the country through direct investments. 

Principal activity
The principal activity of the Bank is development finance lending through direct and indirect equity holdings, or other 
stocks and granting of short, medium- and long-term loans.

Results 
The results for the year are set out on page 51 of the financial statements.

Dividend
The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividends for the year (2020: Nil).

Directorate
The Directors who served during the year are set out on page 40.

Auditor
KPMG Rwanda Limited was appointed as Auditors of the Bank commencing 2019 in accordance with Regulation No. 
04/2009. In accordance with the auditor rotation regulation issued by the National Bank of Rwanda, the term of the 
Bank’s current auditor has ended. 

By order of the Board

………………………………..
Chairman
Date: ……………………...…31 March 2022
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Bank’s Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, comprising 
the statement of financial position as 31 December 2021, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the 
financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory Information, 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and Regulation N° 2310/2019 - 00013[614] 
of 27/12/2019 of the National Bank Of Rwanda On Licensing Conditions Of Banks and BNR Regulation No 28/2020 of 
09/09/2020 relating to publication of financial statements and other disclosures by Banks and for such internal control 
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

The Directors’ responsibility includes designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Bank.

The Directors accept responsibility for the financial statements set out on pages 51 to 149, which have been prepared 
using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates, in conformity 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Regulation N° 2310/2019 - 00013[614 
] of 27/12/2019 of the National Bank of Rwanda On Licensing Conditions of Banks and BNR Regulation No 28/2020 of 
09/09/2020 relating to publication of financial statements and other disclosures by Banks. The Directors are of the 
opinion that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the financial affairs and the profit and 
cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Directors have assessed the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason to believe the business 
will not be a going concern for at least the next twelve months from the date of this statement.

The Independent Auditor is responsible for reporting on whether, based on their audit, the annual financial statements 
are fairly presented in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards, Regulation N° 2310/2019 - 
00013[614] of 27/12/2019 of the National Bank of Rwanda on Licensing Conditions of Banks and BNR Regulation No 
28/2020 of 09/09/2020 relating to publication of financial statements and other disclosures by Banks.

Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements which appear on pages 51 to 149 were approved and authorized for issue by the Directors 
on 11 March 2022

…………………………………..…..                                                                     …………………………………   
Chairperson                                                                                                                 Chief Executive Officer
Date: ……………………...….........                                                                      Date: ……………………...…........31 March 2022 31 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Development Bank of Rwanda Plc. is committed to world class corporate governance standards as set from time to time by 
the National Bank of Rwanda and by itself in accordance with international best practice. The Board of Directors is responsible 
for the long-term strategic direction for profitable growth of the Bank whilst being accountable to the shareholders for 
compliance and maintenance of the highest corporate governance standards and business ethics. 

The Board of Directors 

The Board is currently made up of eight members, all non-executive Directors including the Chairman. The Board is 
provided with full, appropriate, and timely information to enable them to maintain full and effective control over the 
strategic, financial, operational and compliance issues of the Bank. The day to day running of the business of the Bank is 
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer but the Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining the Bank’s system 
of internal controls so that the objectives of profitable and sustainable growth and shareholders value is realized. The 
Board also makes recommendations to the shareholders on Board succession planning and annual financial statements.

Board meetings

The Board of Directors meet quarterly or as required in order to monitor the implementation of the Bank’s planned 
strategy, review it in conjunction with its financial performance and approves issues of strategic nature. Specific reviews 
are also undertaken on operational issues and future planning. At the end of each financial year, the Board reviews 
itself, Board Committees, Senior Management and Chief Executive Officer against targets agreed in the balanced 
scorecard at the beginning of the year.

Board Committees

The Board has created the following principal committees which meet regularly under well-defined and materially 
delegated terms of reference set by the Board.

Board Risk Committee

The committee was set up to oversee the Bank’s mitigation and appreciation of all risks in the business as well as assets 
and liabilities matters. It meets quarterly to advise the business on all matters pertaining to credit, market, operational, 
legal, environmental, and other risks. Business continuity issues are also discussed by this committee.

Board Audit Committee

The Audit Committee meets quarterly or as required. In accordance with regulatory requirement, the committee 
comprise non- executive members of the Board who are independent of the day-to-day management of the Company’s 
operations. The committee deals with all matters relating to the financial statements and internal control systems of the 
Bank including dealing with independent auditors and National Bank of Rwanda inspectors. All the audits conducted 
by this committee are risk based. 

Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The committee meets quarterly to review human resource policies and make suitable recommendations to the Board 
on senior management appointments. This committee oversees the nomination functions and senior management 
performance reviews.
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Board Credit Committee

The committee meets quarterly to review the credit risk profile of the Bank and recommend to the Board for approval 
policies and standards of credit risk governance and management. The frequency of the meetings has ensured that the 
needs of the Bank’s customers are given timely attention. The committee also reviews the Bank’s credit risk appetite 
and sectorial concentration.

IT & Strategy Committe
The IT Committee’s role is oversight over the IT policies and strategies of the Bank.  The Committee also oversees the 
implementation of the requirements provided in the laws and regulations on cyber security, reviews, approves the 
Bank’s technology planning, strategy, and works in partnership with other board committees and senior management. 
The Committee is currently composed of three (3) Non-Executive Directors. The committee meets on a quarterly basis 
or as often as business demands.

Board/ Board Committee attendance

The following table gives the record of attendance to the board meetings and its committees meetings for the twelve 
months ended 31 December 2021.

 MAIN 
BOARD

EXTRA 
ORDINARY

BOARD

BOARD
RISK

COMMITTEE

BOARD
AUDIT

COMMITTEE

BOARD
CREDIT

COMMITTEE

BOARD 
NOMINATION AND 

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

IT & 
STRATEGY 

COMMITTEE

Meetings held 4 2 5 4 6 5 4

Bobby PITTMAN 4/4 2/2 4/5 - - 5/5 4/4

Alice RWEMA 4/4 2/2 4/5 - 5/6 5/5 -

Joseph MUDENGE 4/4 2/2 5/5 - - - 4/4

Charles MUGABE 4/4 2/2 - 4/4 2/6 -

Ghislain 
NKERAMUGABA 4/4 2/2 - 4/4 - 5/5 4/4

Stella NTEZIRYAYO 4/4 2/2 5/5 - 6/6 5/5 -

Angelique KAREKEZI 3/4 2/2 4/5 - 3/6 - -

Callixte NYILINDEKWE 4/4 2/2 - 4/4 6/6 5/5 -

Management committees

The Board has delegated the management of the business to the Chief Executive Officer together with his management 
committees. The following management committees are in place to ensure that the Bank carries out its obligation 
efficiently and effectively.

• Executive Committee (EXCO)
• Management Investment & Credit Committee
• Assets and Liabilities Committee
• Risk Steering Committee
•        IT steering and cyber security committee
• Asset disposal committee
• Staff loans and advances committee
• Tender committee

DEVELOPMENT BANK OF RWANDA PLC
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

45SUPPORTING RWANDA’S ECONOMY AMID THE COVID-19 PANDEMICBRD ANNUAL REPORT 2021



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of Development Bank of Rwanda PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Development Bank of Rwanda (“the Bank”) as set out on pages 51 to 149 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021 and the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view, of the financial position of the 
Development Bank of Rwanda PLC as at 31 December 2021 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), in the manner required by 
Law No 007/2021 of 05/02/2022 governing companies and Regulation No 28/2019 of 09/09/2019 relating to publication 
of financial statements and other disclosures by Banks issued by the National Bank of Rwanda.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the bank in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA 
Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis of our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements taken as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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To the Members of Development Bank of Rwanda PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements (Continued)

Expected Credit Losses on loans and advances
Refer to notes 3.Vii and 17 to the financial statements

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

Measurement of the impairment loss allowance based on expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on loans and advances involves significant 
judgement and estimates. The key areas where we identified greater 
levels of management judgement and therefore increased levels of 
audit focus in the Bank’s determination of expected credit losses on 
loans and advances are:

- Economic scenarios – IFRS 9 Financial Instruments requires the 
Bank to measure ECLs on a forward-looking basis reflecting a range 
of future economic conditions. Significant management judgment 
is applied to determining the economic scenarios used and the 
probability weightings applied to them;

- Significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) – for the retail and 
corporate portfolios the criteria selected to identify a significant 
increase in credit risk is a key area of judgement within the Bank’s 
ECL calculation as these criteria determine whether a 12 month or 
lifetime provision is recorded.

The Bank assesses SICR by incorporating all relevant, reasonable 
and supportable information, including forward-looking 
information. These include qualitative information, non-statistical 
quantitative information and information from credit rating 
processes. COVID-19restructures are factored into the model to 
cater for repayment deferrals and sector/subsector risks. The 
setting of precise trigger points to move a financial asset from ‘Stage 
1’ to ‘Stage 2’ or moving from ‘Stage 2’ to ‘Stage 3’ and vice versa 
requires judgement which may have a material impact upon the size 
of the ECL allowance; 

- Model estimations – inherently judgemental modelling is used 
to estimate ECL which involves determining probabilities of default 
(“PD”), loss given default (“LGD”), and exposures at default (“EAD”). 
The PD models used in the retail and corporate portfolios are the key 
drivers of the Bank’s ECL results and are therefore the most significant 
judgemental aspect of the Bank’s ECL modelling approach; and

We determined that the impairment loss allowance o loan and 
advances to customers to be a key audit matter due to the high 
degree of estimation uncertainly and significant judgment applied 
by management iin the detemination of the ECL.

Our audit procedures in this area included:

- Obtaining an understanding of the credit management 
processes and Performing an end-to-end process 
understanding to identify the key systems, applications and 
controls used in the determination of ECL processes. This 
included assessing the design and operating effectiveness 
of the management review controls over ECL estimate 
provision;

-  Involving our own internal financial risk managament 
specialists in assessing the appropriateness of the Bank’s 
methodology for the economic scenarios used and 
assessing key economic variables used as well as the overall 
reasonableness of the economic forecasts by recalculating 
the macroeconomic factors using the methods applied by 
management and reviewing the source data;

-  Evaluating the appropriateness of the Bank’s SICR 
determinations by assessing the qualitative and 
quantitative factors used by management in their 
evaluation of the classification into stages 1, 2 and 3;

-  Evaluating the appropriateness of the Bank’s IFRS 9 
probability of default (PD) modelling by independently 
recalculating the probability of default and comparing this 
to management computed probabilities of default;

-  Evaluating the accuracy of the key inputs and assumptions 
into the IIFRS 9 impairment model by assessing the 
accuracy of the model predictions by recalculation the ECL 
amounts, agreeing, on a sample basis, underlying data such 
as loan amounts, collateral values and interest rates used in 
the model to relavant source data, and comparing previous 
years estimates to actual credit losses in the current year;

-  Assessing the appropriateness of parameters used in the 
statistical models in respect of Probability of Default (PDs), 
Loss Given Default (LGDs), and Exposure at Default (EADs) 
by considering local economic conditions.

-  Assessing the adequancy of disclosures related to expected 
credit losses especially the key judgements and assumptions 
used in determination of the ECL in accordance wiith IFRS 7 

Financial Instruments: Disclosuures.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Members of Development Bank of Rwanda PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements (Continued)

Other Information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Development Bank of Rwanda Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 but 
does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion 
or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the 
other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Directors’ Responsibilities for the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with IFRSs, and in the manner required by Law No 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 governing companies and Regulation No 
28/2019 of 09/09/2019 relating to publication of financial statements and other disclosures by Banks issued by the 
National Bank of Rwanda and for such internal control as Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
ibilities of for the financial stat
In preparing the financial statements, Directors are responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless Directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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To the Management of Development Bank of Rwanda

Report on the audit of the financial statements (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control. 

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s 
internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

We communicate with Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

From the matters communicated with Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in 
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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To the Members of Development Bank of Rwanda PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements (Continued)

Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the provisions of Law No. 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 Governing Companies, we report to you based on our 
audit, that:

i) We have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary 
for the purposes of our audit;

ii) Proper accounting records have been kept by the company, so far as appears from our examination; 

iii) The statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position are in agreement with the books of 
account;

iv) We have no relationship, interests or debt with the Development Bank of Rwanda. As indicated in our report on 
financial statements, we comply with ethical requirements. These are the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), which includes comprehensive independence 
and other requirements;

v) We have reported our findings on internal control matters to management in a separate management letter.

vi)According to the best of the information and the explanations given to us as auditors, as shown by the accounting 
and other documents of the company, the annual accounts comply with Article 125 of Law No. 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 
Governing Companies in Rwanda.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is CPA Wilson Kaindi (PC/
CPA/0642/0123).

KPMG Rwanda Limited
Certified Public Accountants
P. O. Box 6755
Kigali, Rwanda

Date: ……………………………. 31 March 2022
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NOTE 2021 2020

 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Interest income 4 26,471,135 26,437,778

Interest expense 5 (11,489,729) (11,599,933)

NET INTEREST INCOME 14,981,406 14,837,845

Fee and commission income 6 (a) 398,870 468,961

Fee and commission expense 6 (b) (34,041) (30,405)

NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 364,829 438,556

Net foreign exchange losses 7 (938,367) (2,376,422)

Other operating income 8 2,312,274 735,365

NET OPERATING INCOME 16,720,142 13,635,344

Net losses  on financial instruments 9 (7,172,159) (4,160,060)

(Loss)/Gain on derivative instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss 11 (158,546)            19,769

OPERATING INCOME 9,389,437 9,495,053

Share of Profit of investment in Associate 10 807,059 (2,398,541)

Employee benefits expense 12 (i) (4,182,879) (3,682,157)

Depreciation and amortization 22-23 (924,278) (717,164)

Other operating expenses 12 (ii) (2,356,861) (1,838,245)

Gains on modification of financial liabilities 25 258,934 3,239,286

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2,991,412 4,098,232

Income tax expense 13 - -

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 2,991,412 4,098,232

Other Comprehensive Income:
Items that may never be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Fair value gain on Equity investments at fair 
value through OCI 29 3,512,768 596,966

Reversal of fair value gain on land (2,772) -

3,509,996 596,966

Items that may be subsequently reclassified 
to profit or loss - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR 6,501,408 4,695,198

The notes set out on pages 56 to 149 form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NOTE 2021 2020

 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

ASSETS  

Cash and balances with the National Bank of Rwanda 15 (a) 898,579 2,042,767

Amounts due from other Banks 15 (b) 74,086,828 59,661,424

Investments at amortized cost 16 6,025,328 6,076,673

Loans and advances 17 183,265,173 167,079,964

Investment in associates 18 (a)  11,447,402 10,640,344

Equity investments at fair value through OCI 18 (b)  20,445,502 16,932,735

Derivative Financial Instruments 19 1,999,828 2,095,814

Other assets 20 5,212,987 4,119,579

Investment Properties 21 21,015 21,015

Intangible assets 22 445,752 632,757

Property and equipment 23 13,241,732 14,243,093

TOTAL ASSETS 317,090,126 283,546,165

LIABILITIES

Other payables 24 (i) 21,871,197  10,363,824

Dividends payable 24 (ii) 11,017 11,017

Borrowings 25   176,469,792 174,088,173

Special funds 26 11,236,258 9,455,277

Grants 27 6,335,785 4,747,753

TOTAL LIABILITIES 215,924,049 198,666,044

EQUITY

Share capital 28 (a) 65,392,018  55,607,470 

Share premium 28 (b)  11,665,569  11,665,569 

Other reserves 29 32,051,588  28,541,592 

Accumulated losses (7,943,098) (10,934,510)

TOTAL EQUITY 101,166,077 84,880,121

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 317,090,126 283,546,165

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 were approved and authorized for issue by 
the Board of Directors on 11 March 2022

Chairman: _______________________                                              Chief Executive Officer: _____________________

The notes set out on pages 56 to 149 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS

Note 2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before income tax 2,991,412 4,098,232

Adjustments for:

Depreciation on property and equipment 23 683,386 451,753

Amortization of intangible assets 22 240,912 265,409

Gain on disposal of fixed assets 8 370,753 88,687

Share of profit /in investments in associates 10 (807,059) 2,358,423

Net Fair Value change – on Derivative Instrument 11 (158,546) 19,769

Net foreign exchange losses 7 938,367 2,376,422

Interest accrued on borrowings 5 3,892,298 4,077,630

Cash flows before changes in operating accounts 8,151,523 13,736,325

Increase in Loans and advances 17 (16,185,209) (9,753,747)

Decrease in Other assets 20 1,437,182 584,733

Increase in Other payables 24 12,691,886  4,315,003 

Changes in derivative financial instruments 19 95,985  (314,568)

Net cash generated from operating activities 6,191,367 8,567,746

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment 23 (208,209) (1,072,650)

Disposal of property and equipment 23 526,203 451,753
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Purchase of intangible assets 22 (53,906) (80,355)

Change in equity investments              18 (b) (3,512,767)                                     (66,657)

Purchase of Investment in Associates              18 (a) - 68,166

Non-current assets held for sale - 250,000

Net change in investments at amortised cost 16 51,345 (5,088,209)

Net cash flows from investing activities (3,197,334) (5,537,952)

Cash flows from financing activities

Drawdown of borrowings 25    27,745,171  26,568,630 

Repayment of borrowings 25 (30,611,533) (32,774,422)

Drawdown of special funds 26 2,044,312 137,527

Repayment in special funds 26 (263,347) (38,559)

Grants received 27 1,588,032 5,035,750

Grants Paid 27 - (2,011,099)

Share repurchase 28(a) - (1,220,158)

Additional Capital 28(a) 9,784,548 12,945,785

Net cash flows from financing activities 10,287,183 8,643,454

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 13,229,438 11,673,248,

Cash and Cash equivalents at the start of the year 15 61,704,191 50,030,943

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year 15 74,985,407 61,704,191

The notes set out on pages 56 to 149 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Reporting Entity

Development Bank of Rwanda (the “Bank”) is a Public Limited Liability Company created by the law of August 5, 1967 
with its head office in Kigali, Rwanda. The Bank is primarily a development finance institution dedicated to becoming 
“the financier of Rwanda’s development”. The Bank’s principal office address is: 

Development Bank of Rwanda Plc
KN3 Ave, Kigali
P.O. Box 1341
Kigali - Rwanda

2. Basis of Preparation

a) Basis of accounting

The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, except equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, 
derivative financial instruments, investment properties, land and buildings that have been measured at fair value. The 
financial statements have been presented in Rwandan Francs (RWF) rounded off to the nearest thousand (RWF ‘000).

b) Going concern

The Bank’s management has made an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied 
that the Bank has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the management is 
not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Bank’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Therefore, the financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis.

c) Use of estimates and judgements

The COVID-19 pandemic and its effect on the global economy have impacted our customers, operations, and Bank performance 
necessitating governments to respond at unprecedented levels to protect the health of the population, local economies and 
livelihoods. This has significantly increased the estimation uncertainty in the preparation of these financial statements including:

- The extent and duration of the disruption to business arising from the actions of governments, businesses and 
consumers to contain the spread of the virus; the extent and duration of the expected economic downturn, and 
subsequent recovery; the effectiveness of government and central bank measures to support businesses and 
consumers through this disruption and economic downturn.

The Bank has made various accounting estimates in these financial statements based on forecasts of economic 
conditions which reflect expectations and assumptions as at 31 December 2021 about future events that the Directors 
believe are reasonable in the circumstances. The significant accounting estimates impacted by these forecasts and 
associated uncertainties are predominantly related to expected credit losses.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures 
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period.The estimates and assumptions are based on the Directors’ best knowledge of current events, 
actions, historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results 
of which form the basis of 
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2. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

c) Use of estimates and judgements (Continued)

Making the judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. In particular, information about significant areas 
of estimation and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognized in the financial statements are described in Note 30.

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 The Bank regularly reviews its assets and makes judgments in determining whether an impairment loss should be recognized 
in respect of observable data that may impact on future estimated cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for 
estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss 
estimates and actual loss experience.

• Impairment losses on loans and advances

The specific counterparty component of the total allowances for impairment applies to claims evaluated individually for 
impairment and is based upon management’s best estimate of the present value of the cash flows that are expected to 
be received. In estimating these cash flows, management makes judgments about counterparty’s financial situation. 
Each impaired asset is assessed on its merits, and the workout unit estimates of cash flows considered recoverable are 
independently reviewed by the Management Committee. 

Collectively assessed impairment allowances cover credit losses inherent in portfolios of claims with similar economic characteristics 
when there is objective evidence to suggest that they contain impaired claims, but the individual impaired items cannot yet be 
identified. In assessing the need for collective loan loss allowances, management considers factors such as credit quality, portfolio 
size, concentrations, and economic factors. In order to estimate the required allowance, assumptions are made to define the way 
inherent losses are modelled and to determine the required input parameters, based on historical experience and current economic 
conditions. The accuracy of the allowances depends on how well the estimated future cash flows for specific counterparty allowances 
and the model assumptions and parameters used in determining collective allowances.

• Determining fair values  

The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for which there is no observable market price requires 
the use of valuation techniques.  For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair 
value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of judgment depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of 
market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument. The principal accounting policies 
applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied 
to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

• Revaluation of Land and Buildings

The Bank carries its Land and Buildings at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognized in OCI. The land and 
buildings were valued using direct comparison method and replacement cost method. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies

a) Current versus non-current classification

The Bank presents assets and liabilities in the notes based on current/non-current classification. An asset is current when it is expected:

• to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle
• to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period or 
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 

months after the reporting period 

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:
• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period Or
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period
• The Bank classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

b) Recognition of income and expense

i) The effective interest rate method
Under both IFRS 9, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR) method for all financial instruments 
measured at amortized cost, financial instruments designated at FVPL. Interest income on interest bearing financial 
assets measured at FVOCI under IFRS 9, similarly to interest bearing financial assets classified as available-for-sale 
or held to maturity under IFRS9 are also recorded by using the EIR method. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability 
and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument 
or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When 
calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all 
fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

The EIR (and therefore, the amortized cost of the asset) is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium 
on acquisition, fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The Bank recognizes interest income using a rate 
of return that represents the best estimate of a constant rate of return over the expected life of the loan. Hence, it 
recognizes the effect of potentially different interest rates charged at various stages, and other characteristics of the 
product life cycle (including prepayments, penalty interest and charges).

If expectations regarding the cash flows on the financial asset are revised for reasons other than credit risk. The 
adjustment is booked as a positive or negative adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset in the statement of 
financial position with an increase or reduction in interest income. The adjustment is subsequently amortized through 
Interest and similar income in the income statement.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

ii) Interest and similar income

The Bank calculates interest income by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of financial assets other than 
credit-impaired assets.

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired and is, therefore, regarded as ‘Stage 3’, the Bank calculates interest 
income by applying the effective interest rate to the net amortized cost of the financial asset. If the financial assets 
cures and is no longer credit-impaired, the Bank reverts to calculating interest income on a gross basis.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets, the Bank calculates interest income by calculating 
the credit-adjusted EIR and applying that rate to the amortized cost of the asset. The credit adjusted EIR is the interest 
rate that, at original recognition, discounts the estimated future cash flows (including credit losses) to the amortized 
cost of the POCI assets.

iii) Fees and Commission

Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or financial 
liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.
Other fees and commission income are recognized as the related services are performed.

Other fees and commission expense relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the services 
are received.

iv) Dividend Income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive income is established. Usually, this is the ex-dividend date 
for quoted equity securities.

v)  Other income

Other income comprises of gains and income related to non-trading assets and liabilities and includes all realized and 
unrealized fair value changes.

c) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost or fair value, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Costs include expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that 
is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance 
are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

c) Property and equipment (Continued)

Property and equipment are de-recognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise 
from the continued use of the asset. Gains and losses arising on disposal of an item of property and equipment are 
determined by comparing the net proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the item and is included in the 
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognized.

Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent 
depreciation for buildings. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the fair value of a revalued 
asset does not differ materially from it carrying amount.  

A revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive income and credited to the asset revaluation reserve in 
equity. However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognized in profit 
or loss, the increase is recognized in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is recognized in the statement of profit or loss, 
except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognized in the asset revaluation reserve.

Accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and 
the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the 
particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis, at annual rates estimated to write off the cost or valuation of the 
assets over their estimated useful lives. The residual values, useful lives, and methods of depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Management and Directors review the residual value and useful life of an asset at the year end and any change 
considered to be appropriate in accounting estimate is recorded through the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Management assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that any item of property and equipment 
is impaired. If any such indication exists, Management estimates the recoverable amount of the relevant assets.  An 
impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Work in progress is stated at cost and not depreciated. Transfer from work in progress 
is done when then the asset is ready for use. Depreciation on work in progress commences when the assets are ready 
for their intended use. Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of the property and equipment on a straight-line 
basis over the expected useful lives of the assets concerned. The rates for depreciation used are as follows:

Buildings 11% and 8% Fixture, Fittings & Equipment 25%

Motor Vehicles 20% Computer Equipment 50%
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

d) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Acquired computer software licenses 
are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.  Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment 
losses. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization 
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes 
in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset 
are considered to modify the summarized period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting 
estimates. The summarized expense on intangible assets with finite lives is summarized in the statement of profit or 
loss in the expense category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets.
These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (five years).

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are summarized as an expense as incurred. 
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products 
controlled by the Bank, are recognised as intangible assets, when the following criteria have been met:

• It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;
• Management intends to complete the software product and use it;
• There is an ability to use the software product;
• It can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;
• Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software 

product are available; and
• The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured,

Directly attributable costs that are recognised as part of the software product include the software development 
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs 
previously recognised as expense are not recognised as asset in subsequent period. Computer software development 
costs summarized as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives, not exceeding five years.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment annually, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The 
assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. 
If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is recognised upon disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising upon derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in 
the statement of profit or loss.

e) Capital work-in progress

Assets in the course of construction (capital work-in-progress) are not depreciated. Upon completion of project the 
accumulated cost is transferred to an appropriate asset category where it is depreciated according to policy.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

f) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, 
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Bank 
assesses whether:

• The contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or implicitly and should be 
physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a 
substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified.

• The Bank has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset throughout the 
period of use; and 

• The Bank has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Bank has this right when it has the decision-making rights 
that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision 
about how and for what purpose the asset is used is predetermined, the Bank has the right to direct the use of 
the asset if either:

o The Bank has the right to operate the asset; or 

o The Bank designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used.

Bank as lessee:

The Bank recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset 
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle 
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to 
the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 
adjusted for certain re-measurement of the lease liability.

Bank as lessor:
At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Bank allocates the consideration 
in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices. When the Bank acts 
as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether the lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. 

To classify each lease, the Bank makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; 
if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Bank considers certain indicators such as whether 
the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

f) Financial Instruments

A. Initial recognition

i) Recognition and initial Measurement

The Bank initially recognised loans and advances, deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the 
date on which they are originated. All other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases and sales of financial 
assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Bank becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. The fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is 
generally its transaction price. 

ii) Classification

Financial Assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

• The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.
• A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 
• The asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 

selling financial assets; and 
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI. 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 
All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.

In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the 
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces 
an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Business model assessment
The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because 
this best reflects the way the business is managed, and information is provided to management. The information 
considered includes: 

• the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether 
management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, 
matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising 
cash flows through the sale of the assets; 

• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Bank’s management;  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) 
and its strategy for how those risks are managed; 

• how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets 
managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and

• The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about future 
sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment 
of how the Bank’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised. 

The Bank’s business comprises primarily loans to customers that are held for collecting contractual cash flows. The 
Bank doesn’t sales its loans.

Certain debt securities are held by the Bank in a separate portfolio for long-term yield. These securities may be sold, 
but such sales are not expected to be more than infrequent. The Bank considers that these securities are held within 
a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect the contractual cash flows. 

Certain other debt securities are held by the Bank in separate portfolios to meet everyday liquidity needs. The Bank 
seeks to minimise the costs of managing these liquidity needs and therefore actively manages the return on the 
portfolio. That return consists of collecting contractual cash flows as well as gains and losses from the sale of financial 
assets. The investment strategy often results in sales activity that is significant in value. The Bank considers that these 
financial assets are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows 
and selling financial assets.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are 
measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual 
cash flows and to sell financial assets.
 
Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest 

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. 
‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal 
amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk 
and administrative costs), as well as profit margin 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Bank considers the contractual terms of the instrument. 
This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount 
of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Bank considers: 

• contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows; 
• leverage features; 
• prepayment and extension terms; 
• terms that limit the Bank’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse loans); and 
• features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates). 

Equity instruments have contractual cash flows that do not meet the SPPI criterion. Accordingly, all such financial 
assets are measured at FVTPL unless the FVOCI option is selected
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Reclassifications 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Bank changes 
its business model for managing financial assets.

iii)  Derecognition

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, 
or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Bank neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated 
to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less 
any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss.  

Any cumulative gain or loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment securities designated as at FVOCI is not 
recognised in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities. Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for 
derecognition that is created or retained by the Bank is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

The Bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of financial position but retains 
either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. In such cases, the 
transferred assets are not derecognised. Examples of such transactions are securities lending and sale-and-repurchase 
transactions. 

When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total return swap on the transferred assets, the transaction 
is accounted for as a secured financing transaction similar to sale-and-repurchase transactions, because the Bank 
retains all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of such assets. 

In transactions in which the Bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Bank continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its 
continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset. 

In certain transactions, the Bank retains the obligation to service the transferred financial asset for a fee. The transferred 
asset is derecognised if it meets the derecognition criteria. An asset or liability is recognised for the servicing contract 
if the servicing fee is more than adequate (asset) or is less than adequate (liability) for performing the servicing.

Financial Liabilities

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire 

iv)  Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities 

Financial Assets
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Bank evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset 
are substantially different.  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset 
are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised (see(iii)) and a new financial 
asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received as part of the modification are 
accounted for as follows:

- fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement of 
eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the asset.
- Other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the modification is usually 
to maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with substantially different 
terms. If the Bank plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, then it first 
considers whether a portion of the asset should be written off before the modification takes place. This approach 
impacts the result of the quantitative evaluation and means that the derecognition criteria are not usually met in such 
cases.

If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI does not result in derecognition of the 
financial asset, then the Bank first recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset using the original 
effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting adjustment as a modification gain or loss in profit or 
loss. For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss 
is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. 

Any costs or fees incurred and modification fees received adjust the gross carrying amount of the modified financial 
asset and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial asset.

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain or loss is presented 
together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the effective interest 
rate method. 

Financial liabilities

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified, and the cash flows of the modified liability are 
substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised 
in profit or loss. Consideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities, 
including the new modified financial liability. 

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the liability is 
recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss 
is recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective interest rate used to calculate 
the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification.  Any costs and 
fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and amortised over the remaining 
term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on the instrument 

Interest rate benchmark reform (policy applied from 1 January 2020) 

If the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability measured at amortised 
cost changes as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, then the Bank updates the effective interest rate of the 
financial asset or financial liability to reflect the change that is required by the reform.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

 A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if the 
following conditions are met: 

• Change is necessary as a direct consequence of the reform; and
• The new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis – i.e. 

the basis immediately before the change. 

If changes are made to a financial asset or financial liability in addition to changes to the basis for determining the 
contractual cash flows required by interest rate benchmark reform, then the Bank first updates the effective interest 
rate of the financial asset or financial liability to reflect the change that is required by interest rate benchmark reform. 

After that, the Bank applies the policies on accounting for modifications set out above to the additional changes. 

v) Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Bank currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to 
settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS Standards, or for gains and losses 
arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading activity. 

vi)  Fair value measurement

‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market 
to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. 

When one is available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market 
for that instrument. A market is regarded as ‘active’ if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient 
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. 

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of 
the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction. 

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price – i.e. 
the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Bank determines that the fair value on initial recognition 
differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an 
identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to be 
insignificant in relation to the difference, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted 
to defer the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that 
difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of/ the instrument but no later than when 
the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out. 

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Bank measures assets and long 
positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are managed 
by the Bank on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit risk are measured on the basis of a price that 
would be received to sell a net long position (or paid to transfer a net short position) for the particular risk exposure. 
Portfolio-level adjustments – e.g. bid-ask adjustment or credit risk adjustments that reflect the measurement on the 
basis of the net exposure – are allocated to the individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustment 
of each of the individual instruments in the portfolio. 

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable 
on demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount could be required to be paid. The Bank recognises 
transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during which the change has 
occurred. 

vii) Impairment

See also Note 30 B.ii)

The Bank recognises loss allowances for ECL on the following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL: 
• Financial assets that are debt instruments; 
• Lease receivables; 
• Financial guarantee contracts issued; and 
• Loan commitments issued.

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments
The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they are 
measured as 12-month ECL: 

• Debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 
• Other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition. 

The Bank considers a debt investment security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally 
understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

Lifetime ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument or 
the maximum contractual period of exposure.

12-month ECL are the portion of lifetime ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within the 12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for which 12-month ECL are recognised are referred 
to as ‘Stage 1 financial instruments’. Financial instruments allocated to Stage 1 have not undergone a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition and are not credit impaired. 

Financial instruments for which lifetime ECL are recognised but that are not credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 2 
financial instruments’. Financial instruments allocated to Stage 2 are those that have experienced a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition but are not credit-impaired. 

Financial instruments for which lifetime ECL are recognised and that are credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 3 
financial instruments’
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows: 
• financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. 

the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that 
the Bank expects to receive);  

• financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows; 

• undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are 
due to the Bank if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive; and 

• financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the Bank 
expects to recover. 

Restructured financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one 
due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be 
derecognised and ECL are measured as follows.

If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash flows arising 
from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset. 
If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value of the new 
asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition. This amount is 
included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from the expected date 
of derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset 

Credit-impaired financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost, debt financial assets 
carried at FVOCI and finance lease receivables are credit impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial 
asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows 
of the financial asset have occurred. 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
• a breach of contract such as a default or past-due event; 
• the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not consider otherwise; 
•  it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or 
• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually considered to be credit-
impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and 
there are no other indicators of impairment.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

In making an assessment of whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-impaired, the Bank considers the following factors.

• The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in bond yields. 
• The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness. 
• The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance. 
• The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through voluntary or mandatory 

debt forgiveness. 
• The international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support as ‘lender of last resort’ to 

that country, as well as the intention, reflected in public statements, of governments and agencies to use those 
mechanisms. This includes an assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective of the political 
intent, whether there is the capacity to fulfil the required criteria.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 
•  Financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets. 
• Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision; and
• Where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Bank cannot identify 

the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn component: the Bank presents 
a combined loss allowance for both components. The combined amount is presented as a deduction from the 
gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the gross amount of the 
drawn component is presented as a provision.

Write off

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering 
a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case when the Bank determines that the 
borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts 
subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level. 

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised when cash is received and are included in ‘impairment 
losses on financial instruments’ in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Bank’s 
procedures for recovery of amounts due. 

viii) Designation at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets

On initial recognition, the Bank has designated certain financial assets as at FVTPL because this designation eliminates 
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch, that would otherwise arise. 

Equity instruments at FVOCI 

Upon initial recognition, the Bank occasionally elects to classify irrevocably some of its equity investments as equity 
instruments at FVOCI when they meet the definition of definition of Equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation and are not held for trading. Such classification is determined on an instrument-by instrument basis.
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Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled to profit. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss 
as other operating income when the right of the payment has been established, except when the Bank benefits from 
such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the instrument, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity 
instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an impairment assessment.

Financial liabilities 

The Bank has not designated any financial liabilities as at FVTPL. 

ix) Borrowings

Borrowings are summarized initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net 
of transaction costs incurred. After initial measurement, borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on issue funds, and costs that are an 
integral part of the EIR. A compound financial instrument which contains both a liability and an equity component is 
separated at the issue date. 

x) Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments

The Bank issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments. Financial guarantees are initially 
summarized in the financial statements (within Provisions) at fair value, being the premium received. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially 
summarized less cumulative amortization summarized in the income statement, and – under IFRS9 – the best estimate 
of expenditure required to settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee, or – under IFRS 9 – an 
ECL provision. The premium received is summarized in the income statement in Net fees and commission income on 
a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee.

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the commitment, 
the Bank is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Similar to financial guarantee contracts, 
under IFRS9, a provision was made if they were an onerous contract but, from 1 January 2019, these contracts are in 
the scope of the ECL requirements.

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments, where the 
loan agreed to be provided is on market terms, are not recorded on in the statement of financial position.

xi) Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

• Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity 
price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided that, 
in the case of a non-financial variable, it is not specific to a party to the contract (i.e., the ‘underlying’).

• It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other 
types of contracts expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

• It is settled at a future date.

The Bank enters into derivative transactions with various counterparties. These include cross-currency swaps. 
Derivatives through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair 
value summarized in the statement of profit or loss.
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g) Fiduciary assets

The Bank commonly acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing of assets on 
behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions.  These assets and income arising thereon 
are excluded from these financial statements, as they are not assets of the Bank.

h) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are only off set and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position 
where there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and the Bank intends to either settle on a 
net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis when permitted by the accounting standard or for gains and losses 
arising from a group of similar transactions.

i) Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Where the Bank expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized 
as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

j) Employee benefits

i) Short term benefits

Short term benefits consist of salaries, bonuses, and any non-monetary benefits such as medical aid contributions 
and transport allowance. Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 
expensed as the related service is provided. A provision is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-
term cash bonus if the Bank has a present obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

ii) Retirement obligations

The Bank and all its employees also contribute to a statutory defined contribution scheme, the Rwanda Social Security 
Board (RSSB) which is a defined contribution scheme and contributions are determined by local statue and are currently 
limited to 5 percent of the employee’s gross salary The company’s contributions are charged to the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income in the period to which they relate.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. Typically defined benefit plans define 
an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors, 
such as age, years of service and compensation.

The Bank’s contributions to the scheme are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year in which they are made. 
Costs relating to early retirement are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year in which they are incurred.
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iii) Other entitlements

The estimated monetary liability for employees accrued annual leave entitlement at the reporting date is recognized as 
an expense accrual.

k) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with Banks, other short term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less, including: cash and non-restricted balances with the National Bank of 
Rwanda, Treasury, and other eligible bills, and amounts due from other Banks.  

l) Investment Properties

Investment properties comprise land and buildings and parts of buildings held to earn rentals and/or for capital 
appreciation. They are carried at fair value, determined annually by external independent valuers or management 
determines the value of the investment property based on relevant assumptions in the market. Fair value is based on 
active market prices as adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, condition, or location of the specific asset.
Investment properties are not subject to depreciation. Changes in their carrying amount between the reporting dates 
are recorded, net of deferred tax, through the profit or loss for the year.

Investment properties are derecognized either when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits is expected from the disposal.

On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is 
charged or credited to the profit or loss for the year.

m) Grants

Grants are recognized at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and all 
attaching conditions will be complied with.

Receipt of a grant does not of itself provide conclusive evidence that the conditions attaching to the grant have 
been or will be fulfilled. Grants received are treated as unexpended grants payable and credited to the statement of 
comprehensive income when all conditions attaching to the grants are met.

When the grant relates to an expense item, (revenue grant) it is recognized as income over periods necessary to match 
the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. 

Where the grant relates to an asset, (capital grant) it is recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a 
systematic basis over the expected useful life of the relevant asset.

n) Special Funds

Special funds are granted by various institutions to fund various schemes. The funds received are recognized as 
liabilities in the statement of financial position. The specific details are highlighted in Note 26.

o) Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as ‘share capital’ in equity. Any premium received over and above the par value of the 
shares is classified as ‘share premium’ in equity.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

p) Dividends

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized a liability to pay a dividend when the distribution is authorized and the 
distribution is no longer at the discretion of the Bank and this is when it is authorized and approved by the shareholders.  
A corresponding amount is recognized directly in equity.

q) Taxation

No provision is made for taxation as the Bank is exempt from income tax.

r) Contingent Liabilities

To meet the financial needs of customers, the Bank enters into various irrevocable commitments and contingent 
liabilities. These consist of financial guarantees, letters of credit and other commitments to lend. Letters of credit 
acceptances and guarantees are accounted for as off-balance sheet items and described as contingent liabilities. 
Estimation of the outcome and financial effect of contingent liabilities is made by management based on the information 
available up to the date the financial statements are approved for issue by the Directors.  Any expected loss is charged 
to the statement of comprehensive income.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

RWF’000 RWF’000

Letters of credits issued 246,298 239,229

Undisbursed loan commitments 54,185,721   67,165,781

54,432,019 67,405,010

s) Investment in Associates

Associates are all entities over which the company has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying 
shareholding of between 25 percent and 50 percent of the voting right. Significant influence is the power to participate 
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. 
Investment in associate are accounted using equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment 
is initially recognized at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize investors share of profit 
or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. 

If the ownership interest in associate is reduced but the significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share 
of amounts previously recognized on other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The company’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognized in profit or loss and share of post-acquisition 
movement in other comprehensive income is recognized in other comprehensive income with the corresponding 
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adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the company’s share of losses in associates equals or 
exceeds its interest in associate including any other unsecured receivables, the company does not recognize further 
losses unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or net payments on behalf of the associates.

The Bank also designates certain investments in associates at fair value and changes in fair value are recorded in the 
profit and loss.

Non-current assets held for sale

At the time of classification as held for sale. Immediately before the initial classification of the asset as held for sale, 
the Bank measures the carrying amount of the asset in accordance with applicable IFRSs. Resulting adjustments are 
also recognized in accordance with applicable IFRSs. 

After classification as held for sale, the Bank measures the assets or disposal groups that are classified as held for sale 
are at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell (fair value less costs to distribute in the case of 
assets classified as held for distribution to owners).  
Impairment is considered both at the time of classification as held for sale and subsequently.

t) New and amended standards and interpretations

The following new or amended standards and interpretations have become effective for financial years beginning on 
or after 1 January 2021:

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards were issued on 29 March 2018. The 
amendments aim to update, in existing Standards, references to, and quotes from, the existing version of the Conceptual 
Framework or the version that was replaced in 2010 so that they refer to the revised Conceptual Framework. The 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Earlier application is permitted. 
The amendments did not have any impact on the Bank’s financial statements.

Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8) was issued on 31 October 2018. IAS 1 has been revised to 
incorporate a new definition of “material” and IAS 8 has been revised to refer to this new definition in IAS 1. The 
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020. Earlier application 
is permitted. According to current knowledge, the amendments did not have any significant impact on the Bank’s 
financial statements.

Business Combinations (Amendments to IFRS 3) were issued on 22 October 2018. The amendments change the 
implementation guidance of IFRS 3 in order to improve the determination if an acquirer has acquired a business or a 
group of assets. The amendments are effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the 
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2020 and to asset acquisitions that occur 
on or after the beginning of that period. The amendments did not have any impact on the Bank’s financial statements.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7) was issued on 26 September 2019. These 
changes affect the impact of the IBOR reform (phase one of the project) on the financial reporting. IBOR (Interbank 
Offered Rates) are reference interest rates such as LIBOR, EURIBOR and TIBOR, which represents the costs of unsecured 
funding in a specific combination of currency and maturity within inter banking market. The amendments address 
accounting issues prior to the change to alternative benchmark interest rates and shall avoid discontinuation of hedge 
accounting. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Earlier application 
is permitted. The amendments did not have any impact on the Bank’s financial statements.
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COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16) Leases was issued on 28 May 2020. The amendment 
simplifies how lessees account for rent concessions. These amendments introduce a practical expedient for lessees – 
i.e., a lessee is not required to assess whether eligible rent concessions that are a direct consequence of the COVID-19 
pandemic are lease modifications. Instead, it accounts for them under other applicable guidance. The amendment is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. The amendments did not have any impact on the Bank’s 
financial statements.

v) New and amended standards and interpretations (Continued)

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 31 
December 2021 and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. 

These are summarized below:

Standard/Interpretation Effective Date 

Periods beginning on or 
after

IAS 37 amendment Onerous Contracts: Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022

IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and 
IAS 41 amandements

Annual Improvments to IFRS Standards (2018 - 
2020). Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, illustrative 
examples accompanying IFRS 16 and IAS 41

1 January 2022

IAS 16 amandements Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before 
Intended Use

1 January 2022

IFRS 3 amandements Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2023

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023

IAS 1 amandements Classificatioin of liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2023

IAS 8 amandements Definition of accounting estimate 1 January 2023

IAS 1 and IFRS practice 
statement 2

Disclosure of accounting policies 1 January 2023

IAS 12 amendments Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 
from a Single Transactiion (Amendments to IAS 12)

1 January 2023

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 
amandements

Sale or contribution of assets between an investor 
and its associate or joint venture

Deferred indefinitely

All the above standards and amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Bank’s financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. Interest Income

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Loans and advances  21,746,138 22,856,110

Placements with Banks 3,900,368 2,863,931

Staff benefit fair value adjustment for year  137,433 110,169

Interest on investments at amortised cost  687,196 607,568

 26,471,135 26,437,778

5. Interest expense

 2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

 Interest expense on borrowings 11,489,729 11,599,933

Interest expense is accrued and paid on different medium- and long-term lines of credit secured by the Bank from its 
various lending partners.

6. Net Fee and Commissions income

(a) Fees and commissions income 2021 2020

  RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Credit related fees and commissions 398,870 468,961

(b)

Fees and commissions expense

Commission on borrowings and other charges (34,041) (30,405)

Net fee and commission income 364,829 438,556

7.Net Foreign exchange losses

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Foreign exchange commission income - 242,850

Foreign exchange gains 12,878,274 1,766,805 

Foreign exchange losses (13,816,641)  (4,386,077) 

Net foreign exchange losses (938,367) (2,376,422)

Foreign exchange commissions are earned from international transfers made on behalf of the Bank’s customers. 
Translation gains and losses are accounted for when balances of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are converted into the reporting currency (RWF) using rates at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

8. Other Operating income

 2021         2020

 RWF’ 000     RWF’ 000

Advisory and Management fees   162,322 124,251

Dividends  339,953 242,056

Rent income 139,922 118,804

Gains on sale of fixed assets 370,753 88,687

Gain on sale of Investment properties 380,000 -

BNR Economic Recovery Funds (grant) 38,285 40,118

Other income 881,039 121,449

  2,312,274 735,365

   

The Advisory and Management is mainly attributable to management and advisory services provided to other 
institutions and the Education Fund currently being managed by the Bank. 
*Other income relates mainly to interest costs on the Rwanda Housing Finance project borrowing facility that were 
waived my MINECOFIN recouped and reclassified due to retrospective application of the changes in the contract 
terms. In addition to this the Bank has reversed long outstanding liabilities that the Bank could not trace the ultimate 
beneficiaries since the tie of Housing Bank Merger.

9. Impairment losses on financial instruments

(i) Impairment losses on loans and advances

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Provision in the year  (7,323,748) (10,424,609)

Amounts written off  (4,699,810) (283,038)

Recoveries on amounts previously provided for  2,637,125 5,574,383

Recoveries on amounts previously written off  2,216,232 925,626

 (7,170,201) (4,207,638)
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9. Impairment losses on financial instruments(Continued)

(ii) Impairment losses on other financial assets

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

ECL on Corporate Bond 146,408 (197,450)

ECL on amounts due from other Banks (5,400) 16,764

ECL on other assets (142,966) 228,264

Total ECL (1,958) 47,578

Total impairment losses on financial 
instruments 

(7,172,159) (4,160,060)

  
A test of impairment of the balances with the National Bank of Rwanda was carried out during the year and this 
revealed that no allowance needed to be recognized against reported assets/receivables of the Bank due to 
materiality. Therefore, no additional impairment was made during the year.

Impairment losses on financial instruments as per the statement of financial position 

2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Balances with BNR 0 - - -

Balances with other Banks 115,487 - - 115,487

Loans and advances to customers 1,698,731 6,992,944 3,497,711 12,189,385

Other receivables 802,595 - - 802,595

Loan Commitments 181,163 - - 181,163

Corporate Bond 51,042 - - 51,042

TOTAL IMPAIRMENT LOSS 2,849,018 6,992,944 3,497,711 13,339,673

DEVELOPMENT BANK OF RWANDA PLC
NOTES  TO  THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

79SUPPORTING RWANDA’S ECONOMY AMID THE COVID-19 PANDEMICBRD ANNUAL REPORT 2021



9. Impairment losses on financial instruments (Continued)

2020 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Balances with BNR 110,087 - - 110,087

Balances with other Banks 204,017 - - 204,017

Loans and advances to customers 2,073,150 3,927,698 2,715,221 8,716,069

Other receivables 55,872 - - 55,872

Loan Commitments 206,171 - - 206,171

Letter of Credits 14,033 - - 14,033

Corporate Bond 197,450 - - 197,450

TOTAL IMPAIRMENT LOSS 2,860,780 3,927,698 2,715,221 9,503,699

10. Share of Profit Investments on Associates

2021  2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Business Development Fund 327,216 139,356

Eastern Province Investment Company - (2,252,544)

Rwanda Farmers Coffee Company 479,843 (252,414)

Kinazi Cassava Plant - (34,450)

Kinazi Cassava Plant – Tasco - 1,511

807,059 (2,398,541)

This relates to changes in fair value of associates that are carried at fair value basis. The fair valuation of the 
investments in associates determined on the “adjusted net asset and discounted cashflows methodologies” was 
carried out and the gains or losses reported represent differences between the opening and closing investments’ 
values. See note 29 for details on the methodology of valuation used.

11. Net fair value gain on derivative instruments

Fair value (losses) gains on currency 
swaps (Note 19) (158,546) 19,769
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12. (i) Employee benefits expense 

2021  2020

RWF’ 000  RWF’ 000

Salaries and wages  3,086,442 2,900,851 

Retirement benefit costs  124,862 122,690 

Medical fees  175,728 173,512

Other staff costs* 571,670 256,459 

Staff benefit fair value adjustment for 
year

224,177 228,645

 4,182,879 3,682,157 

*Other staff costs include mainly the provision for bonus and other staff benefits such contribution by the Bank to 
staff provident fund, and employees’ car subsidies.

12. (ii) Other operating expense

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Travel and accommodation  3,966  2,667 

Training Fees  27,781  21,850 

Consultancy fees  469,230  50,869 

IT expenses  49,752  23,331 

Advertising and publicity  135,509  153,127 

Repairs and maintenance  840,863  658,602 

Land and District Taxes  6,098  61,235 

Communication  79,443  95,858 

Legal fees  55,531  105,086 

Subscription to professional bodies  19,780  8,681 

Security Fees  43,272  64,030 

Directors’ expenses  90,299  104,936 
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12. (ii) Other operating expense(Continued)

Office stationery and utilities  68,869  64,481 

Staff welfare  49,288  24,346 

Audit fees  31,340  42,000 

Insurance  26,967  8,566 

Cleaning Expenses  36,008  35,924 

Reception expenses  37,769  38,503 

Donation and grants  32,460  20,400 

Water and Electricity  60,794  73,527 

Advertising & Marketing  39,468  48,044 

Accrued leave days  10,648  25,204 

Other administrative expenses 141,726  106,978 

2,356,861 1,838,245

13. Taxation

The Development Bank of Rwanda is exempt from Income Tax as per the Income Tax Law, Article 39 Paragraph 7 on 
exemption from corporate income tax.

14. Transfer to the SME Guarantee Fund

In accordance with the 2010 directive from the Government of Rwanda, the Bank should transfer 50 percent of 
its deemed corporate income tax (CIT) made in a particular year to the SMEs support Fund managed by Business 
Development Fund Limited (BDF) and transfer the remaining to the Technical Assistance Fund managed by the Bank. 
However, given huge losses that the Bank has accumulated in the previous years ( RWF 20,504,809,000 cumulative 
losses for 2017, 2018 and 2019), the Bank couldn’t transfer any money due to the above specified funds to ensure the 
Bank’s resilience and to abide with the article 32 of the Rwandan Income tax law where the loss shall be deducted from 
the business profit in the next five (5) tax periods.

Under normal circumstances, the amounts allocated to the Technical Assistance Fund are utilized by the Bank to 
support small and micro enterprises (SMEs) capacity building. The amounts allocated to the SME Guarantee Fund is 
payable to BDF Limited, which uses it to provide financial guarantees to SMEs to support lending to that sector. From 
the above background no funds will be transferred to the above-mentioned Funds until the Bank fully utilizes all the 
accumulated losses from previous five years.
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15. Cash and Cash Equivalents

a) Balances with National Bank of Rwanda

   2021  2020

   RWF’ 000  RWF’ 000

      

Local Currency   832,263 1,898,224

Foreign Currency 66,316 144,543

   898,579 2,042,767

Balances with National Bank of Rwanda are classified as current assets and are non-interest earning.

Cash reserve requirement

Development Bank of Rwanda is not required to maintain the minimum cash reserve as it is not a deposit taking Bank.

b) Amounts due from other Banks

   2021  2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Balances with local Banks in local currency   35,065,992 26,863,199

Balances with local Banks in foreign currency 36,462,489 30,754,189

Balances with overseas Banks 2,673,834  2,154,123 

Less: ECL on balances (115,487) (110,087)

   74,086,828 59,661,424

c) Statement of cash flows

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than 90 days 
maturity from the date of acquisition including cash and balances with Banks, and other eligible bills. 

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Cash and balances with National 
Bank of Rwanda (Note 15 (a))

  898,579 2,042,767

Amounts due from other Banks (Note 
15 (b))

  74,086,828 59,661,424

   74,985,407 61,704,191
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16.  Investments at amortized cost

2021
RWF ‘000

2020
RWF ‘000

Corporate bonds 5,500,000 5,500,000

Interests accrued on bonds 576,370 774,123

Less: ECL on balances  (51,042) (197,450)

Total 6,025,328 6,076,673

Maturities 2021 2020

RWF ‘000 RWF ‘000

Maturing between 0-3 months - -

Maturing between 3-12 months 687,500 774,123

Maturing between 1-5 years 5,388,869 5,302,550

Maturing between 5-10 years - -

Total 6,076,369 6,076,673

Corporate bond is a debt security issued by Crystal Ventures Ltd and is carried at amortized cost. The contractual 
interest rates as at 31 December 2021 is 12.5 percent.

17. Loans and Advances

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Agriculture loans  10,042,623  10,030,290 

Export loans  64,403,445  59,989,780 

Energy loans  29,407,797  24,623,996 

Education loans  7,083,126  6,539,746 

Housing loans  10,725,553  5,239,863 

SP & Infrastructure loans  78,071,105  75,265,527 

Gross loans 199,733,649 181,689,202
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17. Loans and Advances (Continued)

Suspended interest (1,258,573)  (3,101,665)

Expected credit losses (ECL) (12,370,550)  (8,936,275)

Staff loan discount  (2,839,353)  (2,571,298)

Net loans and advances 183,265,173 167,079,964

The following table shows movement in expected credit losses against loans and advances by stages:

31 December 2021:

As at 1 
January 

2021

Movement in the 
period

As at 31 December 2021

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Stage 1(Note 31) 3,810,069 (2,111,338) 1,698,731

Stage 2(Note 31) 2,735,077 4,257,867 6,992,944

Stage 3(Note 31) 2,170,924 1,326,788 3,497,712

Provision for Letter of credit 14,033 (14,033) -

Provision for commitment 206,172 (25,009) 181,163

8,936,275 3,434,275 12,370,550
31 December 2020

As at 31 
December 2019

Movement in the 
period

As at 31 December 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Stage 1(Note 31) 2,107,515 1,702,554 3,810,069

Stage 2(Note 31)  838,716 1,496,361 2,735,077

Stage 3(Note 31)  1,140,284 1,030,640 2,170,924

Provision for Letter of credit - 14,033 14,033

Provision for commitment - 206,272 206,172

 4,086,515 4,449,860 8,936,275
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17. Loans and Advances (Continued)

The reconciliation for changes in positions of ECL against loans and advances is as follows:

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

At start of the year 8,936,275 4,086,515

Additional provisions (Note 9) 7,323,749 10,204,404

Provisions written back (Note 9) (2,637,125) (5,574,383)

Reversed provisions against written 
off loans

(1,291,391) (466)

Write back Provisions of off-balance 
sheet exposures 

39,042 220,205

12,370,550 8,936,275

18. Equity investments

The Bank has advanced financing in the form of equity in exceptional cases where the project is assessed to have a 
significant impact on the community and its development but where the equity participation is necessary for improving 
the capital structure of the company or where the sponsors are unable to raise additional equity to enable the borrower 
to operate on a commercially sound footing. Usually these are companies, which have substantial development impact 
but whose cash flows cannot support continuous repayments for long term loans. These are reported as investments 
in associates, Equity investments at fair value through OCI and redeemable convertible preference shares as per the 
Bank’s accounting policies.

The equity investment in unquoted entities is recorded at cost on initial recognition and subsequently on adjusted 
net asset basis less impairment since there is no active market for these investments. See note 29 for a more detailed 
discussion on the valuation methodology.
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18. Equity investments (Continued)

a) Investments in associates

As of 31 December, 2021
Investment 

at cost
Reclassification

Cumulative 
Gains/

(losses)

Carrying 
Value

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Business Development Fund 297,843 -    6,227,592     6,525,435

Kinazi Cassava Plant 4,782,150 (48,950)   (3,311,769)    1,421,431 

Rwanda Enterprise Investment Company 528,021 -      (528,021)                -   

Eastern Province Investment Company 4,604,005 - (1,826,757)    2,777,248 

Rwanda Farmers Coffee Company Limited - 530,309 192,979       723,288

Great Lakes Cement Company 685,352 -      (685,352)                -   

Tapioca Starch Processing Company 70,115 -       (70,115)                -   

10,967,486 481,359 (1,443) 11,447,402

As of 31 December, 2020
Investment 

at cost
Reclassification

Cumulative 
Gains/

(losses)

Carrying 
Value

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Business Development Fund 297,843 -    5,900,376    6,198,219 

Kinazi Cassava Plant 4,782,150 (48,950)   (3,311,769)    1,421,431 

Rwanda Enterprise Investment Company 528,021 -      (528,021)                -   

Eastern Province Investment Company 4,604,005 - (1,826,757)    2,777,248 

Rwanda Farmers Coffee Company Limited - 530,309 (286,863)       243,446 

Great Lakes Cement Company 685,352 -      (685,352)                -   

Tapioca Starch Processing Company 70,115 -       (70,115)                -   

10,967,486 481,359 (808,501) 10,640,344
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18. Equity investments (Continued)

a) Investments in associates (Continued)

Summary of the most recent available financial information of the investments in associates is as follows:

As at 31 December 2021 (used for 2020 Financial statements purposes). 

Financial information (RWF’000)
Business 

Development 
Fund

Kinazi 
Cassava Plant

Eastern Province 
Investment Company

Current assets 31,436,923 1,334,566 3,060,246

Non-current assets 4,047,532 6,413,768 11,480,760

Current liabilities 4,438,210 490,321 400,881

Non-current liabilities 16,532,626 1,045,079 5,854,490

Revenue 4,244,522 2,002,731 744,027

Profit or loss from continuing operations 691,799 76,298 (2,826,144)

Other comprehensive income - - -

Total comprehensive income 691,799 76,298 (2,826,144)

As at 31 December 2020 (used for 2019 Financial statements purposes). 

Financial information (RWF’000)
Business 

Development 
Fund

Kinazi 
Cassava Plant

Eastern Province 
Investment Company

Current assets 27,824,632 1,188,800 5,061,287

Non-current assets 3,053,256 6,713,800 12,747,360

Current liabilities 3,292,133 740,677 816,243

Non-current liabilities 13,816,934 6,713,800 5,883,412

Revenue 4,116,670 1,433,387 1,179,440

Profit or loss from continuing operations 309,679 (672,678) (2,896,237)

Other comprehensive income - - -

Total comprehensive income 309,679 (672,678) (2,896,237)
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18. Equity investments (Continued)

a) Investments in associates (Continued)

  The following table shows movement in investment cost during the period:

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

As at 1 January 11,448,845 10,967,486

Net change in fair value (1,443) (808,501)

Reclassification - (48,950)

Reclassifications from cost to fair value 
change

- 530,309

As at 31 December 11,447,402 10,640,344

The following table shows movement in Cumulative gains/(losses) of Assocates during the period

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Business Development Fund - 139,356

The following table provides the nature of business and shareholding percentage of the Bank in each of 
the associates across the years:

Associate companies Nature of business
Percentage 

shareholding
Percentage 

shareholding

2021 2020

Business Development Fund Guarantee Fund 45% 45%

Rwanda Enterprise Investment Company Investment advisory 38% 38%

Eastern Province Investment Company Hotel 25% 25%

Great Lakes Cement Company Cement production 24% 24%

Rwanda Farmers Coffee Company Limited Coffee Business 25.25% 25.25%

Kinazi Cassava Plant Cassava Processing 43.67% 44%
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 18. Equity investments (Continued) 

(b) Equity investments at fair value through OCI

As of 31 December, 2021
Investment 

at cost
New shares 
purchased

Cumulative 
change in Fair 

value

Carrying 
Value

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Magerwa Limited  37,425 - 873,230   910,655

Minimex Limited  275,000 - (195,372)  79,628 

Kigali City Park Limited  113,787 - 675,127   788,914

Rwanda Investment Group Limited  600,000 - 437,551 1,037,551

Hostel 2020 Limited  465,000 - 301,489  766,489 

Prime Economic Zones Limited  1,098,320 - 2,136,769 3,235,089

Bank of Kigali Limited  502,925 - 502,925 1,005,850

Rwanda Stock Exchange  8,000 - 355,415 363,415

New Forest Company Limited  489,889 - 830,291   1,320,180

Rugarama Park Estate  1,903,596 - 15,087  1,918,683 

Crystal Telecom Limited  2,836,785 - 2,026,275 4,863,060

Sopyrwa  499,999 - 260,231 760,230

Ziniya Project  424,673 - (19,154)   405,519

Kivu Marina  2,725,000 -  -    2,725,000 

Ndera Housing Project 147,221 - -  147,221

Banque de Développement des Etats de 
Grands Lacs

 6,280 - 111,738    118,018

12,133,900 - 8,311,602 20,445,502
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18. Equity investments (Continued)

(b) Equity investments at fair value through OCI (Continued)

As of 31 December, 2020
Investment 

at cost
New shares 
purchased

Cumulative 
change in Fair 

value

Carrying 
Value

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Magerwa Limited  37,425 -  508,437  545,862 

Minimex Limited  275,000 -  (195,372) 79,628

Kigali City Park Limited  113,787 -  608,838 722,625

Rwanda Investment Group Limited  600,000 -  223,535 823,535

Hostel 2020 Limited  465,000 -  300,859 765,859

Prime Economic Zones Limited  1,098,320 -  1,297,024 2,395,344

Bank of Kigali Limited  502,925 -  434,527 937,452

Rwanda Stock Exchange  8,000 -  8,684 16,684

New Forest Company Limited  489,889 -  1,573,998 2,063,887

Rugarama Park Estate  1,903,596 -  15,087 1,918,683

Crystal Telecom/MTN Rwanda-Cell  2,836,785 -  (810,510) 2,026,275

Sopyrwa  499,999 -  721,990 1,221,989

Ziniya Project  424,673 -  -   424,673

Kivu Marina  2,725,000 -  -   2,725,000

Ndera Housing Project 147,221 - - 147,221

Banque de Développement des Etats de 
Grands Lacs

 6,280 - 111,738    118,018

12,133,900 - 4,798,835 16,932,735
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18. Equity investments (Continued)

(b) Equity investments at fair value through OCI (Continued)

The following Equity Investments were fair revalued during year 2021

Equity investee name Value as at 31 12 
2021

BRD 
Shareholding

BRD Share 
value

Valuation Method Used

RWF’000 % RWF’000

Magerwa Limited  15,177,583 
6%

 910,655 Average of Discounted 
Cashflow & Net Asset Value

Rwanda Investment Group 
Limited

 23,851,752 4%  1,037,551 The average of Discounted 
Cash Flow, Market 
capitalization, reported 
nominal Value, & Fair Value

Prime Economic Zones 
Limited 

 33,701,013 
10%

 3,235,089 Average of Discounted 
Cashflow & Net Asset Value

Rwanda Stock Exchange
 4,542,697 

8%
 363,416 Average of Discounted 

Cashflow & Net Asset Value

New Forest Company 
Limited

 38,357,399 
8%

 1,320,180 Similar sales transaction 
valuation

Sopyrwa
 33,254,387 

4%
 760,230 Average of Discounted 

Cashflow & Net Asset Value

Ziniya Project 405,519 100% 405,519 Estimated market Value

Kigali City Real Estate 6,714,161 11.75% 788,914 Estimated market Value

DEVELOPMENT BANK OF RWANDA PLC
NOTES  TO  THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

92 SUPPORTING RWANDA’S ECONOMY AMID THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC BRD ANNUAL REPORT 2021



Th
e 

ta
bl

e 
be

lo
w

 c
on

ta
in

s i
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
us

ed
 to

 fa
ir

 v
al

ue
 e

qu
it

y 
in

ve
st

m
en

ts
 a

t f
ai

r v
al

ue
 th

ro
ug

h 
O

CI
 a

s a
t 3

1 
De

ce
m

be
r 2

02
0

Eq
ui

ty
 in

ve
st

ee
 n

am
e

Cu
rr

en
t a

ss
et

s
N

on
-c

ur
re

nt
 

as
se

ts
Cu

rr
en

t 
lia

bi
lit

ie
s

N
on

-c
ur

re
nt

 
lia

bi
lit

ie
s

Re
ve

nu
e

Pr
ofi

t o
r 

lo
ss

 fr
om

 
co

nt
in

ui
ng

 
op

er
at

io
ns

O
th

er
 

co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 

in
co

m
e

To
ta

l 
co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 
in

co
m

e
Fi

na
nc

ia
l y

ea
r

RW
F’

00
0

RW
F’

00
0

RW
F’

00
0

RW
F’

00
0

RW
F’

00
0

RW
F’

00
0

RW
F’

00
0

RW
F’

00
0

U
se

d

M
ag

er
w

a 
Li

m
ite

d
 5

,9
19

,5
40

 
 5

,0
15

,6
62

 
 1

,9
21

,3
41

 
 2

62
,5

70
 

 5
,9

91
,4

78
 

 7
57

,4
39

 
 -   

 7
57

,4
39

 
31

-M
ar

-2
0

M
in

im
ex

 L
im

ite
d

 1
,4

97
,1

78
 

 5
,3

53
,7

89
 

 3
84

,0
75

 
 5

,7
89

,9
08

 
 5

,5
63

,5
85

 
 (6

77
,8

40
)

 -   
 (6

77
,8

40
)

31
-D

ec
-1

9

Rw
an

da
 In

ve
st

m
en

t G
ro

up
 

21
,4

14
,4

28
 

 1
8,

01
3,

54
0 

 2
99

,4
12

 
 2

,1
66

,8
57

 
 1

,6
15

,7
83

 
 6

16
,1

82
 

 6
16

,1
82

 
31

-D
ec

-1
9

H
os

te
l 2

02
0 

Li
m

ite
d

 5
,1

46
,8

38
 

 6
,5

34
,3

54
 

 6
,5

17
 

 -   
 -   

 3
2,

19
6 

 -   
 3

2,
19

6 
31

-D
ec

-1
9

Pr
im

e 
Ec

on
om

ic
 Z

on
es

 L
td

 2
,8

49
,6

82
 

 1
24

,9
58

,3
39

 
 2

,4
45

,2
84

 
10

0,
40

9,
62

7 
 5

,4
01

,9
36

 
 2

,4
41

,3
06

 
 -   

 2
,4

41
,3

06
 

31
-D

ec
-1

9

N
ew

 F
or

es
t C

om
pa

ny
 

59
,1

05
,8

88
57

,0
08

,7
20

62
7,

79
3

33
,1

94
,1

16
2,

63
6,

87
1

1,
33

0,
60

3
 -   

 1
,3

30
,6

03
 

31
-D

ec
-1

9

Rw
an

da
 F

ar
m

er
s 

Co
ff

ee
 

Co
m

pa
ny

 L
im

ite
d

 2
31

,7
20

 
 1

,1
28

,5
55

 
 1

34
,9

42
 

 2
61

,2
89

 
 4

65
,1

45
 

 (1
36

,4
20

)
 -   

 (1
36

,4
20

)
    

31
-D

ec
-1

9

So
py

rw
a

6,
14

5,
36

6
30

,1
69

,2
26

1,
50

1,
22

1
1,

85
8,

83
4

5,
91

2,
79

4
1,

27
0,

43
3

 -   
1,

27
0,

43
3

    
31

-D
ec

-1
9

DEVELOPMENT BANK OF RWANDA PLC
NOTES  TO  THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

93SUPPORTING RWANDA’S ECONOMY AMID THE COVID-19 PANDEMICBRD ANNUAL REPORT 2021



18. Equity investments (Continued)

(b) Equity investments at fair value through OCI (Continued)

Details of the cumulative change in Fair Value

As of 31 December, 2021
Opening 

cumulative 
change in FV

Fair value 
gain/(loss)

Reclassification/ 
(impairment)

Closing 
cumulative 

change in FV 

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Magerwa Limited  508,437 364,793 -            873,230 

Minimex Limited  (195,372) - -          (195,372)

Kigali City Park Limited  608,838 66,289 -            675,127 

Rwanda Investment Group Limited  223,535 214,016 -            437,551 

Hostel 2020 Limited  300,859 630 -            301,489 

Prime Economic Zones Limited  1,297,024 839,745 -         2,136,769 

Bank of Kigali Limited  434,527 68,398 -            502,925 

Rwanda Stock Exchange  8,684 346,732 -            355,416 

New Forest Company Limited  1,573,998 (743,707) -            830,291 

Rugarama Park Estate  15,087 - -              15,087 

Crystal Telecom/MTN Rwanda-Cell  (810,510) 2,836,785 -         2,026,275 

Sopyrwa  721,990 (461,759) -            260,231 

Ziniya Project  -   (19,154) -             (19,154)

Kivu Marina  -                       -   -  -   

Ndera Housing Project  -                       -   -  -   

Banque de Développement des Etats 
de Grands Lacs

 111,738                     -   -  111,738 

4,798,835 3,512,768 - 8,311,603
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18. Equity investments (Continued)

(b) Equity investments at fair value through OCI (Continued)

As of 31 December, 2020
Opening 

cumulative 
change in FV

Fair value 
gain/(loss)

Reclassification/ 
(impairment)

Closing 
cumulative 

change in FV 

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Magerwa Limited  461,192            47,245 -  508,437 

Minimex Limited  15,868        (211,240) -  (195,372)

Kigali City Park Limited  608,838                     -   -  608,838 

Rwanda Investment Group Limited  214,674              8,861 -  223,535 

Hostel 2020 Limited 82,157         218,702 -  300,859 

Prime Economic Zones Limited  1,087,417         209,607 -  1,297,024 

Bank of Kigali Limited 563,276        (128,749) -  434,527 

Rwanda Stock Exchange  5,839              2,845 -  8,684 

New Forest Company Limited  1,573,998 - -  1,573,998 

Rwanda Farmers Coffee Company Limited  (252,414) - 252,414  -   

Rugarama Park Estate -            15,087 -  15,087 

Crystal Telecom Limited  -           135,085 -  (810,510)

Sopyrwa  (945,595)            47,110 -  721,990 

Ziniya Project  674,880                     -   -  -   

Kivu Marina  -                       -   -  -   

Ndera Housing Project  -                       -   -  -   

Banque de Développement des Etats de 
Grands Lacs

111,739                     -   -  111,739 

4,201,869 344,553 252,414 4,798,836
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18. Equity investments (Continued)

(b) Equity investments at fair value through OCI (Continued)

The following table summarizes movement in investment at cost during the year:

2021  2020

RWF’ 000  RWF’ 000

As at 1 January 12,133,900 15,839,209

Disposal of shares - (3,175,000)

Reclassifications - (530,309)

As at 31 December 12,133,900 12,133,900

The following table summarizes the cumulative change in fair value during the period ended:

2021  2020

RWF’ 000  RWF’ 000

As at 1 January 4,798,836 4,201,870

MTN shares allotment 4,863,060 -

Crystal Telecom shares transfer (2,836,785) -

(Increase in fair values) 857,650 596,966

As at 31 December 7,682,761 4,798,836
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18. Equity investments (Continued)

(b) Equity investments at fair value through OCI (Continued)

The equity investments are less than 20 percent of shareholding. Only Bank of Kigali and MTN Rwanda-cell Limited 
are listed. The equity investments are measured at Fair value and in some instances the cost approximates the fair 
value. Dividends received have been recognized in other operating incomes as Dividends. The fair value was achieved 
using the Rwanda Stock Exchange pricing at the reporting date and no specialist valuer was required in this regard.

The following table provides a movement schedule in balances of Equity investments at fair value through OCI:

Dec 2021 Dec 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

At start of the year 16,932,735 16,866,078

MTN shares allotment 4,863,060 -

Crystal Telecom shares transfer (2,026,275) -

Reclassification - (277,895)

Fair Value gains 675,982 344,553

At end of the year 20,445,502 16,932,735

Listed 5,868,908 2,963,727

Unlisted 14,576,594 13,969,008

20,445,502 16,932,735

(c) Fair Value estimation

IFRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are 
observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable 
inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

Fair value estimation was based on Valuation of shares for Bank of Kigali, Crystal Telecom/MTN Rwanda-Cell as at end December 
2021 and for other equity investments their fair values were based on their business valuation as at end of year 2021. 

• Level 1 – Fair value is determined using unadjusted quoted prices in an active market for identical assets and 
liabilities. Types of financial assets include actively traded government and other agency securities, listed derivative 
instruments and listed equities. Types of financial liabilities include listed derivative instruments;
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18. Equity investments (Continued)

(c) Fair Value estimation (Continued)

• Level 2 – Fair value is determined using valuation models with directly or indirectly market observable inputs. 
Types of financial assets include; corporate and other government bonds and loans, and over the counter (OTC) 
derivatives. Types of financial liabilities include over the counter (OTC) derivatives;

• Level 3 – Fair value is determined using Valuation models using significant non- market observable inputs. Types 
of financial assets include; highly structured OTC derivatives with unobservable parameters and corporate bonds 
in illiquid markets. Types of financial liabilities include highly structured OTC derivatives with unobservable 
parameters.

The following table presents the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value:
 
As at 31 December 2021:

Financial Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Investments in Associates (Note 18 (a)) - - 11,447,402 11,447,402

Equity investments at fair value through 
OCI (Note 18 (b))

5,868,908 - 14,576,595 20,445,503

Derivative instruments (Note 19) - 1,999,828 - 1,999,828

Total 5,868,908 1,999,828 26,023,997 33,892,733

  As at 31 December 2020:

Financial Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Investments in Associates (Note 18 (a)) - - 10,640,344 10,640,344

Equity investments at fair value through 
OCI (Note 18 (b))

2,963,727 - 13,969,008 16,932,735

Derivative instruments (Note 19) - 2,095,814 - 2,095,814

Total 2,963,727 2,095,814 24,609,352 29,668,893

19. Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value in response to changes in interest rates, financial instrument 
prices, commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, credit risk and indices.
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19. Derivative Financial Instruments (Continued)

The Bank entered into an eight-year swap transaction with the National Bank of Rwanda that took effect on 22 December 
2015. In the SWAP transaction, the Bank paid to National Bank of Rwanda US$ 7,500,000 which was swapped with RWF 
5,589,188,700. The Bank will receive interest of 2 percent on the US$7,500,000 investment and will pay interest of 8 
percent to the National Bank of Rwanda on the Swapped local currency amount.
On 15 February 2016, the Bank entered into a second eight-year swap transaction with the National Bank of Rwanda. 
In this SWAP transaction, the Bank paid to National Bank of Rwanda US$ 7,500,000 which was swapped with RWF 
5,692,615,380. The Bank will receive interest of 2 percent on the US$ 7,500,000 investment and will pay interest of 8 
percent to the National Bank of Rwanda on the Swapped local currency amount.

On 8 December 2016, the Bank entered into a third ten-year swap transaction with the National Bank of Rwanda. In the 
swap transaction, the Bank paid to National Bank of Rwanda US$ 5,000,000 which was swapped with RWF 4,088,931,055. 
The Bank will receive interest of 2 percent on the US$5,000,000 investment and will pay interest of 8 percent to the 
National Bank of Rwanda on the Swapped local currency amount.

On 20th May 2020, the Bank entered into a fourth three years swap transaction with the National Bank of Rwanda. 
In the swap transaction, the Bank paid to National Bank of Rwanda US$ 3,000,000 which was swapped with RWF 
2,680,114,305. The Bank will receive interest of 2 percent on the US$3,000,000 investment and will pay interest of 8 
percent to the National Bank of Rwanda on the Swapped local currency amount.

On 11th June 2020, the Bank entered into a fifth three years swap transaction with the National Bank of Rwanda. In the 
swap transaction, the Bank paid to National Bank of Rwanda US$ 700,000 which was swapped with RWF 654,601,272. 
The Bank will receive interest of 2 percent on the US$700,000 investment and will pay interest of 8 percent to the 
National Bank of Rwanda on the Swapped local currency amount.

In line with IFRS9 financial instruments (Swap) are carried at fair value. As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of the 
derivative financial instrument (swap) was a net asset of RWF 1,999,828 (2020: net asset of RWF 2,095,814). The Bank’s 
exposure under derivative instruments is monitored as part of the overall management of its market risk.

The outstanding principal receipts and payments for the existing swap contracts and their respective fair values of 
the derivative asset or liability are as follows:

 As at 31 December 2021:

Currency Swap
Outstanding USD 
principal receipts

Outstanding 
RWF principal 

payments

Fair Value of 
Asset

Fair Value 
of Liability

RWF ‘ 000 RWF ‘ 000 RWF ‘ 000 RWF ‘ 000

Contract of 22.12.2015  2,164,896             1,603,832  561,064 -

Contract of 15.02.2016  2,164,896             1,633,510  531,386 -

Contract of 08.12.2016  2,782,285             2,273,552  508,733 -
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19. Derivative Financial Instruments (Continued)

Contract of 20.05.2019  1,022,188                936,891 -  (85,298)

Contract of 31.03.2020  5,195,884             4,907,422 -  (288,462)

Contract of 30.06.2020  353,790                328,903 -  (24,887)

Total 13,683,939 11,684,110 1,601,183 (398,647)

 As at 31 December 2020:

Currency Swap
Outstanding USD 
principal receipts

Outstanding RWF 
principal payments

Fair Value of 
Asset

Fair Value 
of Liability

RWF ‘ 000 RWF ‘ 000 RWF ‘ 000 RWF ‘ 000

Contract of 22.12.2015  3,128,103  2,408,129  719,974 -

Contract of 15.02.2016  3,128,103  2,452,691  675,412 -

Contract of 08.12.2016  3,167,330  2,688,389  478,941 -

Contract of 20.05.2019  1,969,164  1,873,774 -  (95,389)

Contract of 31.03.2020  5,593,768  5,487,330 -  (106,438)

Contract of 30.06.2020  567,984  548,325 -  (19,659)

Total 17,554,452 15,458,638 1,874,327 (221,486)

The following table provides a reconciliation of the change in the value of the net derivative financial instrument 
between 01 January and 31 December:

2021 2020

RWF ‘ 000 RWF ‘ 000

Balance of Net Derivative Asset/(Liability) as at 1 January  2,095,814 1,781,245 

Receipts during the year under swaps contracts (4,768,412) (4,180,731)

Payments during the year under swaps contracts 4,830,976  4,475,530 

Fair Value gain /(loss) under swaps contracts        (158,550)       19,770 

Balance of Net Derivative Asset as at 31 December 1,999,828    2,095,814
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20. Other Assets

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Due from the Government of Rwanda 
and other taxes

 -    15,739 

Other receivables 825,722  899,928 

Prepayments  1,165,876  656,544 

Staff fair value adjustment for year  2,483,621  2,302,310 

Amounts due from BRD Insurance 
Brokerage Ltd

 20,608  20,608 

Amounts due from Business 
Development Fund Ltd

 -    184,741 

Amounts due from Kinazi Cassava 
Plant Limited

 32,626  32,626 

Amounts due from EDUCATION Fund  664,666  170,483 

Amounts due from RUGARAMA PARK 
ESTATES

 68,924  67,151 

Rwanda Agri-Business Industries 
assets*

 -    1,024,051 

Interest receivable on Redeemable 
preference Shares

 626,682  626,682 

Receivable from Agaciro Development 
Fund

 1,566  50,066 

Receivable from Private Sector 
Participation in the Generation 
and distribution of electricity from 
renewable sources (PSPE)

 6,820  2,540 

Receivable from TASCO 24,795 -

Receivable from SEIRHCP (Social-
Economic Inclusion of Refugees and 
Host Communities in Rwanda Project)

7,956 -

Receivable Renewable Energy Fund 
(REF)

28,609 -

Receivable from the Rwanda Housing 
Finance Project Fund (RHFP)

46,922 48,832

Receivable from AFIRR Project 10,189 -

6,015,582    6,102,301
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20. Other Assets (Continued) 

Less: Expected credit losses (ECL)

At 1 January 1,982,722 2,038,968

ECL increase during the year 122,678 54,129

ECL written back during the year (1,302,805) (110,375)

802,595 1,982,722

Net other assets 5,212,987 4,119,579

The Balances are stated net of any assessed and recognized impairment provision.
*Rwanda Agri-Business Industries assets were sold during year 2021.

21. Investment properties

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

At Start of year 21,015 21,015

Additions - -

Less: decline in value - -

21,015 21,015

The balance of RWF 21 million relates to properties repossessed from CASSAVA COMPANY. The valuation of the 
investment property was based on adjusted sales comparison approach. The Directors have determined these inputs 
based on the size and condition of the investment property.

The reported values for investment properties are all level 3 in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. There were 
no level 1 or level 2 assets.
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22. Intangible assets

2021 Software
Software Works in 

Progress
Total

Cost RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

At 1 January 1,514,820 6,144 1,520,964

Additions 49,393 4,513 53,906

Transfer from WIP 521 (521) -

At 31 December 1,564,734 10,136 1,574,870

Amortization

At 1 January (888,206) - (888,206)

Charge for the year (240,912) - (240,912)

At 31 December                     (1,129,118) - (1,129,118)

Net Book Value at 31 
December

435,616 10,136 445,752

2020 Software
Software Works in 

Progress
Total

Cost RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

At 1 January 1,200,549 240,060 1,440,609

Additions 22,531 116,787 139,318

Transfer from WIP 291,740 (291,740) -

Write offs - (58,963) (58,963)

At 31 December 1,514,820 6,144 1,520,964

Amortization

At 1 January (622,797) - (622,797)

Charge for the year (265,409) - (265,410)

At 31 December (888,206) - (888,207)

Net Book Value at 31 
December

626,614 6,144 632,757

The additions during the year relate to the expenditure made for the acquisition of the new IT infrastructure and 
computers.  Work in Progress relate to a loans management system that was under implementation during the year.

Work in Progress relate to a loans management system that was under implementation during the year.
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23. Property and Equipment

2021  Land and 
buildings 

 IT 
equipment 

 Motor 
vehicles 

 Furniture & 
fittings

 Works in 
progress 

 Total 

 RWF ‘000  RWF ‘000  RWF ‘000  RWF ‘000  RWF ‘000  RWF ‘000 

Cost / valuation

As at 1 January 12,959,676 779,185 220,103 1,943,091 493,086 16,395,141

Additions - 208,228 - - - 208,228

Disposal (493,838) (1,280) (60,036) (382,272) - (937,426)

Reclassification 
to expense

- - - (32,696) - (32,696)

As at 31 
December

12,465,838 986,133 160,067 1,528,123 493,086 15,633,247

Depreciation

As at 1 January (621,363) (705,298) (220,103) (605,284) - (2,152,048)

Charge for the 
year

(248,154) (84,819) - (350,413) - (683,386)

Write off - 1,280 60,036 382,272 - 443,588

Removal of 
depreciation 
on Reclassified 
Assets

- - - 331 - 331

As at 31 
December

(869,517) (788,837) (160,067) (573,094) - (2,391,515)

Net Book Value 11,596,321 197,296 - 955,029 493,086 13,241,732

Additions during the year relate to computers purchased during the year.
Work in Progress relates to technical design for a proposed project of construction of a new building.
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23. Property and Equipment (Continued)

2020
 Land and 
buildings 

 IT 
equipment 

 Motor 
vehicles 

 Furniture & 
fittings

 Works in 
progress 

 Total 

 RWF ‘000  RWF ‘000  RWF ‘000  RWF ‘000  RWF ‘000  RWF ‘000 

Cost / valuation

As at 1 January 13,142,565 706,429 220,103 565,300 688,075 15,322,472

Additions - 72,756 - 1,377,791 (194,989) 1,255,558

Disposal (182,889) - - - - (182,889)

Reclassifications - - - - - -

As at 31 
December

12,959,676 779,185 220,103 1,943,091 493,086 16,395,141

Depreciation

As at 1 January (372,545) (638,341) (220,103) (469,286) - (1,700,275)

Charge for the year (248,818) (66,957) - (135,998) - (451,773)

As at 31 
December

(621,363) (705,298) (220,103) (605,284) - (2,152,048)

Net Book Value as 
at 31 December 12,338,313 73,887 - 1,337,807 493,086 14,243,093

Work in Progress relates to technical design for construction of a new building and partitioning for news offices.

The management’s policy is to revalue land and building every 3 years. The land and building were lastly revalued 
in 2018 based on the estimated market value. The revaluation exercise was carried out by certified valuers and was 
based on the open market value.

If all the Land building were stated on historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:

Year 2021  Year 2020 

 RWF ‘000  RWF ‘000 

Cost 8,550,951 8,550,951

Accumulated depreciation (3,710,593) (3,403,257)

              4,840,358     5,147,694 
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24. (i) Other payables

 2021 2020

 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Advances from customers 1,251,939  1,411,852 

Deferred service commissions   739,183  670,995 

Deferred Export Growth Fund interest income 1,338,522  921,550 

Statutory deductions payable 134,012  128,608 

Other taxes payable 32,914  36,392 

Amounts due to local creditors 49,037  49,037 

Accrued expenses 907,992  164,311 

Other payables 822,782 448,223

Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau (KFW)   9,949,179  6,259,881 

Amounts due to Business Development Fund Ltd -  272,975 

Rwanda Housing Finance Project-Subsidy 5,867,929 -

REF-Window 5 Subsidy 769,986 -

Trade Finance- NIRDA 2,688 -

Trade Finance- RAB 5,034 -

21,871,197 10,363,824

(ii) Dividends payable  11,017            11,017
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25. Borrowings

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000
Afrexim Bank  5,171,916  8,560,827 
Shelter Afrique  6,340,720  7,701,621 
East African Development Bank  9,154,020  11,112,774 
European Investment Bank  16,655,461  19,027,315 

African Development Bank (AFDB)  17,149,820  19,451,724 

Arab Bank for Economic Development 
in Africa 

 12,856,493  9,058,329 

Banque de Developpement des Etats 
des grand Lacs 

 14,816,713  14,924,252 

Gashora Girls Initiatives  185,512  330,281 
Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau (KFW) 
– Borrowing

 12,027,772  5,875,979 

Trade and Development Bank (TDB)  799,592  2,300,309 
Rwanda Social Security Board (RSSB)  50,242,275  54,871,460 
MINECOFIN (Rwanda Housing Finance 
Project)

 17,994,466  7,179,654 

I&M Bank Plc  -    1,963,265 
BNR Term loan -Economic Recovery 
Fund (ERF)

 17,232,198  11,317,278 

BNR Short term loan  2,287,852  2,295,808 
Bank of Kigali Plc  -    4,868,864 
Change in fair value due to borrowing 
modification*

 (2,881,111)  (3,239,286)

Fair Value Adjustment on BNR Term loan 
(ERF)

 (3,563,907)  (3,512,281)

176,469,792 174,088,173

Broken down as follows:

Current 30,994,298 35,970,420

Non – Current 145,475,494 138,117,753

176,469,792 174,088,173

The Bank has made all repayments that fell due during the year ended and the Bank has not given any security for the borrowings.
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25. Borrowings (Continued)

During the year, as part of Rwanda’s economic recovery program, the Bank received a loan at concessional rate, the latter was also fair 
valued using a market rate and the difference between the fair valued amount and the cost recorded as a grant in accordance with IAS 20. 

The details are highlighted in the table below:
2021

Borrowing
Book value at 
modification 

date

Fair value at 
modification 

date
Gain/(loss) Grant

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

East African Development Bank (EADB) 10,998,231 10,658,730 339,501 -

Shelter Afrique 7,651,748 7,432,094 219,654 -

European Investment Bank (EIB) 18,853,624 17,834,029 1,019,595 -

Rwanda Social Security Board (RSSB) 52,075,098 50,218,700 1,856,398 -

Trade and Development Bank (TDB) 2,270,385 2,277,938 (7,553) -

BNR Economic Recovery Fund 17,402,245 13,286,073 - 4,116,172

2020

Borrowing
Book value at 
modification 

date

Fair value at 
modification 

date
Gain/(loss) Grant

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

East African Development Bank (EADB) 10,998,231 10,658,730 339,501 -

Shelter Afrique 7,651,748 7,432,094 219,654 -

European Investment Bank (EIB) 18,853,624 17,834,029 1,019,595 -

Rwanda Social Security Board (RSSB) 52,075,098 50,218,700 1,856,398 -

Trade and Development Bank (TDB) 2,270,385 2,277,938 (7,553) -

BNR Economic Recovery Fund 11,317,278 7,746,787 - 3,570,491
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25. Borrowings (Continued)

Unwinding gain on modification of financial liabilities

2021
RWF’ 000

2020
RWF’ 000

Gain on modification of financials liabitiirs - 3,467,713

Unwound gain on modification of financial liabilities (852,231) (246,519)

Amortization of the Government Grant 258,934 -

Lender Purpose Terms Maturity Date Currency

Afrexim Bank

Financing acceptable sub-

borrowers engaged in trade and 

related activities in Rwanda

USD 10m - Aggregate of the six-month LIBOR, 

plus a margin of 5.05%

USD 10m - Aggregate of the six-month LIBOR, 

plus a margin of 5.05%

31 November 2021

31 October 2024
USD

Shelter Afrique

Line of credit to finance 

construction of housing units in 

Rwanda

USD 7.6m - Aggregate of the six-month LIBOR 

plus a margin of 6.2%; 

USD 10m - Aggregate of the six-month LIBOR 

plus a margin of 5.5%. 

31 December 2022 

30     June 2025

USD 

 

USD

East African 

Development 

Bank

Line of credit facility to finance 

eligible projects

USD 5m for 8 years , at an interest rate of 

Aggregate of the six-month LIBOR, plus a 

margin of 5.2%; 

USD 10M for 8 years at an interest rate of 

7.255%; 

USD 15M for 8 years at an interest rate of 

6.755%

01 June 2021 

01 December 2023 

25 March 2024

USD 

 

USD 

USD

European 

Investment Bank

Line of credit facility to finance 

up to 50% of eligible projects

USD 9.3m at - Aggregate of the six-month 

LIBOR, plus a margin of 1.36%

USD 16.5m at - Aggregate of the six-month 

LIBOR, plus a margin of 1.903%

28 February 2023

31st August 2029

USD

African 

Development 

Bank (AFDB)

Line of credit facility to finance 

eligible projects primarily, SMEs

USD 8m - Aggregate of the six-month LIBOR, 

plus a margin of 4.67%

USD 20m - Aggregate of the six-month LIBOR, 

plus a margin of 4.67%

01February 2023

01 August 2027
USD

BADEA To finance SMEs and MFIs

USD 15m - Aggregate of the six-month LIBOR, 

plus a margin of 5.0%; 

USD 3.5m - 2%

USD 5m 5%

1 May 2026 

10 July 2029

29 Dec 2021

USD 

USD

USD

BDEGL To finance SMEs and MFIs

USD 5m at 7.0%

USD 5m at 7.0%

USD 8.6m at 5.0%

31 December 2022 

01 November 2027

01 November 2023

USD 

USD

Rwanda Social 

Security Board 

(RSSB)

Term deposits to finance eligible 

projects

RWF 50,840m - at an effective interest rate of 

10.47%
1 July 2032 RWF

Gashora Girls 

Initiative

Financing of higher education 

for Rwandan girls
RWF 177,052 at 8% 11 October 2027 RWF
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25. Borrowings (Continued)

Kreditanstalt Fur 

Wiederaufbau 

(KFW)

Promoting growth and export 

oriented small and medium 

enterprises (SMEs) in Rwanda

RWF 10,872,400,000 at 1.8%
2027-2028 RWF

Eastern and 

Southern African 

Trade and 

Development 

Bank (TDB)

Line of credit facility to finance 

eligible projects

USD 5m – Aggregate of the three-month 

LIBOR, plus a margin of 6.5%
30 June 2023 USD

BNR Short- & 

Long-term loans

To assist reviving the economic 

sectors mostly affected by 

COVID 19 

RWF 2,225,300,000 at 4.50% & 17,402,244,750  

at 0%
May 2021 & Aug 2035 RWF

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

2021 Borrowings Special funds Grants Total

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

As at 1 January 174,088,173 9,455,277 4,747,753 188,291,203

Additions 27,745,171 2,024,465 3,107,941 32,877,577

Repayments (30,611,533) (263,348) - (30,874,881)

Foreign Exchange movement 1,662,232 19,864 1,287 1,683,383

Accrued interest 3,892,298 - - 3,892,298

Movement in Fair value Modification on 
Borrowing (358,175)

- -
(358,175)

Movement in Grant on Economic 
Recovery Fund

51,626 - 246,628 298,254

As at 31 December 176,469,792 11,236,258 8,103,609 195,809,659
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25. Borrowings (Continued)

2020 Borrowings Special funds Grants Total

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

As at 1 January 175,567,542 8,556,307 2,563,221 186,687,070 

Additions  26,157,983 912,528 665,259  27,735,770 

Repayments (25,964,645) (38,559) (2,011,100) (28,014,304) 

Foreign Exchange movement  1,001,230 25,001 -  1,026,231 

Accrued interest  4,077,630 - -  4,077,630 

Fair value Modification on Borrowing (3,239,286) - - (3,239,286)

Grant on Economic Recovery Fund (3,512,281) - 3,530,373 18,092

As at 31 December 174,088,173 9,455,277 4,747,753 188,291,203

26. Special funds

 2021  2020

 RWF’ 000  RWF’ 000

Microfinance Funds - Belgium Cooperation  1,371,483   1,371,483 

Other Special Funds 56,336  123,776

KFW line of credit Investment fund  630,828   630,828 

Rural Investment Facility  467,780   467,780 

FIFAPI ROPARWA fund  892,581   892,581 

MINAGRI-Belgium cooperation fund  262,084   262,084 

MINAGRI/KWAMP Fund  478   461 

SME technical assistance fund  411,298   441,691 

Minicom – Export Fund   2,681,241   2,846,756 

FONERWA  788,200   788,200 

KFW/Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau  306,539   306,539 
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26. Special funds (Continuued)

NAEB Export Guarantee Fund*  504,809   486,238 

Government of Rwanda public fund  38,136   36,860 

NIRDA/ Clays and Stone 275,396 -

NIRDA/P.P &Animal Feeds 1,492,429 -

Enabel /Manufacturer Urbnization 128,320 -

Enabel/ Live Stock Farmers 128,320 -

NIRDA- Open Calls Program 800,000 800,000

11,236,258 9,455,277

* NAEB Export Guarantee Fund is a guarantee fund put in place to facilitate the Rwandan horticulture exporters to 
have access to finance by increasing outputs in this sector.

Fund Details

Government of Rwanda Public fund
Granted by the government through the Ministry of Finance and Econom-
ic Planning to facilitate financing of export, microfinance and mortgage 
related projects

Microfinance Funds - Belgium Cooper-
ation

Granted by Belgium Cooperation for technical assistance and capacity 
building of microfinance institutions

KFW line of credit Investment fund Fund from KFW used to promote training, technical assistance, financing. 
Forms part of the guarantee to SMEs

Rural Investment Facility Granted by the government through the Poverty Reduction Strategy Grant 
to finance ago-industries and other related projects

Education promotion fund Granted by the government through the Ministry of Education on the 
implementation of the Education Promotion Fund

FIFAPI ROPARWA fund Granted by ROPARWA (Le Reseau des Organisations Paysannes du Rwan-
da) for strengthening the capacity of  farmers’ organizations
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26. Special funds (Continuued)

MINAGRI-PDCRE fund

Fund through the government of Rwanda from the International Fund for 
Agricultural Development to maximize and diversify the revenues of the 
poorer growers of cash crops, thus promoting commercial transformation 
activities and financially viable market

MINAGRI Fertilizer fund Fund from the government via the Ministry of Agriculture and Animal 
Resources Finance purchase of fertilizer by farmers in Rwanda

MINAGRI-Belgium cooperation fund Fund from Belgium cooperation via the Ministry of Agriculture and Animal 
Resources for financing microfinance sector

MINAGRI/KWAMP Fund

Kirehe Community Based Watershed Management Project (KWAMP) is a 
fund from the Ministry of Agriculture and Animal Resources for building 
watersheds in Kirehe District, using funds from the International Fund for 
Agricultural Development (IFAD)

FONERWA Fund Financing to finance private sector projects in Clean Technology 
environmental sustainability, & Climate Resilient and green investments

KFW/Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau 
Fund for promoting growth and export oriented small and Medium 
Enterprises in Rwanda

BDEGL II CAPACITY BUILDING GRANT
Fund granted along with a line of credit to cater for the Bank’s capacity 
building program.

World Bank Technical Assistance Fund 
Fund to assist BRD in Scaling up Renewable Energy Program under the 
Strategic Climate Fund

Other Special Funds 
Other special Funds relate to Fund FAD I, FED I, BEI II, BPC II of RWF 56m 
(2017: RWF 56m)

Export Growth Fund from MINECOM
This relates to the Export Growth Funds from MINECOFIN of RWF 
2,681,241m

NAEB 
Funds to facilitate the Rwandan horticulture exporters to have access to 
finance by increasing outputs for only horticulture exports.
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26. Special funds (Continuued)

NIRDA /P.P&Animal Feeds/Clay and 
Stone

This relates to Funds that will be disbursed to eligible clients to support 
eligible private sector operators in selected priority value chains 
(poultry, piggery, and animal feeds for agriculture and stone and clays for 
urbanization) 

Enabel - NIRDA Industrial Technology 
Repayment Facility

This a fund managed by BRD to support industrial private sector 
acquisition of modern and clean technology. 

National Industrial Research and 
Development Agency (NIRDA)

A grant managed by the Bank for the open calls program, aimed at 
supporting industries/enterprises to address their technological and 
technical barriers to their growth and competitiveness

27. Grants

2021 2020

RWF’000 RWF’000

Belgium co-operation Microfinance 
                                     

209,875 
          209,875 

UNDP Grant for MFIS
                                     

107,545 
          107,545 

FAPA Grant
                                       

10,131 
              9,758 

PASP Grant
                                       

38,880 
            38,880 

PRICE Grant
                                       

24,240 
            24,240 

RAB Grant
                                         

9,011 
              9,011 

BDEGL II Capacity Building Grant
                                       

24,850 
            23,935 

World Bank Technical Assistance Fund 
                                     

695,417 
          248,855 
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27. Grant (Continued)

SEIRHCO
                                     

956,010 
499,340

BNR Economic Recovery Funds (fair value modification) 3,817,119 3,530,373

Minicom Export Growth Grant 222,116 -

Rwanda Housing Finance Technical Assistance            220,591           45,941

6,335,785 4,747,753

Grant Details

The Belgium Co-operation 
Microfinance

The Belgium cooperation grant is used for technical assistance and capacity 
building to microfinance institutions or for the Bank’s operating expenses 
related to microfinance support

UNDP Grant
The UNDP Grant is a refinancing facility for capacity building of MFIs under the 
Building Inclusive Financial Sector in Rwanda

FAPA Grant

The purpose of this grant is to finance certain expenditures required for 
provision of technical assistance for capacity building that will contribute to 
strengthening BRD’s capacity and enabling it to contribute more efficiently and 
effectively to the economic development of Rwanda

PASP Grant

The PASP grant, Post-harvest and Agribusiness support project, primary 
objective is to increase smallholder and rural labourer incomes (including 
women, youth and vulnerable groups) from CIP crops and dairy businesses 
by supporting aggregation of production for markets, transformation, and 
value-addition to enable smallholders to capture a higher share of the value. 
The project’s primary focus is the facilitation of inclusive business activities 
that can thrive on increased agricultural production from CIP crops and dairy 
development

Price Grant
The purpose of this grant is to raise smallholder farmer’s incomes through 
greater sustainable by increasing the volume and quality of crop production, 
improve marketing and more effective famer organisations

RAB Grant 
In partnership with the PASP project, this grant was provided for the climate 
resilient processing plant project
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27. Grant (Continued)

Rwanda Housing technical 
assistance

The purpose of the grant is to provide technical assistance to Rwanda housing 
projects.

Socio-Economic Inclusion 
of Refugees and Host 
Communities in Rwanda 
Project (SEIRHCO)

This is a grant managed by the Bank in partnership with the Government through 
MINEMA and World Bank   to support the Refugees and Host communities 
through project financing & matching grants.

MINICOM - Grant

Grant received from MINICOM to improve access to firm level support in terms 
of capacity building, access to finance through EGF, logistic support, technology 
adoption, export capacity) with ultimate objective of increasing Rwanda goods & 
services on key markets both locally and internationally.

28. Share Capital and Share Premium 

a) Share Capital

2021 Number of shares Par value Total

 RWF RWF’ 000

As at 1 January 55,607,470 1,000 55,607,470

Share buy back - 1,000 -

Issues of shares during the year 9,784,548 1,000 9,784,548

Prorate issue bought back share - 1,000 -

As at 31 December 65,392,018 65,392,018
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28. Share Capital and Share Premium (Continued) 

b) Share Premium

2020

As at 1 January 42,661,685 1,000 42,661,685

Share buy back    (297,293) 1,000    (297,293)

Issues of shares during the year 12,945,785 1,000 12,945,785

Prorate issue bought back share     297,293 1,000     297,293 

As at 31 December 55,607,470 55,607,470

Authorised share capital

The main shareholder, Government of Rwanda (GoR) through Agaciro Development Fund, injected additional share capital 
during the year ended 31 December 2021 amounting to RWF 9,784,548,211 (2020: RWF 12,945,784,702) in form of cash. 

All shareholders have the same voting rights during annual and general meetings which is equal to the number of paid 
up shares held by the member.

(a) Share Premium

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Share Premium 11,665,569 11,665,569

The share premium arose on the purchase of shares by one of the minority shareholders and, Government of Rwanda 
debt to CSR from the export promotion fund, Rwanda Social Security Board Debt outstanding by BRD and on the share 
swap with Magerwa.
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29. Other reserves

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Revaluation reserves 10,908,975 10,911,747

Legal reserves 1,088,127 1,088,127

Ordinary reserves 232,561 232,561

Fair value reserve*  8,311,603 4,798,835

Supplementary capital reserve  11,510,322 11,510,322

32,051,588 28,541,592

Movements in other reserves are shown on the statement of changes in equity.

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation surplus represents the surplus on the revaluation of buildings and freehold land and is non-distributable.

Legal Reserve

In accordance with Article 9 of law Nº 15/91 of April 1991 related to modification of law of August 5, 1967 creating BRD, 
legal reserves are mandatory and computed by deducting 5 percent of net profit after off-setting of previous losses 
until reserves amount to 10 percent of share capital. The reserve is not distributable.  No new reserves have been 
transferred during the year 2020 and year 2021 as the legal reserves are above the 10 percent of the share capital as 
at 31 December 2020 and as at 31 December 2021.

Ordinary Reserve

Ordinary reserves are voluntary reserves made by the Bank’s shareholders. The percentage of transfer to be made is 
determined by the board of Directors. Supplementary capital reserve relates to a Government of Rwanda subordinated 
debt that was converted into equity following a Government of Rwanda decision in 2010. The reserve is not distributable.

Fair Value Reserve

*Fair value reserves represent fair value gains on Equity investments at fair value through OCI and are not distributable. 
Fair value was based on Valuation of Bank of Kigali, MTN Rwanda-cell Shares in December 2021 and others, the fair 
value was mainly based on business valuation made based on their 2021 financial status.
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29. Other reserves (Continued)

Fair value gain/(loss) on equity investments at FVOCI
2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Bank of Kigali (BoK) 68,398 (128,749)

Crystal Telecom (CTL) (2,026,275) 135,085

MTN Rwandacell 4,863,060 -

Minimex  -   (211,240)

Prime Economic Zone 839,745 209,607

Rwanda Farmers Coffee Company (RFCC)  -   252,414

Rugarama Park Estate  -   15,087

Rwanda Stock Exchange (RSE)     346,732 2,845

Magerwa Limited 364,793 47,245

Rwanda Investment Group Limited 214,017 8,860

Hostel 2020 Limited (Edge Hostels) 630 218,702

Sopyrwa (461,759) 47,110

New Forest Company Limited (743,707) -

Kigali City Park Limited 66,289 -

Ziniya Project (19,155) -

 3,512,768  596,966

30. Financial Risk Management

Introduction and overview

The Bank has exposure to the following risks as a result of its operations and from its use of financial instruments:

• Credit risk;
• Liquidity risk; and 
• Market risk

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Bank’s objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk and the Bank’s management of capital.

Risk management framework

The Bank’s board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank’s risk 
management framework. The board has established the Risk Committee, Credit Risk Committee and the Risk 
Management Division which are responsible for developing and monitoring the risk management policies in their 
specified areas. The Board Risk Committee has both executive and non- executive members and reports regularly to 
the Board of Directors on their activities.

The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Bank, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management policies and 
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered.  The Bank 
through its procedures aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees 
understand their roles and obligations.

The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a product varies with 
changes in market variables, expected cash flows and the passage of time. 
The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, 
of the associated loss ratios and of default correlations between counterparties.

The Bank’s Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Bank’s risk management policies and 
procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the 
Bank.  The Board Audit Committee is assisted in these functions by Internal Audit.  Internal Audit undertakes both 
regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the 
Audit Committee.
 
The Bank also seeks to raise its interest margins by obtaining above-average margins, net of allowances, through 
lending to commercial and retail borrowers with a good credit standing. The Bank also entered into financial guarantee 
contracts which are commitments in the form of letters of credit that it discloses as off-balance sheet items.

A) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Bank’s customers, clients or market counterparties 
fail to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Bank. Credit risk arises mainly from commercial and loans and advances 
and loan commitments arising from such lending activities, but can also arise from credit enhancement provided, 
such as financial guarantees, letters of credit and acceptances.The Bank is also exposed to other credit risks arising 
from investments in debt securities and other exposures arising from its trading activities (‘trading exposures’), 
including settlement balances with market counterparties. Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Bank’s business; 
management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. The credit risk management and control are 
centralized in a credit risk management team, which reports to the Board of Directors through the Chief Executive 
Officer and head of each business unit regularly.

Impairment assessment (Policy applicable from 1 January 2019)

Credit risk measurement

Loans and advances (Including commitments and guarantees)

The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a product varies with 
changes in market variables, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of 
assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default 
correlations between counterparties.

The Bank measures credit risk using Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD). 
This is similar to the approach used for the purposes of measuring Expected Credit Loss (ECL) under IFRS 9. Refer to 
note 31 (B) (ii) for more details.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

A) Credit Risk (Continued)

Credit risk grading

The Bank uses the National Bank of Rwanda (BNR) credit risk gradings to reflect its assessment of the probability of 
default of individual counterparties. The facilities are rated as either performing, watch, substandard, doubtful or loss, 
based on the number of days overdue. The classification criteria are as follows:

Performing
These are credit facilities which are up to date in payments. Where there are no fixed payments, these are facilities 
that are operating within their approval limits and are unexpired.

Watch
These are credit facilities where principal or interest is due and unpaid for 30 days to 89 days, or for facilities with no 
fixed payments, the approval limit has been exceeded by 30 days to 89 days, or the credit line has expired for more 
than 30 days to 89 days.

Substandard
Bank’s exposure.
These are loan balances due for 90 days but less than 180 days. They are also those credit facilities that display well-
defined credit weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt such as inadequate cash flow to service the debt, 
undercapitalized or insufficient working capital, absence of adequate financial information or security documentation 
and irregular payment of principal or interest.

Doubtful
These are loan balances that are more than 180 days but less than 365 days overdue. They are also those credit facilities 
which, in addition to the weaknesses existing in substandard credits, have deteriorated to the extent that full repayment 
is unlikely or that realizable security values will be insufficient to cover a credit facility.

Loss
These are loans that are more than 365 days overdue. These are also those credit facilities that are considered 
uncollectable, or which may have some recovery value, but it is not considered practicable nor desirable to defer 
write-off.  They are also accounts classified as “Doubtful” with little or no improvement over the period it has been 
classified as such.

The credit grades are calibrated such that the risk of default increases exponentially at each higher risk grade. Once a 
facility is classified as substandard, the probability of default reaches 100 percent.

Expected credit loss measurement

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition as 
summarized below:
• A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’ and has its credit 

risk continuously monitored by the Bank;
If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved 
to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit impaired. Please refer to note 31 (B) (ii) (a) for a description of how the 
Bank determines when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred; 
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

A) Credit Risk (Continued)

• If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3’. Please refer to 
note 31 (B) (ii) (b) for a description of how the Bank defines credit-impaired and default;

• Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected 
credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have 
their ECL measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis. Please refer to note 31 (B) (ii) (c) for a 
description of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring the ECL;

• A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward-looking 
information. Note 31 (B) (ii) (d) includes an explanation of how the Bank has incorporated this in its ECL models;

• Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets that are credit-impaired on 
initial recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3);

The following diagram summarizes the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than purchased or originated 
credit-impaired financial assets):

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

(Initial recognition)
(Significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition)

Credit-impaired assets

  

12-month expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses
Lifetime expected credit 
losses

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the Bank in addressing the requirements of the standard are 
discussed below:

a) Significant Increase in Credit risk (SICR)

The Bank continuously monitors all assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine whether an instrument or a portfolio 
of instruments is subject to 12mECL or LTECL, the Bank assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition. The Bank considers a financial instrument to have experienced a significant increase in 
credit risk when one or more of the following quantitative or qualitative criteria have been met:

For the Bank loan assets, if the borrower meets one or more of the following criteria:

• In short-term forbearance
• Significant adverse changes in business, financial and/or economic conditions in which the borrower operates;
• Actual or expected significant adverse change in operating results of the borrower;
• Significant change in collateral value (secured facilities only) which is expected to increase risk of default;
• Early signs of cashflow/liquidity problems such as delay in servicing of trade creditors/loans.

The assessment of SICR incorporates forward-looking information (refer to note 31 (B) (ii) (d) for further information) 
and is performed on a quarterly basis at each contract level for all loan instruments held by the Bank. The criteria used 
to identify SICR are monitored and reviewed periodically for appropriateness by management.

DEVELOPMENT BANK OF RWANDA PLC
NOTES  TO  THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

122 SUPPORTING RWANDA’S ECONOMY AMID THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC BRD ANNUAL REPORT 2021



30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

A) Credit Risk (Continued)

Backstop

A backstop is applied, and the financial instrument considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk 
if the borrower is more than 30 days past due on its contractual payments.

b) Definition of Default and credit impaired assets

The Bank defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit-impaired, when 
it meets one or more of the following criteria:

Qualitative criteria:

The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in significant financial difficulty. These 
are instances where:

• The borrower is in long-term forbearance;
• The borrower is deceased;
• The borrower is insolvent;
• The borrower is in breach of financial covenant(s);
• Concessions have been made by the lender relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty;
• It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter Bankruptcy.

The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Bank and are consistent with the definition 
of default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The default definition has been applied consistently to 
model the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss given Default (LGD) throughout the Bank’s 
expected loss calculations.

c) Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques

The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or Lifetime basis depending on whether a 
significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is considered to be credit-
impaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted product of the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default 
(EAD), and Loss Given Default (LGD), defined as follows:

•    The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per “Definition of default 
and credit-impaired” above), either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of 
the obligation;

•    EAD is based on the amounts the Bank expects to be owed at the time of default, over the next 12 months (12M EAD) 
or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD);

•    Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Bank’s expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD 
varies by type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of collateral or other credit support. LGD 
is expressed 
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

A) Credit Risk(Continued)

as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of default (EAD). LGD is calculated on a 12-month or lifetime basis, 
where 12-month LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs in the next 12 months and 
Lifetime LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs over the remaining expected lifetime 
of the loan.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each future month and for each individual exposure or 
collective segment. These three components are multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the 
exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively calculates an ECL for each future month, 
which is then discounted back to the reporting date and summed. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the 
original effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.

The Lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the current 12M PD. The maturity profile looks at how 
defaults develop on a portfolio from the point of initial recognition throughout the lifetime of the loans. The maturity 
profile is based on historical observed data and is assumed to be the same across all assets within a portfolio and 
credit grade band. This is supported by historical analysis.

The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile:
For amortizing products and bullet repayment loans, this is based on the contractual repayments owed by the borrower 
over a 12month or lifetime basis. This will also be adjusted for any expected overpayments made by a borrower. Early 
repayment/refinance assumptions are also incorporated into the calculation.

The 12-month and lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors which impact the recoveries made post default. 
These vary by product type:

· For secured products, this is primarily based on collateral type and projected collateral values, historical 
discounts to market/book values due to forced sales, time to repossession and recovery costs observed;

· The Loss Given Write off (LGW) has been assumed to be 100% for the unsecured portfolio.

To consider macroeconomic factors, a downside LGD was estimated. This is the LGD that would occur in case there was 
an economic downturn. This is because during a downturn, recovery cash flows will most likely be less than would be 
the case under normal circumstances.

For this model, the formula used to estimate the downside LGD is the US Federal Reserve Formula. That is:   Downside 
LGD= (0.92 x LGD) + 0.08

The Bank will continue to capture data on the recovery cash flows experienced during economic downturns and 
compare this to the recovery cash flows received during normal economic periods. This will enable a more accurate 
estimate of the downside LGD.

d) Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models

The preferred approach to determine macroeconomic assumptions is to develop regression models that develop 
correlations between various macroeconomic indicators and the PDs, LGDs and EADs. In case a Bank cannot come up 
with a credible economic model, then IFRS 9 allows the Bank to apply management judgment.

DEVELOPMENT BANK OF RWANDA PLC
NOTES  TO  THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

124 SUPPORTING RWANDA’S ECONOMY AMID THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC BRD ANNUAL REPORT 2021



30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

A) Credit Risk (Continued)

The Bank estimates the effect macroeconomic factors would have on the Bank’s loan portfolio as follows:
· PD – A macroeconomic overlay was applied to the PD determined for each Point in Time thus adjusting it to 

reflect forward looking information. The size of the overlay was influenced by the economic scenario. For the 
applied ECL model, 3 different economic scenarios were applied. These economic scenarios are:

i. Base scenario – This incorporates aggressive assumptions that are expected to result in the most ideal 
probability of default outcome;

ii. Optimistic scenario - This is incorporating prudent assumptions that are expected to result in a lower 
probability of default outcome;

iii. Pessimistic scenario - This is incorporating basic assumptions that are expected to result in a higher probability 
of default outcome.

· LGD – A downside LGD estimate was estimated by applying the Fed formula as shown in section 30 (B) (ii) (c) 
Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques;

· EAD – the EAD used in the model does not take into account any forward-looking information in respect of 
prepayment and refinancing rates but rather assumes a contractual rundown of the facilities. This is due to the 
characteristics of the Bank’s loan assets that provide less and limited data to reasonably estimate those rates;

· ECL – Three economic scenarios were run and a probability weighted ECL was then determined by applying 
weights to each of these scenarios. The weights reflected management’s view of the likelihood of each of the 
3 economic scenarios occurring.

Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated within the above scenarios, such as the impact 
of any regulatory, legislative or political changes, Non performing loans trend, Lending rates, Treasury Bills rates, 
REPO rates, Consumer Price Index ( CPI), Producer Price Index( PPI), Index of Industrial Production (IIP), Currency 
depreciation, GDP, precious metals prices, etc… have also been considered, but are not deemed to have a material 
impact and therefore no adjustment has been made to the ECL for such factors. This is reviewed and monitored for 
appropriateness on a quarterly basis.

Sensitivity Analysis

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance are as follows:

(i) Collateral haircuts, and
(ii) Time to realization of collaterals

Set out below are the changes to the ECL as at 31 December 2021 that would result from reasonably possible changes 
in these parameters from the actual assumptions used in the Bank’s economic variable assumptions (for example, the 
impact on ECL of increasing the estimated recovery period by 1 year mainly on commercial and residential properties 
in each of the base, optimistic and pessimistic scenarios):

Time to realization: The Bank’s policy approved by the Directors is a time to realization of two years for commercial 
and residential properties, however, as a result of the current COVID -19 pandemic, the time to realization has been 
extended in the model by a further 1 year.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

A) Credit Risk (Continued)

The Macro economic forecasts used in the computation of the probability of default includes the following:
- Gross domestic Product trend 
- Consumer Price Index pattern  
- Interest rates movements 

ii. Credit Risk Exposure

(a) Maximum exposure to credit risk — Financial assets subject to ECL

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, 
leading to a financial loss. The Bank is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily loans and advances) 
and from its financing activities, including deposits with Banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions 
and other financial instruments.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to measure expected credit losses. 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets as 
disclosed below.

The following table contain an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial instruments for which an ECL allowance 
is recognized. The gross carrying amount of financial assets below represents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk on these assets.

2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Normal 125,237,890 - - 125,237,890

Watch - 63,532,671 - 63,532,671

Default - - 10,963,088 10,963,088

Gross 125,237,890 63,532,671 10,963,088 199,733,649

Less:

ECL allowance (1,879,894) (6,992,944) (3,497,712) (12,370,550)

Interests in suspense  -   - (1,258,573) (1,258,573)

Staff Benefit fair value adjustment (2,839,353)  -  - (2,839,353)

Carrying amount 120,518,643 56,539,727 6,206,803 183,265,173
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

a) Maximum exposure to credit risk — Financial assets subject to ECL (Continued)

2020 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Normal 140,674,128 74,057 - 140,748,185

Watch 18,046 25,360,740 - 25,378,786

Default - - 15,562,230 15,562,230

Gross 140,692,174 25,434,797 15,562,230 181,689,201

Less:

ECL allowance (4,030,272) (2,335,077) (2,170,924) (8,936,273)

Interests in suspense  -   - (3,101,665) (3,101,665)

Staff Benefit fair value adjustment  (2,571,299)  -  - (2,571,299)

Carrying amount 134,090,603 23,099,720 10,289,641 167,079,964

(b) Collateral and other credit enhancements

The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The Bank seeks to use collateral, where 
possible, to mitigate its risks on financials assets. The most common of these is accepting collateral for granted loans 
and advances. The Bank has internal policies on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation.

The Bank prepares a valuation of the collateral obtained as part of the loan origination process. The fair value is general 
assessed at inceptions and is reviewed periodically. To the extent possible, the Bank uses active market data for valuing 
financial assets. However, some collateral, for example, cash or securities relating to margining requirements, is valued 
daily.  Collateral, unless repossessed, is not recorded on the Bank’s statement of financial position. However, the fair 
value of collateral affects the calculation of ECLs.

The principal collateral types for loans and advances are:

· Mortgages over residential and commercial properties.
· Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable.
· Commitments and letters of undertaking from the Government of Rwanda and other corporations; and
· Local and foreign credit guarantees

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured. 
The Bank’s accounting policy for collateral assigned to it through its lending arrangements under IFRS 9.

The Bank closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it becomes more 
likely that the Bank will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

b) Collateral and other credit enhancements (Continued)

The loans and advance and related collateral held to mitigate potential losses as at 31 December 2021 are shown below:

2021

Gross 
amount

ECL 
Allowance

Interests in 
suspense

Staff Fair-
value

Carrying 
Amount

Discounted 
Fair Value of 

collaterals

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Stage 1 125,237,890 (1,879,894)  - (2,839,353) 120,518,643 122,361,798

Stage 2 63,532,671  (6,992,944)  - - 56,539,727 57,329,245

Stage 3 10,963,088  (3,497,711) (1,258,573) - 6,206,804 11,144,894

199,733,649 (12,370,549) (1,258,573) (2,839,353) 183,265,173 190,835,938

The discount applied on the collaterals depends on the type of the collateral:
- The range between 0 to 30percent applies to residential property
- The range between 0 to 50percent applies to Commercial properties and listed entities
- The range between 0 to 70percent applies to business assets and others.

2020

Gross amount ECL Allowance
Interests in 

suspense
Carrying 
Amount

Discounted Fair 
Value of collaterals

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Stage 1 140,692,174  (4,430,273)  - 136,261,901 148,550,933

Stage 2 25,382,222  (2,335,077)  - 23,047,145 26,172,302

Stage 3 15,614,805  (2,170,923) (3,101,665) 10,342,217 12,767,732

181,689,201 (8,936,273) (3,101,665) 169,651,263 187,490,967
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

b) Collateral and other credit enhancements (Continued)

Below is a reconciliation of the ECL allowance:

2020
Stage I Stage II Stage III Total

ECL allowance reconciliation 
12 - Month 

ECL
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

RWF’000 RWF’000 RWF’000 RWF’000

Balance as at 1 January 4,673,680 1,764,370 2,498,224 8,936,274

Stage transfer
Stage 1 to stage 2 - 2,422,454 -  2,422,454 
Stage 1 to stage 3 - - 79,046  79,046 
Stage 2 to stage 3 - - 123,717  123,717 
Stage 2 to stage 1 (20,160) - -  (20,160)
Stage 3 to stage 1 (107,360) - -  (107,360)
Stage 3 to stage 2 - (9,053) -  (9,053)
Allowance on new Loans and advances 213,093 - 269  213,361 
Allowance on off-balance sheet exposures (39,042) - -  (39,042)
Charge during the Period (2,840,316) 2,815,174 (3,903,355)  (3,928,497)

Write off during the Period - - 4,699,810 4,699,810
Total charge to P&L (2,793,786) 5,228,575 999,487 3,434,276
Balance as at 31 December 1,879,894 6,992,945 3,497,711 12,370,549

2020 Stage I Stage II Stage III Total

ECL allowance reconciliation 
12 - Month 

ECL
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

RWF’000 RWF’000 RWF’000 RWF’000

Balance as at 1 January 2,107,515 838,716 1,140,284 4,086,515

Stage transfer
Stage 1 to stage 2 - 1,051,399 -  1,051,399 
Stage 1 to stage 3 - -  922,864  922,864 
Stage 2 to stage 3 - -  (186,906)  (186,906)
Stage 2 to stage 1  (67) - -  (67)
Stage 3 to stage 1  8 - -  8 
Stage 3 to stage 2 - - -  -   
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

b) Collateral and other credit enhancements (Continued)

Allowance on new Loans and advances  323,956 325,948 -  649,904 
Allowance on off-balance sheet exposures  220,204 - -  220,204 
Charge during the Period  2,022,064 (451,693)  622,448 2,192,819 
Write off during the Period - -  (466)  (466)
Total charge to P&L 2,566,165 925,654  1,357,940  4,449,759 
Balance as at 31 December 4,673,680 1,764,370  2,498,224  8,936,274 

ii. Loss Allowance

The loss allowance recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, as described below:
· Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due to financial instruments experiencing significant increases 

(or decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the period, and the consequent “step up” (or “step 
down”) between 12-month and Lifetime ECL;

· Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as releases for financial 
instruments de-recognised in the period;

· Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period, arising from regular 
refreshing of inputs to models;

· Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions;
· Financial assets derecognised during the period and write-offs of allowances related to assets that were written 

off during the period.
Based on Management knowledge of the clients and performance, through a Portfolio Management Committee, it might 
subjectively downgrade a client instead of waiting for the days in arrears. This helps the Bank to look in to a proactive 
way, clients that might affect the Expected credit losses in  the future and take action.

iv. Write – off Policy
The Bank writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and 
has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery include:

· ceasing enforcement activity; and
· Where the Bank’s recovery method is foreclosing on collateral and the value of the collateral is such that there is 

no reasonable expectation of recovering in full.

The Bank may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity and subsequently seek to recover 
amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no reasonable expectation of full 
recovery.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

b) Collateral and other credit enhancements (Continued)

v. Restructuring of financial assets

The Bank sometimes restructures terms of loans provided to customers due to commercial renegotiations, or for 
distressed loans, with a view to maximizing recovery. Such restructuring activities include extended payment term 
arrangements and payment holidays. Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, 
in the judgement of management, indicate that payment will most likely continue. These policies are kept under 
continuous review.

The risk of default of such assets after restructuring is assessed at the reporting date and compared with the risk under 
the original terms at initial recognition, when the restructuring is not substantial and so does not result in derecognition 
of the original asset. The Bank monitors the subsequent performance of restructured assets. The Bank may determine 
that the credit risk has significantly improved after restructuring, so that the assets are moved from Stage 3 or Stage 
2 (Lifetime ECL) to Stage 1 (12-month ECL).

Concentration of credit risk

The Bank’s concentrations of risk are managed by priority sectors which are Agriculture, Export, Energy, Education, 
Housing and Infrastructure. The Bank intervenes in key sectors of the economy and its loan portfolio as at 31 December 
was distributed among different economic sectors as follows:

2021 (RWF’000) % 2020 (RWF’000) %

Agriculture              10,042,623 5%     10,030,290 11%

Export              64,403,445 32%     59,989,780 25%

Energy              29,407,797 15%     24,623,996 13%

Education                 7,083,126 4%       6,539,746 5%

Housing              10,725,553 5%       5,239,863 4%

SP & Infrastructure              78,071,105 39%     75,265,526 41%

Gross loans 199,733,649 100% 181,689,201 100%
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

B) Liquidity Risk 

The Bank is set up as a Development Bank and mainly objective is to obtain funds to lend to priority sectors in the 
economy. Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk arises because of the 
possibility that the Bank might be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due as a result of mismatches 
in the timing of the cash flows under both normal and stress circumstances. Such scenarios could occur when funding 
needed for illiquid asset positions is not available to the Bank on acceptable terms. To limit this risk, management 
has arranged for diversified funding sources mainly from Development Financial Institutions and adopted a policy of 
managing assets with liquidity in mind and monitoring future cash flows and liquidity daily. 

The Bank has developed internal control processes and contingency plans for managing liquidity risk. This incorporates 
an assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of high-grade collateral which could be used to secure 
additional funding if required.

In accordance with the Bank’s policy, the liquidity position is assessed under a variety of scenarios, giving due 
consideration to stress factors relating to both the market in general and specifically to the Bank. Net liquid assets 
consist of cash, short–term Bank deposits and liquid debt securities available for immediate sale, less deposit for Banks 
and other issued securities and borrowings due to mature within the next month.

During the Covid-19 pandemic, the Bank has not experienced cash flow challenges arising from disruptions to its 
operations, higher operating costs or decrease in demand for its products, which results in lost revenues. 
During the year 2021, the Bank received a capital injection from government of Rwanda through AGACIRO DEVELOPMENET 
FUND amounting to RWF 13Bln which is part of the strategy of the shareholder to capitalize the bank in the 7 years plan.

The bank therefore has a strong liquidity position which will assist in mitigating any market volatility.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

C) Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, which include currency exchange rates and interest 
rates other price risk, such as equity price risk, will affect the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument. 
Market risk arises from open positions in interest rates and foreign currencies, both of which are exposed to general 
and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility. The objective of market risk management is 
to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable limits, while optimizing the return on risk. Overall 
responsibility for managing market risk rests with the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). The Treasury department 
is responsible for the development of detailed risk management policies (subject to review and approval by ALCO) and 
for the day-to-day implementation of those policies.

iI. Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. The Bank manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and 
variable rate loans and borrowings. 

Interest margins may increase or decrease as a result of such changes in the event of upward or downward shift in 
interest rate structure. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. 

The Bank manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate loans and borrowings. 

The following tables on the next pages summarize the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, 
categorized by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates as at 31 December:

DEVELOPMENT BANK OF RWANDA PLC
NOTES  TO  THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

135SUPPORTING RWANDA’S ECONOMY AMID THE COVID-19 PANDEMICBRD ANNUAL REPORT 2021



C)
 M

ar
ke

t R
is

k 
 (C

on
tin

ue
d)

 

Th
e 

ta
bl

e 
be

lo
w

 su
m

m
ar

iz
es

 th
e 

in
te

re
st

 ra
te

 ri
sk

 o
f t

he
 B

an
k 

as
 a

t 3
1 

De
ce

m
be

r 2
02

1:

Ca
rr

yi
ng

 
Am

ou
nt

U
p 

to
 6

 
M

on
th

s
6 

- 1
2 

M
on

th
s

1 
- 3

 Y
ea

rs
3 

- 5
 Y

ea
rs

5 
- 7

 Y
ea

rs
O

ve
r 7

 Y
ea

rs
N

on
-in

te
re

st
 

be
ar

in
g/

ot
he

rs
*

Fi
na

nc
ia

l A
ss

et
s

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

Ca
sh

 a
nd

 B
al

an
ce

s 
w

ith
 N

at
io

na
l 

Ba
nk

 o
f R

w
an

da
89

8,
57

9
-

-
-

-
-

-
89

8,
57

9

Am
ou

nt
 d

ue
 fr

om
 o

th
er

 B
an

ks
*

74
,0

86
,8

28
74

,0
86

,8
28

-
-

-
-

-
-

Lo
an

s a
nd

 a
dv

an
ce

s
19

9,
73

3,
64

9
4,

71
7,

71
5

2,
05

2,
81

7
28

,0
59

,4
60

18
,5

66
,9

86
21

,8
18

,5
42

12
4,

19
1,

15
7

32
6,

97
3

In
ve

st
m

en
t i

n 
Eq

ui
ty

 a
nd

 A
ss

oc
ia

te
s

31
,8

92
,9

05
-

-
-

-
-

31
,8

92
,9

05
31

,8
92

,9
05

O
th

er
 A

ss
et

s
5,

84
4,

43
3

-
-

-
-

-
-

5,
84

4,
43

3

To
ta

l F
in

an
ci

al
 A

ss
et

s
 3

12
,4

56
,3

94
 7

8,
80

4,
54

3
 2

,0
52

,8
17

 
 2

8,
05

9,
46

0 
 1

8,
56

6,
98

6 
 2

1,
81

8,
54

2 
 1

56
,0

84
,0

62
 

 3
8,

96
2,

89
0 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l L
ia

bi
lit

ie
s

Bo
rr

ow
in

gs
18

8,
22

2,
55

6
16

,8
68

,7
23

9,
05

9,
62

3
32

,2
73

,0
32

27
,3

96
,6

14
34

,2
06

,3
40

51
,0

12
,7

37
17

,4
05

,4
87

Sp
ec

ia
l f

un
ds

11
,2

36
,2

58
-

-
-

-
-

11
,2

36
,2

58
11

,2
36

,2
58

O
th

er
 L

ia
bi

lit
ie

s
21

,5
44

,1
38

21
,5

44
,1

38
-

-
-

-
-

21
,5

44
,1

38

To
ta

l F
in

an
ci

al
 L

ia
bi

lit
ie

s
 2

21
,0

02
,9

52
 

 3
8,

41
2,

86
1 

 9
,0

59
,6

23
 

 3
2,

27
3,

03
2 

 2
7,

39
6,

61
4 

 3
4,

20
6,

34
0 

 6
2,

24
8,

99
5 

 5
0,

18
5,

88
3 

In
te

re
st

 s
en

si
ti

vi
ty

 G
ap

 a
t 

31
 

De
ce

m
be

r 2
02

1
91

,4
53

,4
42

40
,3

91
,6

82
(7

,0
06

,8
06

) 
(4

,2
13

,5
72

) 
(8

,8
29

,6
28

) 
(1

2,
38

7,
79

8)
 

 9
3,

83
5,

06
7 

(1
1,

22
2,

99
3)

 

*A
m

ou
nt

s d
ue

 fr
om

 B
an

ks
 in

cl
ud

es
 in

te
re

st
-r

ew
ar

di
ng

 c
ur

re
nt

 a
cc

ou
nt

s a
nd

 so
 re

m
ai

n 
cu

rr
en

t a
cc

ou
nt

s w
ith

 n
o 

pr
ed

et
er

m
in

ed
 m

at
ur

iti
es

.

DEVELOPMENT BANK OF RWANDA PLC
NOTES  TO  THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

136 SUPPORTING RWANDA’S ECONOMY AMID THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC BRD ANNUAL REPORT 2021



C)
 M

ar
ke

t R
is

k 
 (C

on
tin

ue
d)

 

Th
e 

ta
bl

e 
be

lo
w

 su
m

m
ar

iz
es

 th
e 

in
te

re
st

 ra
te

 ri
sk

 o
f t

he
 B

an
k 

as
 a

t 3
1 

De
ce

m
be

r 2
02

1:

Ca
rr

yi
ng

 
Am

ou
nt

U
p 

to
 6

 
M

on
th

s
6 

- 1
2 

M
on

th
s

1 
- 3

 Y
ea

rs
3 

- 5
 Y

ea
rs

5 
- 7

 Y
ea

rs
O

ve
r 7

 Y
ea

rs
N

on
-in

te
re

st
 

be
ar

in
g/

ot
he

rs
*

Fi
na

nc
ia

l A
ss

et
s

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

Ca
sh

 a
nd

 B
al

an
ce

s 
w

ith
 N

at
io

na
l 

Ba
nk

 o
f R

w
an

da
89

8,
57

9
-

-
-

-
-

-
89

8,
57

9

Am
ou

nt
 d

ue
 fr

om
 o

th
er

 B
an

ks
*

74
,0

86
,8

28
74

,0
86

,8
28

-
-

-
-

-
-

Lo
an

s a
nd

 a
dv

an
ce

s
19

9,
73

3,
64

9
4,

71
7,

71
5

2,
05

2,
81

7
28

,0
59

,4
60

18
,5

66
,9

86
21

,8
18

,5
42

12
4,

19
1,

15
7

32
6,

97
3

In
ve

st
m

en
t i

n 
Eq

ui
ty

 a
nd

 A
ss

oc
ia

te
s

31
,8

92
,9

05
-

-
-

-
-

31
,8

92
,9

05
31

,8
92

,9
05

O
th

er
 A

ss
et

s
5,

84
4,

43
3

-
-

-
-

-
-

5,
84

4,
43

3

To
ta

l F
in

an
ci

al
 A

ss
et

s
 3

12
,4

56
,3

94
 7

8,
80

4,
54

3
 2

,0
52

,8
17

 
 2

8,
05

9,
46

0 
 1

8,
56

6,
98

6 
 2

1,
81

8,
54

2 
 1

56
,0

84
,0

62
 

 3
8,

96
2,

89
0 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l L
ia

bi
lit

ie
s

Bo
rr

ow
in

gs
18

8,
22

2,
55

6
16

,8
68

,7
23

9,
05

9,
62

3
32

,2
73

,0
32

27
,3

96
,6

14
34

,2
06

,3
40

51
,0

12
,7

37
17

,4
05

,4
87

Sp
ec

ia
l f

un
ds

11
,2

36
,2

58
-

-
-

-
-

11
,2

36
,2

58
11

,2
36

,2
58

O
th

er
 L

ia
bi

lit
ie

s
21

,5
44

,1
38

21
,5

44
,1

38
-

-
-

-
-

21
,5

44
,1

38

To
ta

l F
in

an
ci

al
 L

ia
bi

lit
ie

s
 2

21
,0

02
,9

52
 

 3
8,

41
2,

86
1 

 9
,0

59
,6

23
 

 3
2,

27
3,

03
2 

 2
7,

39
6,

61
4 

 3
4,

20
6,

34
0 

 6
2,

24
8,

99
5 

 5
0,

18
5,

88
3 

In
te

re
st

 s
en

si
ti

vi
ty

 G
ap

 a
t 

31
 

De
ce

m
be

r 2
02

1
91

,4
53

,4
42

40
,3

91
,6

82
(7

,0
06

,8
06

) 
(4

,2
13

,5
72

) 
(8

,8
29

,6
28

) 
(1

2,
38

7,
79

8)
 

 9
3,

83
5,

06
7 

(1
1,

22
2,

99
3)

 

*A
m

ou
nt

s d
ue

 fr
om

 B
an

ks
 in

cl
ud

es
 in

te
re

st
-r

ew
ar

di
ng

 c
ur

re
nt

 a
cc

ou
nt

s a
nd

 so
 re

m
ai

n 
cu

rr
en

t a
cc

ou
nt

s w
ith

 n
o 

pr
ed

et
er

m
in

ed
 m

at
ur

iti
es

.

C)
 M

ar
ke

t R
is

k 
 (C

on
tin

ue
d)

 

Th
e 

ta
bl

e 
be

lo
w

 su
m

m
ar

iz
es

 th
e 

in
te

re
st

 ra
te

 ri
sk

 o
f t

he
 B

an
k 

as
 a

t 3
1 

De
ce

m
be

r 2
02

0:

Ca
rr

yi
ng

 
Am

ou
nt

U
p 

to
 6

 
M

on
th

s
6 

- 1
2 

M
on

th
s

1 
- 3

 Y
ea

rs
3 

- 5
 Y

ea
rs

5 
- 7

 Y
ea

rs
O

ve
r 7

 Y
ea

rs
N

on
-in

te
re

st
 

be
ar

in
g/

ot
he

rs
*

Fi
na

nc
ia

l A
ss

et
s

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

 R
W

F 
‘0

00
 

Ca
sh

 a
nd

 B
al

an
ce

s w
ith

 N
at

io
na

l 
Ba

nk
 o

f R
w

an
da

2,
04

2,
76

7
-

-
-

-
-

-
2,

04
2,

76
7

Am
ou

nt
 d

ue
 fr

om
 o

th
er

 B
an

ks
*

59
,7

71
,5

11
49

,7
71

,5
11

10
,0

00
,0

00
-

-
-

-
-

Lo
an

s a
nd

 a
dv

an
ce

s
17

0,
05

1,
26

3
51

,4
37

11
,1

42
,2

00
9,

11
6,

65
3

12
,0

02
,7

20
14

,8
37

,4
54

12
2,

74
2,

09
5

15
8,

70
5

In
ve

st
m

en
t i

n 
Eq

ui
ty

 a
nd

 
As

so
ci

at
es

27
,5

73
,3

66
-

-
-

-
-

27
,5

73
,3

66
27

,5
73

,3
66

O
th

er
 A

ss
et

s
6,

10
2,

30
1

6,
10

2,
30

1
-

-
-

-
-

6,
10

2,
30

1

To
ta

l F
in

an
ci

al
 A

ss
et

s
26

5,
54

1,
20

8
55

,9
25

,2
49

21
,1

42
,2

00
9,

11
6,

65
3

12
,0

02
,7

20
14

,8
37

,4
54

15
0,

31
5,

46
1

35
,8

77
,1

39

Fi
na

nc
ia

l L
ia

bi
lit

ie
s

Bo
rr

ow
in

gs
18

0,
83

9,
74

0
18

,5
31

,0
01

12
,3

66
,4

19
43

,8
92

,3
60

32
,3

05
,2

40
19

,1
99

,6
32

43
,2

27
,8

11
11

,3
17

,2
78

Sp
ec

ia
l f

un
ds

8,
65

5,
27

7
-

-
-

-
-

8,
65

5,
27

7
8,

65
5,

27
7

O
th

er
 L

ia
bi

lit
ie

s
9,

45
0,

09
5

9,
45

0,
09

5
-

-
-

-
-

9,
45

0,
09

5

To
ta

l F
in

an
ci

al
 L

ia
bi

lit
ie

s
19

8,
94

5,
11

2
27

,9
81

,0
96

12
,3

66
,4

19
43

,8
92

,3
60

32
,3

05
,2

40
19

,1
99

,6
32

51
,8

83
,0

88
29

,4
22

,6
50

In
te

re
st

 se
ns

it
iv

it
y 

Ga
p 

at
 3

1 
De

ce
m

be
r 2

02
0

66
,5

96
,0

96
27

,9
44

,1
53

8,
77

5,
78

1
(3

4,
77

5,
70

7)
(2

0,
30

2,
52

0)
(4

,3
62

,1
78

)
98

,4
32

,3
73

6,
45

4,
48

9

* A
m

ou
nt

s d
ue

 fr
om

 B
an

ks
 in

cl
ud

es
 in

te
re

st
-r

ew
ar

di
ng

 c
ur

re
nt

 a
cc

ou
nt

s a
nd

 so
 re

m
ai

n 
cu

rr
en

t a
cc

ou
nt

s w
ith

 n
o 

pr
ed

et
er

m
in

ed
 m

at
ur

iti
es

.
Th

e 
m

at
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

ss
et

s a
nd

 li
ab

ili
tie

s a
nd

 th
e 

ab
ili

ty
 to

 re
pl

ac
e,

 a
t a

n 
ac

ce
pt

ab
le

 c
os

t, 
in

te
re

st
-b

ea
rin

g 
lia

bi
lit

ie
s a

s t
he

y 
m

at
ur

e,
 a

re
 im

po
rt

an
t f

ac
to

rs
 

in
 a

ss
es

si
ng

 th
e 

liq
ui

di
ty

 o
f t

he
 B

an
k 

an
d 

its
 e

xp
os

ur
e 

to
 c

ha
ng

es
 in

 in
te

re
st

 ra
te

s a
nd

 e
xc

ha
ng

e 
ra

te
s.

DEVELOPMENT BANK OF RWANDA PLC
NOTES  TO  THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

137SUPPORTING RWANDA’S ECONOMY AMID THE COVID-19 PANDEMICBRD ANNUAL REPORT 2021



30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

C) Market Risk (Continued)

I. Sensitivity Analysis

At 31 December 2021, if the interest rate had decreased/increased by 100 basis points with all other variables held 
constant, pre-tax profit/loss for the year would have been RWF 512.041 million (2020: RWF 61,593 million) higher/lower, 
mainly as a result of the borrowings held at variable interest rates.

i. Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The 
Bank does not actively engage in dealing and trading operations in currencies and so the Bank’s exposure to currency risk 
mainly involves the risk on the currency swap, foreign exchange losses or gains arising on the retranslation of monetary 
assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items denominated in foreign currency.
The table below summarizes the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 December. Included in the 
table are the Bank’s financial instruments, categorized by currency:

As at 31 December 2021

USD EUR GBP TOTAL

Financial Assets RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Balances with Banks         24,319,120         133,020         13,179          24,465,319

Derivative 13,683,939 - - 13,683,939

Loans and Advances 19,349,099 - - 19,349,099

Other Assets 47,366 - - 47,366

Total Financial Assets (A) 57,399,524 133,020 13,179 57,545,723

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings 91,268,612 - - 91,268,612

Special funds 504,809 - - 504,809

Other payables - 9,949,179 - 9,949,179

Total Financial Liabilities (B) 91,773,421 9,949,179 - 101,722,600

Net On -Balance sheet Position 
(A-B)

(34,373,897) (9,816,159)       13,179 (44,176,877)
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

C) Market Risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020

USD EUR GBP TOTAL

Financial Assets RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Balances with Banks 15,520,646 6,356,542 12,845 21,890,033

Derivative 14,182,675 - - 14,182,675

Loans and Advances 27,127,599 - - 27,127,599

Other Assets 2,229,286 - - 2,229,286

Total Financial 
Assets (A)

59,060,206 6,356,542 12,845 65,429,593

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings 98,339,679 - - 98,339,679

Special funds 486,700 - - 486,700

Other payables - 5,976,829 - 5,976,829

Total Financial 
Liabilities (B)

98,826,379 5,976,829 - 98,826,379

Net On -Balance 
sheet Position (A-B)

(39,766,173) 379,713       12,845       (39,373,615)

Foreign Currency Swaps
The Bank enters into foreign currency swaps with other financial institutions for risk management purposes. This 
strategy stems from the fact that the Bank, mainly, raises funding in foreign currency while the lending, in large sums, 
is made in the local currency (RWF). 

Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange streams of payments over time based on specified 
notional amounts, in relation to movements in a specified underlying index such as an interest rate, foreign currency 
rate or equity index. In a currency swap, the Bank pays a specified amount in one currency and receives a specified 
amount in another currency.

Currency swaps – initial amounts are recorded off – balance sheet at initial exchange of cash flows. These contracts 
are subsequently measured at fair value observing contractual fixed interest rates applicable on periodical exchanges 
of cash flows and the central Bank’s ruling middle rate. The movements recorded in the year are reported in Note 18.

Sensitivity Analysis
At 31 December, if the Rwandese Franc had weakened/strengthened by (-)/+ 10percent against the following foreign 
currencies, with all other variables held constant, the effect on pre-tax profit/loss would have been as follows:
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

C) Market Risk (Continued)

Currency % Change in rate Effect on Pre-tax profit % Change in rate Effect on Pre-tax profit
  2021  2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000
USD (-)/+10% (-)/+3,442,126 (-)/+10% (-)/+3,442,126
EUR (-)/+10% (-)/+981,616 (-)/+10% (-)/+981,616
GBP (-)/+10% (-)/+1,318 (-)/+10% (-)/+1,318

i. Equity price risk 
The Bank is exposed to equity price risk as a result of its investment in the shares of Bank of Kigali (BoK) Limited and 
shares in MTN Rwandacell listed at the Rwanda Stock Exchange (RSE). At 31 December, a 10percent movement in RSE 
share price index would have led to a decrease/increase in other comprehensive income (OCI)/Equity as follows:

Equity
% Change in RSE 

stock index 
Effect on OCI/Equity

% Change in RSE 
stock index 

Effect on OCI/Equity

  2021  2020
RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

BoK (-)/+ 10% (-)/+100,585 (-)/+ 10% (-)/+50,293
MTN Rwandacell (-)/+ 10% (-)/+486,306 (-)/+ 10% (-)/+283,679

The below are the BNR average exchange rates for the mid-year period and year end:

Currencies 30 June 2021 31 December 2021

USD 987.139896 1,009.617782

EURO 1174.745833 1,142.887329

GBP 1367.188756 1,362.933525

Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are 
observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable 
inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

C) Market Risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Investment properties - - 21,015 21,015
Investments in Equity and 
Associates 5,868,908 - 26,023,997 31,892,905
Derivative financial 
instrument through P&L 1,999,828 - - 1,999,828

Total Financial Assets 7,868,736 - 26,045,012 33,913,748

As at 31 December 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Investment properties - - 21,015 21,015
Investments in Equity and 
Associates 2,963,727 - 24,609,352 27,573,079
Derivative financial 
instrument through P&L 2,095,814 - - 2,095,814

Total Financial Assets 5,059,541 - 24,630,367 29,689,908

Reconciliation of Level 3 Items:

Equity Investments 2021 2020
RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

At 1 January 27,573,079 29,376,164
Additional investment (Note 18(a) and (b)) - -
Investments exited (Note 18(b)) - -
Fair value gain/(Loss) & share of loss of Equity & Associates (Note 18(a) and (b)) 4,319,826 (1,803,088)

At 31 December 31,892,905 27,573,076

The management assessed the fair values of cash and short-term deposits, other assets, other payables, approximate 
their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 

The fair values of equity investments were estimated using equity dividend yields. Equity dividend yields represent 
the future dividends and are usually expressed in annualised percentage terms. They are usually unobservable for less 
liquid instruments with little with historical data.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

C) Market Risk (Continued)

Quantitative analysis of significant unobservable inputs

Interest rate/equity price volatility:

Volatility measures the expected future variability of a market price. It is generally quoted as a percentage; a higher 
number represents a more volatile instrument, for which larger swings in price (or interest rate) are expected. Volatility 
varies per instrument and in time and therefore, it is not viable to make reliable and meaningful general statements 
about volatility levels.

Discount margin/spreads:
Discount margin/spreads represent the discount rates used when calculating the present value of future cash flows. 
In discounted cash flow models such spreads are added to the benchmark rate when discounting the future expected 
cash flows. Hence, these spreads reduce the net present value of an asset or increase the value of a liability. They 
generally reflect the premium an investor expects to achieve over the benchmark interest rate to compensate for the 
higher risk driven by the uncertainty of the cash flows caused by the credit quality of the asset. They can be implied 
from market prices and are usually unobservable for illiquid or complex instruments.

Equity dividend yields:
Equity dividend yields represent the expected future dividends and are usually expressed in annualised percentage 
terms. They are usually unobservable for less liquid instruments with little historical data.

The table below shows the classification of Equity investments measured at fair value and cost. Valuation hierarchy 
set out below.

Valuation hierarchy 31 December 2021

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total

Fair Value
Total Carrying 

amount
RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Equity investment 
FVOCI
Listed 5,868,908 - - 5,868,908 5,868,908
Unlisted - - 14,576,595 14,576,595 14,576,595
Investments in 
Associates
Listed - - - - -
Unlisted - - 11,447,402 11,447,402 11,447,402
Total Financial assets 5,868,908 - 26,023,997 31,892,905 31,892,905
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

C) Market Risk (Continued)

Valuation hierarchy 31 December 2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total

Fair Value
Total Carrying 

amount
RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Equity investment 
FVOCI
Listed 2,963,727 - - 2,963,727 2,963,727
Unlisted - - 13,969,008 13,969,008 13,969,008
Investments in 
Associates
Listed                  -                  - - - -
Unlisted - - 10,640,343 10,640,343 10,640,343
Total Financial assets 2,963,727 - 24,609,351 27,573,078 27,573,078

Valuation of unquoted basis

The Bank has investments in unquoted shares including associates that have been designated at fair value. The 
Bank uses the adjusted net assets methodology for valuation. The methodology involves deriving the fair value of an 
investee’s equity instruments by reference to the fair value of its assets and liabilities (recognised and unrecognised). 
The resulting fair values of the recognised and unrecognised assets and liabilities should therefore represent the fair 
value of the investee’s equity. 

The Bank’s management is of the view that this is the most appropriate methodology as the value is mainly derived 
from the holding of assets to enable the Government of Rwanda development agenda rather than from deploying 
those assets as part of a broader business.  

The Bank’s management also performs comparative valuation checks using the market valuation methodologies to 
assess the reasonableness of values determined using the adjusted net asset methodology. 

F) Capital Management

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept that the ‘equity’ on the face of the statement 
of financial position, are:

· To comply with the capital requirements set under the Central Bank’s Regulation.
· To safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for 

shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
· To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

The Bank’s regulator National Bank of Rwanda (BNR) sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank as a whole. 

In implementing current capital requirements, BNR, requires the Bank to maintain a prescribed ratio of total capital 
to total risk-weighted assets.

Tier 1 capital consists of shareholders’ equity comprising paid up share capital (issued and fully paid-up common share 
and irredeemable, non-cumulative preference shares), share premium, prior year retained profits, net current after 
tax profit to date (only 50percent), general reserves less goodwill and other intangible assets, current years losses (if 
any), investments in unconsolidated financial subsidiaries, prohibited loans to insiders and deficiencies in provisions 
for losses. Tier 2 capital includes the Bank’s recognized revaluation reserve on fixed assets, and the subordinated debt 
not to exceed 50percent of the Bank’s core capital subjected to discount factors. Tier 2 capital is limited to 100percent 
of Tier 1 capital.

The table below summarizes the composition of the regulatory capital. The Bank is supposed to comply, at all times, 
with a regulatory floor of 12.5percent (Tier 1 Capital ratio) and 15percent (Total Capital ratio):

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Core Capital (Tier 1)

Share capital 65,392,018 55,607,470

Share premium 11,665,569 11,665,569

Prior year retained profits/(losses) (10,934,510) (15,032,742)

Other reserves 9,632,292 6,119,523

Intangible assets (445,751) (632,757)

Current year profit/Loss 1,495,706 2,049,116

Other permitted adjustments - 1,311,088

Core Capital 76,805,324 61,087,267

Supplementary Capital (Tier 2)

Revaluation reserve 2,727,244 2,727,937

Quasi capital - Supplementary equity 
capital < or = 100% of core capital

11,510,322 11,510,322

Other permitted adjustments 2,286,026 1,548,556

16,523,592 15,786,815
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

G) Capital Management (Continued)

2021 2020

RWF’000 RWF’000

Total Capital (A) 93,328,916 77,636,481

Credit Risk Weighted assets 255,520,740 215,005,753

Operational Risk weighted assets 32,766,182 31,148,167

Market risk weighted assets 49,876,177 75,469,039

Total Risk Weighted assets (B) 338,163,099 321,622,959

Capital Adequacy: Tier 1 Capital Ratio 22.71% 18.99%

Capital Adequacy: Total Capital Ratio 27.60% 23.90%

The regulator, through implementation of BASEL II/III, issued a new law addressing capital requirements in 2019. The 
key change was addition of both market and operational risks in total risk weighted assets of the Bank.

31. Commitments and contingencies

Off balance sheet items and contingencies

The Bank conducts business involving lending, performance bonds and indemnities.  The following are the commitments 
and contingencies outstanding as at year-end.

2021 2020

Note RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Letters of credit (a) 246,298 239,229

Un-disbursed loan commitments (b) 54,185,721   67,165,781

54,432,019 67,405,010

a) Letters of credit

Letters of credit commit the Bank to make payments to suppliers of equipment to approved projects, on presentation 
of shipping documents. The commitments are backed by cash collateral from the clients or funding projects.
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31. Commitments and contingencies (Continued)

b) Un-disbursed loan commitments

Commitments to lend are agreements to lend to a customer in future subject to fulfill certain conditions precedents. 
Such commitments are normally made for a fixed period.

c) Litigations

The Bank is a litigant in several cases which arise from normal day to day Banking activities. The Directors and 
management believe the Bank has strong grounds for success and are confident that they should get rulings in their 
favor in matters before court. In cases where the Bank may not be successful, Directors and management are confident 
that such cases would not significantly impact the Bank’s operations either individually or in aggregate. Management 
has also carried out an assessment of all the cases outstanding as at 31 December 2021 and did not find any that 
warranted a provision. This position is supported by independent professional legal advice.

32. Related parties 

The ultimate controlling party of the group is the Government of Rwanda, which owns 51percent of the Bank’s shares. 
45percent of the remaining shares are held by various government agencies and the rest of the shares are held widely.  
There are other companies which are related to the Group through common shareholdings or common Directorships.

A number of Banking and other transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. 
These include operation of current accounts, placement of deposits, foreign currency transactions and loans to 
Directors and other key management personnel of the Bank. Related-party transactions during the year, outstanding 
balances at the year-end, and relating expense and income recognized during the year are as follows:

a) Loans and advances to related parties

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Loans and advances to senior managers 540,288   150,400

Loans and advances to companies 
owned by BRD shareholders 46,041,888   51,299,261

46,582,176 51,449,661
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32. Related parties (Continued)

The below is the list of Entities owned fully or partly by the BRD’s main shareholder being Government of Rwanda 
with their outstanding loan exposure to BRD, as the BUGESERA AIRPORT COMPANY commitment were taken 
over by Aviation Travel and Logistic Holding:

Related Party Name
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

BELLA FLOWERS LTD 3,002,985   3,655,970   

BUGESERA AIRPORT COMPANY - 9,724,749   

EASTERN PROVINCE INVESTMENT CORP SA 6,726,452                5,792,000 

KARONGI DISTRICT - 250,000   

KIVU MARINA BAY LTD 15,659,683             13,308,981

NGORORERO DISTRICT -                 229,000    

NTARE SCHOOL LTD 3,699,340                2,700,000   

RUBAVU DISTRICT - 250,000   

RUSIZI DISTRICT - 2,105    

RWANDA MANAGEMENT INSTITUTE - 16,207   

RWANDA MILITARY HOSPITAL 1,146,153   1,482,040   

AFRIPRECAST 15,807,275                13,164,273   

EAST AFRICA EXCHANGE LIMITED - 637,869   

Total 46,041,888   51,213,194

The table below shows the details of loans and advances to related parties

Related party name 2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

KINAZI Cassava Plant 49,262 48,950

49,262 48,950

Loans and advances to senior managers were issued at interest rates ranging between 0percent and 5percent and are 
repaid as stipulated in the HR manual were all performing as at 31 December 2021 and as at 31 December 2020. The 
repayment is done through set off of salaries on a monthly basis. In line with IFRS 9, a provision of RWF 6,185,000 was 
made against the loans to senior managers during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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32. Related parties (Continued)

Loans and advances to companies owned by BRD shareholders were issued at normal rates of the Bank applicable to 
other non-related clients. These loans were all performing as at 31 December 2021 and as at 31 December 2020 and 
hence no provision was required, however, these are subjected to impairment assessment as other loans to non-related 
clients. In line with IFRS 9, a provision of RWF 1,797,080,000 (2020: RWF 1,013,490,781) was made against the Loans and 
advances to companies owned by BRD shareholders during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The above-mentioned loan was granted to Kinazi Cassava Plant with aim of growing further its business activities. 

b) Outstanding balances due from related parties

2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Kinazi Cassava Plant 32,629 32,629

Rwanda Housing Finance Project 46,922 48,832
Private Sector Participation in the 
Generation and distribution of electricity
from renewable sources (PSPE) 6,820 2,540

Agaciro Development Fund 1,566 50,066

Business Development Fund (net) - 184,741

Tasco 24,795 -

Rugarama Park Estates ltd 68,924 67,151

Afirr 10,189 -

Renewable Energy fund 28,609 -

Seirhcp 7,956 -

BRD Education Fund 664,666 170,483

893,076 556,442
c) Outstanding balances due to related parties

2021 2020
RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Business Development Fund - 272,975
- 272,975

The outstanding balances with KINAZI Cassava Plant Ltd arise mainly from amounts advanced to the entity. The 
outstanding balances with Rugarama Park Estates relate to mainly operational expenses of Rugarama Park met by BRD. 
The outstanding balances of BRD education relate to Management fees, operating expenses, and salaries of Education 
Fund staff receivable from the Ministry of Education as per the Memorandum of understanding. The receivables are 
unsecured in nature and bear no interest and are short term.
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32. Related parties (Continued)

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

The transactions with related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. 
Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been 
no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. 

There were no commitments with related party as at year end.

d) Key management compensation and Directors’ remuneration

Key management compensation 2021 2020

RWF’ 000 RWF’ 000

Salaries and other employee benefits 739,688 736,053

Contributions to retirement schemes 30,223 31,052

Directors’ remuneration 90,299 104,936

Fees and other expenses 24,918 15,154

885,128 887,195

33. Post period end events

If the Bank receives information after the reporting period but prior to the date of authorization for issue, all conditions 
that existed at the end of the reporting period, the Bank will assess if the information affects the amount that it 
recognizes in the financial statements. The Bank will adjust the amounts recognized in its financial statements to reflect 
any adjusting events after the reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to those conditions in the light of 
new information. For non-adjusting events after the reporting period, the Bank will not change the amounts recognized 
in its consolidated financial statements but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting event and an estimate of its 
financial effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

There are no events after the reporting date that require disclosure in or adjustments to the financial statements as 
at the date of this report.
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OTHER DISCLOSURES

QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES 2021 2020

I CAPITAL STRENGTH

1. Core capital (Tier 1) RWF’ 000 76,805,324 61,087,267
2. Supplementary capital (Tier 2) RWF’ 000 16,523,592 15,786,815

3. Total Capital RWF’ 000 93,328,916 76,874,082

4. Total risk weighted assets RWF’ 000 338,163,099 321,622,959

5. Core capital/total risk weighted assets (Tier 1 Ratio) % 22.71% 18.99%

6. Tier 2/total risk weighted assets (Tier 2 ratio) % 4.89% 4.91%

7. Total capital/total risk weighted assets (Total Capital ratio) % 27.60% 23.90%

8.Leverage ratio % 21% 19%

II. CREDIT RISK

1. total gross credit risk exposures: after accounting 
offsets and without taking into account credit risk mitigation;

RWF’ 000 199,733,649 181,689,202

2. average gross credit exposures, broken down by major types 
of credit exposure:
a) loans, commitments, and other non-derivative off-balance 

sheet exposures; RWF’ 000 54,512,019 67,569,695

QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES 2021  2020

b) debt securities;
RWF’ 000 - -

c) OTC derivatives RWF’ 000 13,683,939 17,554,452

3. Regional or geographic distribution of exposures, broken down 
in significant areas by major types of credit exposure;

RWF’ 000

a) City of Kigali RWF’ 000  124,895,937 101,895,604

b) Northern Province RWF’ 000  2,273,466 2,452,975

c) Eastern Province RWF’ 000  21,993,402 20,975,252

d)Western Province; RWF’ 000  24,782,929 21,889,670

e) Southern Province. RWF’ 000  25,799,386 22,837,762

4. Sector distribution of exposures, broken down by major types 
of credit exposure and aggregated in the following areas:

a) Government; RWF’ 000  46,041,888 51,213,194

b) financial; RWF’ 000  23,114,767 12,910,891
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QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES 2021 2020

c) manufacturing; RWF’ 000  10,722,871 13,402,987

d) infrastructure and construction; RWF’ 000  96,222,331 37,948,181

e) services and commerce. RWF’ 000  22,424,129 54,352,052

f) others RWF’ 000  1,219,134 223,960

5. Off- balance sheet items RWF’ 000 54,755,031 67,569,695

6. Non-performing loans indicators

a) Non-performing loans (NPL) RWF’ 000 10,963,088 15,562,230

b) NPL ratio % 4.49% 6.37%

7. Related parties RWF’ 000

a) Loans to Directors, shareholders, and subsidiaries RWF’ 000 43,032,091   
51,299,261

b) Loan to employees RWF’ 000 2,862,005 2,221,910

8 Restructured Loans as at 31st December 2020:

Number of Borrowers Number 88 124

Outstanding Amount RWF ‘000 128,525,989 119,445,540

Provisions there on RWF ‘000 10,266,993 6,281,367

Restructured loans as a percentage of gross loans
% 64% 66%
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QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES 2021 2020

III. LIQUIDITY RISK

a) Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) % 561% 128%

b. Internal liquidity coverage ratio (1 year ahead) % 114% 109%

c) Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) % 203% 202%

IV. OPERATIONAL RISK

Number and types of frauds and their corresponding amount Type - -

Number - -

Amount - -

V. MARKET RISK

1. Interest rate risk % - -

2. Equity position risk RWF’ 000 - -

3. Foreign exchange risk RWF’ 000 3,453,844 5,501,273

VI. COUNTRY RISK

1. Credit exposures abroad RWF’ 000 - -

2. Other assets held abroad RWF’ 000 - -

3. Liabilities to abroad RWF’ 000 - -
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QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES 2021 2020

VII. MANAGEMENT AND BOARD COMPOSITION

1. Number of Board members 8 8

2. Number of independent Directors 5 5

3. Number of non-independent Directors 3 3

4. Number of female Directors 3 3

5. Number of male Directors 5 5

6. Number of Senior Managers 10 10

7. Number of female senior managers 5 5

8. Number of male senior managers 5 5
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